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DEFINITIONS

In this circular, unless the context requires otherwise, the following expressions have

the following meaning:

“A Share(s)”

“Asset Valuation Report(s)”

“associate(s)”
“Board”

“BOYD”

“Chemical Equipment”

“Closing”
“Closing Date”

“Company”

“Competent Person”

“Competent Person’s Report™

domestic shares in the ordinary share capital of the
Company, with a nominal value of RMBI1.00 each,
which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange

the asset valuation report on each of the Target
Companies and Target Assets prepared by Pan-China
Assets Appraisal Co., Ltd., individually or collectively
(as the case may be), a summary of the Asset Valuation
Report of each of the Target Companies and the Target
Assets is set out in Appendix V to this circular

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
the board of Directors of the Company

John T. Boyd Company, the Competent Person
appointed by the Company for the preparation of the
Competent Person’s Report and the Competent Person’s
Valuation Report

Yankuang Jining Chemical Equipment Co., Ltd. (&%
FAL LA A RAT)

closing of the Transaction
date of Closing

Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited (FE/N3E23ERA
AW HE]), a joint stock limited company established
under the laws of PRC in 1997, and the H Shares and
A Shares of which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange,
respectively

a person satisfying the requirements of Rules 18.21 to
18.23 of the Listing Rules

the Competent Person’s report on Jinjitan Coal Mine
set out in Part A of Appendix IV to this circular, issued
by BOYD in accordance with the requirements under
Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules
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“Competent Person’s Valuation
Report”

“connected person(s)”
“Crowe”
“Director(s)”

“EGM”

)

“Enlarged Group’

“Fine Chemical”

“Group”

“H Shares”

“Hong Kong”

“IFRS”

“Independent Board Committee”

the valuation report on Jinjitan Coal Mine set out in
Part B of Appendix IV to this circular, issued by
BOYD in accordance with the requirements under
Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
the director(s) of the Company

the 2020 second extraordinary general meeting of the
Company to be held at the headquarters of the
Company at 298 South Fushan Road, Zoucheng,
Shandong Province 273500, the PRC on Wednesday, 9
December 2020 at 8:30 a.m. to consider and approve,
among other things, the Transaction Agreement and the
transaction contemplated thereunder

the Group as enlarged through completion of the
Transaction

Yankuang Yuling Fine Chemical Co., Ltd. (FEHEMIHORE
Mt THBRAR)

the Company and its subsidiaries

the overseas listed foreign invested shares in the
ordinary share capital of the Company with a nominal
value of RMB1.00 each, which are listed on the Stock
Exchange

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

International Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board

the board committee, comprising all the independent
non-executive Directors who are independent in
relation to the Transaction Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder, which is set up to
consider the Transaction Agreement and the transaction
contemplated thereunder



DEFINITIONS

“Independent Financial Adviser”
or “Donvex Capital”

“Independent Shareholder(s)”

“Information Center”

“Jinjitan Coal Mine” or “Jinjitan
Mine”

“Jisan Electricity”

“JORC Code 2012~

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Letter of Performance
Commitment”

“Listing Rules”

“Lunan Chemical”

Donvex Capital Limited, a corporation licensed to carry
out type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activity under the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
which is appointed by the Company as the independent
financial adviser to advise the Independent Board
Committee and the Independent Shareholders on the
Transaction = Agreement  and the transactions
contemplated thereunder

shareholder(s) other than Yankuang Group (including
the 391,507,272 A Shares held by the guarantees and
trust account opened by Yankuang Group and CITIC
Securities Co., Ltd., the voting rights in respect of
which are exercisable by CITIC Securities Co., Ltd.)
and 1its associates, who are neither involved nor
interested in the Transaction Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder

Yankuang Group Information Center

Jinjitan Mine, which is wholly-owned by Shaanxi
Future Energy

Shandong Yankuang Jisan Electricity Co., Ltd. (I3
s =S R

Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration
Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves, 2012
Edition

10 November 2020, being the latest practicable date
prior to the printing of this circular for ascertaining
certain information contained in this circular

the “Letter of Performance Commitment Regarding the
Acquisition of Related Assets of Yankuang Group
Company Limited by Yanzhou Coal Mining Company
Limited” issued by Yankuang Group in favour of the
Company

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, as amended

from time to time

Yankuang Lunan Chemical Co., Ltd (GGEfE& L TA R
i)

meter(s)
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“Mtpa”

“Notice of EGM”

“Pan-China”

“percentage ratio(s)”
66PRC”
6‘RMB77

“Shaanxi Future Energy”

“Shaanxi Future Energy Group”
“Shareholder(s)”

“Stock Exchange”
“Subsidiary(ies)”

“Target Assets”

“Target Company(ies)”

“Target Equity Interests”

“Target Group”

million tonnes per annum

the notice for convening the EGM dated 16 November
2020, which has been issued to the Shareholders
separately and a copy of which can be downloaded
from the Company’s website
(www.yanzhoucoal.com.cn) and the website of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk)

Beijing Pan-China Assets Appraisal Co., Ltd. (JtxtKfiE
B A A PR )

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
the People’s Republic of China
Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

Shaanxi Future Energy & Chemicals Co., Ltd. (BEPGk
HeREWRAL AT FRAH])

Shaanxi Future Energy and its subsidiaries

the shareholder(s) of the Company

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

relevant assets of Yankuang Group Information Center

(747 ¢ S E)SNIab )

Shaanxi Future Energy, Fine Chemical, Lunan
Chemical, Chemical Equipment, Trading Company and
Jisan Electricity, individually or collectively (as the
case may be)

the 49.315%, 100%, 100%, 100%, 100% and 99%
equity interests in Shaanxi Future Energy, Fine
Chemical, Lunan Chemical, Chemical Equipment,
Trading Company and Jisan Electricity, respectively,
held by Yankuang Group

Shaanxi Future Energy, Fine Chemical Equipment,
Lunan Chemical, Chemical Equipment, Trading
Company, Jisan Electricity and their respective
subsidiaries (if applicable)
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“Trading Company”

“Transaction”

“Transaction Agreement”

“Working Day(s)”

“Yankuang Group”

“%77

Yankuang Coal Chemicals International Trading Co.,

Ltd. (GEBSALAEEARA )

transaction in the acquisition of the Target Equity
Interests and the Target Assets contemplated under the
Transaction Agreement

the equity interests and assets transfer agreement dated
30 September 2020 entered into between Yankuang
Group and the Company in relation to the acquisition
of the entire interest in the Target Equity Interests and
the Target Assets by the Company from Yankuang
Group

any day except Saturday, Sunday and statutory
holiday(s) in the PRC

Yankuang Group Company Limited (FE#E4EEIABRA ),
a state-controlled limited liability company and the
controlling shareholder of the Company, holding
directly or indirectly approximately 56.01% of the total
issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest
Practicable Date

per cent

The figures set out in this circular may be slightly different from the result calculated
based on the relevant individual data presented in this circular due to rounding.
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MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
IN RELATION TO THE ACQUISITION OF THE TARGET EQUITY
INTERESTS AND TARGET ASSETS

I. INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this circular is to provide you with information relating to the major
and connected transaction in relation to the acquisition of the Target Equity Interests and

Target Assets.
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II.

INFORMATION RELATING TO THE PARTIES OF THE TRANSACTION
The Company

The Company is principally engaged in the business of mining, preparation,
processing and sales of coal and coal chemicals. The Company’s main products are
steam coal for the use in large-scale power plants, coking coal for metallurgical
production and prime quality low sulphur coal for use in pulverized coal injection.

Yankuang Group

Yankuang Group is a large-scale state-owned enterprise mainly engaged in the
mining and trading of coal, supplemented by coal chemical industry, electromechanical
equipment manufacturing, electrolytic aluminum (which is gradually transitioning to
deep processing of aluminum profiles), material sales, engineering construction and
other industries, of which coal business is its core business. As one of the leading
enterprises in the coal industry of the PRC, Yankuang Group is a leading enterprise in
the energy industry in Shandong Province.

Date of 12 March 1996
establishment:
Registered capital: RMB7,769,200,000
Type: Limited liability company (state-controlled)
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Scope of business:

Foreign investment, management and operation with own
funds; investment advisory; periodical publication; installation,
commisson and maintenance of cable radio and television, as
well as sales of equipment; value-added telecommunication
services within the approved scope of license; contracting
foreign construction projects compatible with strength, scale
and performance within the approved scope of the external
contracting projects qualification certificate, and the provision
of labor required to implement the aforementioned foreign
projects; (the following operations are limited to branches
only): coal mining, washing and sales; comprehensive
utilization of thermal power, heating and power generation with
waste heat; road transportation; timber processing; installation
and maintenance of water and heating pipes; restaurants and
hotels; extraction and sales of water; geological prospecting,
mining, smelting, processing, sales and technical services of
gold, precious metal and non-ferrous metal. Advertising
business; sales of mechanical and electrical products, clothing,
textiles and rubber products; import and export business within
the scope of filing; landscaping; lease of houses, land and
equipment; coal, coal chemical and coal-fire aluminum
technology development services; production and sales of
construction materials and ammonium sulfate (white crystalline
powder); manufacturing, installation, maintenance and sales of
mining equipment, electromechanical equipment, complete sets
of equipment and spare parts; decoration; installing,
maintenance and sales of electrical equipment, processing and
sales of general parts and mechanical parts; sewage treatment
and sales of reclaimed water; real estate development and
property management; sales of daily necessities, handicrafts,
metal materials and gas equipment; railway cargo (provided in
the area) transportation.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, Yankuang Group directly and indirectly holds
approximately 56.01% of the Shares of the Company and is the controlling shareholder
of the Company. In accordance with the Listing Rules, Yankuang Group is a connected
person of the Company and the Transaction constitutes a connected transaction of the

Company.
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III. THE TRANSACTION

Transaction Agreement

On 30 September 2020, the Company entered into the Transaction Agreement with
Yankuang Group. The principal terms of the Transaction Agreement are summarized as

follows:
Date:

Parties:

Transaction:

Consideration and
payment method:

30 September 2020

Yankuang Group (Vendor); and
the Company (Purchaser)
(collectively referred to as “Both Parties”)

According to the terms and conditions of the Transaction
Agreement, the Company conditionally agreed to acquire from
Yankuang Group and Yankuang Group conditionally agreed to
transfer its 49.315%, 100%, 100%, 100%, 100% and 99%
equity interests in Shaanxi Future Energy, Fine Chemical,
Lunan Chemical, Chemical Equipment, Trading Company and
Jisan Electricity, respectively, as well as relevant assets of the
Information Center.

The total consideration amounted to approximately RMB18.355
billion, and shall be paid in cash in the following manner:

1. The Company shall pay 40% of the transaction price
(interest-free) to Yankuang Group in one lump sum within
five Working Days after the Transaction Agreement
becomes effective;

2. The Company shall pay 30% of the transaction price and
the corresponding interest (the “Corresponding Interest”)
to Yankuang Group before 30 June 2021;

3. The Company shall pay 30% of the transaction price and
the Corresponding Interest to Yankuang Group within
twelve months after the Transaction Agreement becomes
effective.

The Corresponding Interest is calculated based on the one-year
benchmark interest rate of Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”) (the
“LPR One-year Interest Rate”) announced by the National
Interbank Funding Center on the actual payment date of each
subsequent transfer price. The calculation is from the payment
date of the first tranche of transaction price to the subsequent
payment date of each transaction price. The calculation period
is calculated as 365 days a year.
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Conditions
precedent:

Closing:

The Transaction Agreement will take effect on the day when all
the following conditions are fulfilled, and the day when the last
consent or approval set out in this provision is obtained shall
be the effective date:

1.  The Transaction Agreement is signed by the Ilegal
representatives of Both Parties or their authorized
representatives and stamped with their respective company
seals;

2. All necessary consents or approvals have been obtained
for the transfer of the Target Equity Interests and Target
Assets, including but not limited to:

(I) The filing of the valuation results of the Target
Companies and Target Assets with the authorized
state-owned assets regulatory agencies or its
authorized units;

(2) The authorized state-owned assets regulatory
agencies or its authorized wunits approve the
agreement relating to the transfer of the Target
Equity Interests and Target Assets;

(3) The approval of competent internal authority(ies) of
Yankuang Group;

(4) The approval of competent internal authority(ies) of
the Company.

The Closing Date of the Target Equity Interests is the day on
which each Target Company completes the registration of
industrial and commercial change for its equity interests, and
the Closing Date of the Target Assets is the day on which the
last Target Equity Interests completes the registration of
industrial and commercial change. The Closing Date of the
Target Equity Interests and Target Assets shall not be later than
15 Working Days after the payment date of the first tranche of
transaction price.

—10 -
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Both Parties shall begin the relevant procedures below for the
Closing of the Target Equity Interests and Target Assets from
the effective date of the Transaction Agreement, including but
not limited to:

1. Yankuang Group shall transfer the relevant documents,
materials and seals relating to the Target Companies and
Target Assets which it holds and controls to the Company;

2. Yankuang Group procures the Target Companies to hold
relevant meeting(s) in accordance with the Transaction
Agreement to revise the register of members and articles
of association of the Target Companies;

3. Yankuang Group procures its appointed board of directors
and management of the Target Companies to transfer
duties and related documents, materials and seals to the
board of directors and management of the Target
Companies designated by the Company;

4. Handling the registration (filing) procedures of the market
supervision and management department involved in the
transfer of the Target Equity Interests;

5. Handling the relevant procedures of real estate registration
and transfer, intangible asset registration and transfer,
fixed asset transfer, creditor’s rights and debt transfer, and
employee resettlement involved in the transfer of the
Target Assets.

The rights and obligations corresponding to the Target Equity

Interests and Target Assets will be transferred to/assumed by
the Company from the Closing Date.

—11 =
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Profit and loss
during the
transition period:

Responsibility on
default:

1. Yankuang Group shall be entitled to the profit and loss
attributable to the Target Equity Interests and Target
Assets during the transitional period; and

2. the profit and loss of Target Equity Interests and Target
Assets during the transition period shall be audited by an
auditing institution recognized by Both Parties, and the
audit report(s) for the profit and loss during the transition
period shall be issued within 30 Working Days after the
end of the transition period. Among which, the
determination of the closing audit benchmark date:

(I) If the Closing Date is before the 15th (15th
inclusive) of the current month, the last day of the
previous month will be the closing audit benchmark
date;

(2) If the Closing Date is after the 15th of the current
month, the last day of the current month will be the
closing audit benchmark date.

Both Parties shall conduct a one-off settlement in cash within
20 Working Days after the audit institution issues the audit
report for the profit and loss during the transition period of all
Target Equity Interests and Target Assets.

When the Transaction Agreement becomes effective, the failure
of either party to fulfil its obligations under the agreement, or
any declaration, warranty or undertaking made by either party
being false, is considered a breach of contract. The party in
default shall compensate the non-defaulting party for all losses
incurred by its breach of contract.

Without precluding the termination of the agreement by the
relevant parties according to the Transaction Agreement, unless
the agreement expressly stipulates, if one party suffers any
reasonable costs, expenses, liabilities or losses due to the other
party’s breach of contract, the defaulting party shall
compensate any such costs, expenses, liabilities or losses and
shall indemnify the non-defaulting party from such claims. For
losses caused by the non-defaulting party’s own fault,
negligence or omission, as well as losses or any extended
losses arising due to its failure to take measures, the defaulting
party shall not be liable for such losses.

—12 —
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Basis of determination of the Consideration

The total consideration payable by the Company to Yankuang Group under the
Transaction Agreement amounted to approximately RMBI18.355 billion. The
consideration under the Transaction Agreement was determined after arm’s length
negotiations between Both Parties based on the principle of fairness and with reference
to various factors including the production and operation, financial condition and future
development plan of the Target Companies and Target Assets, and the result of asset
valuation of the Target Companies and Target Assets.

The Company has engaged Pan-China to prepare the Asset Valuation Reports of
the Target Companies and Target Assets. Summary of the Asset Valuation Report on
each of the Target Companies and Target Assets is set out in Appendix V to this
circular. Pursuant to the Asset Valuation Reports, the appraised value of each of the
Target Companies and Target Assets as at 30 June 2020 is as follows:

RMB

Appraised Value of Target Company/

Target Company/Target Assets Target Assets
1 Shaanxi Future Energy 23,937,033,251.40
2 Fine Chemical 223,624,156.19
3 Lunan Chemical 6,187,484,899.77
4 Chemical Equipment 69,641,286.66
5 Trading Company 229,903,330.02
6 Jisan Electricity 713,870,678.78
7 Information Center 119,796,238.31

The Company also engaged BOYD to prepare the Competent Person’s Report and
Competent Person’s Valuation Report on the valuation under the Listing Rules in
respect of Jinjitan Coal Mine under Shaanxi Future Energy. Full text of each of the
Competent Person’s Report and the Competent Person’s Valuation Report is set out in
Appendix IV to this circular. BOYD is a private consulting company headquartered in
the United States. Based on its internationally recognised expertise in exploration,
resource/reserve research, mine development and valuation, BOYD has been selected to
carry out the Competent Person’s Report and the Competent Person’s Valuation Report.

Pursuant to the Competent Person’s Valuation Report, the valuation on Jinjitan
Coal Mine as at 30 June 2020 amounted to approximately RMB22,072 million (with a
base market value of existing operations at RMB19,719 million).

Pursuant to the Asset Valuation Report of Shaanxi Future Energy and using 30
June 2020 as the benchmark date, the valuation of the entire equity interest of Shaanxi
Future Energy amounted to approximately RMB23,937 million and the appraised value
of Jinjintan Coal Mine and other intangible assets amounted to RMB14,716 million.
According to Pan-China, the appraised value allocated to Jinjintan Coal Mine was
approximately RMB13,239 million.

The valuation on Jinjitan Coal Mine under the Competent Person’s Valuation

Report exceeds the appraised value of Jinjitan Coal Mine under the Asset Valuation
Report of Shaanxi Future Energy by approximately RMBS&,833 million. However, given

— 13 —
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that Jinjitan Coal Mine is a supporting mine for the indirect coal liquefaction project of
Shaanxi Future Energy, it is not feasible to acquire only the Jinjitan Coal Mine.
Accordingly, the Directors are of the view that the acquisition should be conducted by
way of transfer of the equity interest of Shaanxi Future Energy.

Based on the above and having taking into account the Competent Person’s
Valuation Report, the Directors are of the view that the valuation of Shaanxi Future
Energy under the relevant Asset Valuation Report is fair and reasonable.

In addition, at the general meeting of Shaanxi Future Energy held on 6 August
2020, it was agreed that the profit in a total of RMB2 billion would be distributed to
all shareholders from the distributable profit as of 31 December 2019 based on the
registered capital of Shaanxi Future Energy. Based on the aforementioned profit
distribution and the appraised value of the Target Equity Interests and Target Assets,
Both Parties confirmed that the consideration of the Transaction is as follows:

RMB

Target Equity Interests/ Consideration of Target Equity Interests/
Target Assets Target Assets

1 49.315% equity interests in Shaanxi Future Energy 10,818,247,947.93
2 100% equity interests in Fine Chemical 223,624,156.19
3 100% equity interests in Lunan Chemical 6,187,484,899.77
4 100% equity interests in Chemical Equipment 69,641,286.66
5 100% equity interests in Trading Company 229,903,330.02
6  99% equity interests in Jisan Electricity 706,731,971.99
7 Relevant assets of the Information Center 119,796,238.31
Total 18,355,429,830.87

The consideration for acquiring 49.315% equity interests in Shaanix Future
Energy is based on the valuation as per the “Asset Valuation Report on the Value of the
Total Shareholders’ Equity of Shaanxi Future Energy & Chemicals Co., Ltd. involved
in the Proposed Acquisition of the Equity Interests in Shaanxi Future Energy &
Chemicals Co., Ltd. by Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited” (Tian Xing Ping Bao
Zi (2020) No. 1242) issued by Pan-China, which has securities and futures related
business qualifications in China. As at 30 June 2020, being the valuation benchmark
date, the value of all shareholders’ equity after appraisal of Shaanxi Future Energy is
RMB23,937.0333 million, with an appreciation rate of 97.84%. Taking into
consideration of the distributable profit of Shaanix Future Energy and after negotiation
with Yankuang Group, the final consideration for acquiring 49.315% equity interests in
Shaanix Future Energy is agreed at RMB10,818,247,947.93.

—14 -
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The above-mentioned consideration represented a P/E ratio of 9.19x (based on
49.315% of Shaanix Future Energy’s 2019 net profit of RMB2.386 billion). The
Directors believe that it is reasonable to have a relatively high level of P/E ratio on the
following grounds:

1.  The coal chemical industry has relatively high barriers in technology, capital
and resources, and industry standards are scarce. Shaanix Future Energy has
a certain scale of production and relatively advanced production technology,
and has a strong competitive advantage in indirect coal liquefaction
technology.

2. The Yankuang Yulin project, which is being promoted by Shaanix Future
Energy, has adopted the low-temperature Fischer-Tropsch synthesis
technology independently developed by Yankuang, and is a representative
coal indirect liquefaction project in the coal chemical market.

3. The “Thirteenth Five-Year Plan for the Demonstration of Coal Deep
Processing Industry” positions the function of coal liquefaction as
“improving the self-sufficiency of petroleum, producing low-sulfur,
low-olefin, and low-aromatic ultra-clean oil products, and providing oil
products of national standard; producing military, aerospace and other special
oil products with high-density, high-calorific value, and ultra-low freezing
point to meet the needs of national defense construction.” In the future, with
the strong support of national policies and the continuous increase of related
investment, it is expected that Shaanix Futures Energy will have a broader
space for development.

4. Together with the equity interest currently held by the Company, the
acquisition of 49.315% equity interest in Shaanxi Future Energy will enable
the Company to obtain a controlling stake in Shaanxi Future Energy and the
Company. The Directors considered that it is fair and appropriate for the
control premium since not only the financial data of Shaanix Future Energy
Groupwill be consolidated in the Company’s financial statements following
Closing, the Company will also become the single largest shareholder and be
able to make decision relating to the management and operation of Shaanxi
Future Energy.

With respect to Lunan Chemical, the consideration for acquiring Lunan Chemical
represented a 11.65% premium to its net asset value of RMB5.542 billion as at 30 June
2020. Although Lunan Chemical turned from profit in the financial year ended 31
December 2019 to loss in the first half of 2020, with revenue decreased from RMB6.30
billion as at 31 December 2019 to RMB2.6 billion as at 30 June 2020, the Directors
are of the view that the financial performance of Lunan Chemical for the first half of
2020 was phenomenal. The outbreak of pandemic and the abnormal fluctuations in the
international crude oil market in the first half of 2020 had a negative impact on Lunan
Chemical’s production and operation, procurement of raw and auxiliary materials, and
product sales, resulting in a decline in its revenue and loss. At present, the relevant
situation in China has stabilized, the prices of main products produced by Lunan
Chemical have gradually recovered, which helped stabilise and improve the
profitability of Lunan Chemical.
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Iv.

To appraise the value of the equity interest of Lunan Chemical, Pan-China used
both the asset-based approach and the income approach. Due to the impact of price
fluctuations in the international and domestic coal and oil markets, the future
profitability of Lunan Chemical will to a certain extent be uncertain. Pan-China
considered that the appraisal conclusion wusing the asset-based approach is
comparatively more reliable that can reflect the fair market value of Lunan Chemical
from perspective of asset replacement. Accordingly, Pan-China finally adopted
asset-based approach for its valuation of Lunan Chemical. The Directors are of the
view that the consideration for acquiring 100% equity interest in Lunan Chmical ,
which is determined with reference to the results of the asset valuation as per the Asset
Valuation report of Lunan Chemical, is fair and reasonable.

Based on the above, the Directors are of the view that the consideration under the
Transaction Agreement is fair and reasonable.

BASIC INFORMATION RELATING TO TARGET COMPANIES AND TARGET
ASSETS

1. Shaanxi Future Energy

Date of 25 February 2011
establishment
Registered capital RMB5.4 billion
Type Other limited liability company
Scope of business Research and development of chemical products and oil

products; production and sales of medium paraffin, light
paraffin, stable light hydrocarbons, diesel, naphtha,
liquefied petroleum gas and sulfur; production and sales
of electricity; mining of coal; and sales of coal, paraffin,
ammonium sulfate and chemical products (except for
precursors, surveillance, and hazardous chemicals).

Shaanxi Future Energy was established initially by Yankuang Group, the Company
and Shaanxi Yanchang Petroleum (Group) Co. Ltd. ("Yangchang Petroleum”) at an
equity interest ratio of 50%: 25%: 25%, respectively, at a registered capital of RMB5.4
billion.
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As of the Latest Practicable Date, the shareholding structure of Shaanxi Future

Energy is as follows:

Yankuang Group Yanzhou Coal Shaanxi Yancbgng Shaanxi Yanchang Yulin Yuyang
Mining Petroleum Mining Petroleum (Group) State-owned Assets
Co,, Ltd. Co., Ltd. Operation Co., Ltd.

49.315% 24.6575% 5.2% 19.4575% 1.37%

A4

Shaanxi Future
Energy

As per the Transaction, the Company will acquire 49.315% equity interests in
Shaanxi Future Energy held by Yankuang Group. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the
equity interests of Shaanxi Future Energy have clearly-established ownership without
mortgage, pledge and any other restrictions on transfer. It was not involved in judicial
proceedings such as litigation, arbitration, being sealed up or frozen, or any other
circumstances that would prevent the transfer of the ownership thereof.

The other shareholders of Shaanxi Future Energy, i.e. Yanchang Petroleum is a
limited liability company (state-controlled) established in the PRC on 2 August 1996.
Yanchang Petroleum is ultimately beneficially owned by the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of Shaanxi Provincial People’s
Government. Shaanxi Yanchang Petroleum Mining Co., Ltd. (“Yanchang Mining”) is a
limited liability company (solely owned legal person invested in or controlled by a
non-natural person) established in the PRC on 23 November 2009, while Yulin Yuyang
State-owned Assets Operation Co., Ltd. (“Yuyang State-owned Assets Operation
Company”) is a limited liability company established in the PRC on 12 January 2004.
Yanchang Mining is ultimately beneficially owned by the State-owned Assets
Supervisor and Administration Commission of Shaanxi People’s
Government, while Yuyang State-owned Assets Operation Company is ultimately
beneficially owned by the People’s Government of Yuyang District, Yulin City, Shaanxi
Province. To the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, and having made all
reasonable enquiries, Yanchang Petroleum, Yanchang Mining, Yuyang State-owned
Assets Operation Company and their respective ultimate beneficial owners are third
parties independent of the Company and its connected persons.

Provincial

Upon the completion of the Transaction, the Company shall hold 73.9725% equity
interests in Shaanxi Future Energy and Shaanxi Future Energy will become a subsidiary
of the Company, and its financial data will be consolidated into the financial statements
of the Company.
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Seam

220
31
43
52
53U

Total

Jinjitan Coal Mine

Jinjitan Mine is wholly-owned by Shaanxi Future Energy. The mine and an
associated mine site coal preparation plant are located approximately 30 km northeast
of Yulin City, in Shaanxi Province. This area is one of the largest coalfields in the
world.

Overall, the geologic setting of the coal bearing strata underlying the Jinjitan
mining rights area is judged to be simple. BOYD’s independent review of the mine
operation according to JORC Code 2012 indicates that the Marketable Reserves total
309.7 Mt while In-place Resources total 982.3 Mt as at 30 June 2020, as shown in the
following table:

Processing
In-Place Resources (Mt) Recoverable Reserves (Mt) Yield Marketable Reserves (Mt)
Measured Indicated  Inferred Total ~ Proved Probable Total %  Proved Probable Total
7134 12682 21189 61005 243.62 89.76 33337 929 2632 8338 30971
61.64 54.57 66.77 18298 - - - - - -
11.51 8.01 12,10 31.61 - - - - - -
51.53 15.36 65.53 13241 - - - - - -

- 193 17.35 25.28 - - - - - -

39602 21268 37363 98233 243.62 §9.76  333.37 929 22632 §338 30071

Typical coal quality features low sulfur content and high calorific value which can
be used as fuel for thermal power generation and feedstock material for the coal
chemical industry.

The mine is an underground fully mechanized longwall operation with an
authorized output level of 15 Mtpa. Mining methods employed at Jinjitan Coal Mine
are among the most advanced underground coal mining technologies in the world, and
proved to be efficient and appropriate given the favorable geological and technical
conditions at Jinjitan. In terms of output level in 2019, Jinjitan ranks No. 1 among
Yankuang Group’s domestic coal mines and No. 12 among China’s underground coal
mines.

Please refer to “Further Information in relation to Jinjitan Coal Mine” for details.
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2. Fine Chemical

Date of 25 May 2012
establishment
Registered capital RMB46.2 million
Type Limited liability company (solely owned legal person

invested in or controlled by a non-natural person)

Scope of business Production and sales of fische-Tropsch synthesis catalyst,
wax, sodium nitrate and potassium silicate.

Fine Chemical was established by Yankuang Group in 2012 with a registered
capital of RMB46.2 million. Pursuant to the Transaction, the Company will acquire
100% equity interests in Fine Chemical held by Yankuang Group. As at the Latest
Practicable Date, the equity interests in Fine Chemical have clearly-established
ownership without mortgage, pledge and any other restrictions on transfer. It was not
involved in judicial proceedings such as litigation, arbitration, being sealed up or
frozen, or any other circumstances that would prevent the transfer of the ownership
thereof.

Upon the completion of the Transaction, Fine Chemical will become a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and its financial data will be consolidated

into the financial statements of the Company.

3. Lunan Chemical

Date of 11 July 2007
establishment
Registered capital RMB5,040,690,900
Type Limited liability company (solely owned legal person

invested in or controlled by a non-natural person)

—19 —



LETTER FROM THE BOARD

Scope of business Development, production and sales of: acetic acid, ethyl
acetate, methyl acetate, n-butanol, isobutanol,
n-butyraldehyde, isobutyraldehyde, propane, methanol,
n-butyl acetate, sulfur, formaldehyde solution, liquid
ammonia, ammonia solution, paraformaldehyde, acetic
anhydride; urea and acetyl chemical products (validity
period is subject to license); power generation;
engagement in the operation of self-use equipment, raw
materials, materials and packaging; production and sales
of steam, polyformaldehyde, urea aqueous solution, 84
disinfectant (excluding any dangerous chemical products);
catering services; accommodation services; conference and
exhibition services; import and export business (excluding
publications).

The predecessor of Lunan Chemical was established by Yankuang Group in 2007
with an initial registered capital of RMB60 million. After successive capital increases,
restructuring by way of merger and equity transfer, the registered capital of Lunan
Chemical was increased to RMB5,040,690,900. Yankuang Group is the sole shareholder
of Lunan Chemical. Pursuant to the Transaction, the Company will acquire 100%
equity interests in Lunan Chemical held by Yankuang Group. As at the Latest
Practicable Date, the equity interests in Lunan Chemical have clearly-established
ownership without mortgage, pledge and any other restrictions on transfer. It was not
involved in judicial proceedings such as litigation, arbitration, being sealed up or
frozen, or any other circumstances that would prevent the transfer of the ownership
thereof.

Upon the completion of the Transaction, Lunan Chemical will become a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and its financial data will be consolidated

into the financial statements of the Company.

4. Chemical Equipment

Date of 2 September 1989
establishment
Registered capital RMB111,899,207
Type Limited liability company (solely owned legal person

invested in or controlled by a non-natural person)
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Scope of business Design of high-pressure vessel (single layer only), type III
low— and medium-pressure vessels; manufacturing of
high-pressure vessel (single layer only), type III low— and
medium-pressure vessels; manufacturing and maintenance
of chemical equipment and parts such as fans, tower
internals and filler; manufacturing and maintenance of
mine mechanical and electrical equipment and parts; and
technical services.

Chemical Equipment was allocated to Yankuang Group in 1999 at nil
consideration. Through conversion of debt to equity and capital increases, the
registered capital of Chemical Equipment was increased to RMB111,899,207. Pursuant
to the Transaction, the Company will acquire 100% equity interests in Chemical
Equipment held by Yankuang Group. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the equity
interests in Chemical Equipment have clearly-established ownership without mortgage,
pledge and any other restrictions on transfer. It was not involved in judicial
proceedings such as litigation, arbitration, being sealed up or frozen, or any other
circumstances that would prevent the transfer of the ownership thereof.

Upon the completion of the Transaction, Chemical Equipment will become a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and its financial data will be consolidated

into the financial statements of the Company.

5. Trading Company

Date of 25 March 2008
establishment
Registered capital RMB260,000,000
Type Limited liability company (solely owned legal person

invested in or controlled by a non-natural person)
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Scope of business Wholesale of crude benzene, methanol, ethanol, coal tar,
ethyl acetate, butyl acetate, vinyl acetate, dimethyl
formamide, liquid oxygen, liquid argon, liquid nitrogen,
methyl ether, ethylene, formaldehyde, acetic acid, acetic
anhydride, sulfur, n-butanol, benzene, aniline, calcium
carbide, caustic soda, pitch, anthracene oil, naphthalene,
oxazole, refined anthracene, toluene, xylene, styrene,
naphtha, methyl tert-butyl ether, propylene oxide,
dimethyl sulfide, ammonia water, ammonia, methyl
formate, methyl acetate, propylene, acetonitrile, methylal,
paraformaldehyde, = methyl = Amine, trimethylamine,
isobutanol, ethylene oxide, acetone, washing oil, crude
phenol, carbon dioxide, (di)methyl carbonate, methyl
acrylate, acrylic acid, formic acid, methane,
metaformaldehyde, hydroiodic acid, methyl iodide, boron
trifluoride ether complex, methyl sulfonic acid, propane,
isopropanol, mercury sulfate, potassium hydroxide,
acetylacetone, barium chloride, cobalt chloride, sodium
bisulfite, dioxolane, potassium dichromate and sodium
hypochlorite solution (containing available chlorine>5%)
(no storage) (operates with hazardous chemicals operating
license, validity period is subject to the license); retail of
fertilizer; wholesale of coal; sales of heavy oil, fuel oil,
coke, lubricating ore, chemical equipment, textile raw
materials, chemical raw materials and products (excluding
dangerous chemical products), iron ore, nickel ore,
instrumentation, cables, hardware tools, bearings, valve
fittings, building materials, labor protection supplies,
metals, rubber products, and copper ore; import and
export of goods and technology (except for goods or
technology that the state restricts or prohibits companies
from operating); and warehousing services.

Trading Company was established by Yankuang Group in 2008 with a registered
capital of RMB260,000,000. Pursuant to the Transaction, the Company will acquire
100% equity interests in Trading Company held by Yankuang Group. As at the Latest
Practicable Date, the equity interests in Trading Company have clearly-established
ownership without mortgage, pledge and any other restrictions on transfer. It was not
involved in judicial proceedings such as litigation, arbitration, being sealed up or
frozen, or any other circumstances that would prevent the transfer of the ownership
thereof.

Upon the completion of the Transaction, Trading Company will become a

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and its financial data will be consolidated
into the financial statements of the Company.
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6. Jisan Electricity

Date of 31 January 2005
establishment
Registered capital RMB430,000,000
Type Other limited liability company
Scope of business Heat supply operation (validity period is subject to the

license); and thermal power generation (those subject to
permission are operated with licenses or approval
documents).

Jisan Electricity was established initially by Yankuang Group and Jining Rencheng
District Public Assets Management Company (“Jining Rencheng”) at an equity interest
ratio of 92% and 8%, respectively, at a registered capital of RMB430 million.
Yankuang Group subsequently acquired 7% equity interests in Jisan Electricity from
Jining Rencheng in 2015 at a consideration of RMB30.10 million.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the shareholding structure of Jisan Electricity is
as follows:

Yankuang Group Jining Rencheng

99% 1%

A4

Jisan Electricity

Pursuant to the Transaction, the Company will acquire 99% equity interests in
Jisan Electricity held by Yankuang Group. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the equity
interests in Jisan Electricity have clearly-established ownership without mortgage,
pledge and any other restrictions on transfer. It was not involved in judicial
proceedings such as litigation, arbitration, being sealed up or frozen, or any other
circumstances that would prevent the transfer of the ownership thereof.

Jining Rencheng is an institution established in the PRC on 14 March 2013. To
the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, and having made all reasonable
enquiries, Jining Rencheng District Public Assets Management Company and its
respective ultimate beneficial owners are third parties independent of the Company and
its connected persons.

Upon the completion of the Transaction, Jisan Electricity will become a subsidiary

of the Company, and its financial data will be consolidated into the financial statements
of the Company.
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7. Information Center

The Information Center was formerly the communication and computing center of
Yankuang Group established in October 1994. It has been independently accounted for
since January 1995. The Information Center is currently the functional department of
Yankuang Group’s informatization business, capable of providing mine informatization
system development and construction and maintenance services, as well as
communications, network and digital TV services.

Pursuant to the Transaction, the Company will acquire the relevant assets of the
Information Center, a subordinate of Yankuang Group. As at the Latest Practicable
Date, the relevant assets of the Information Center involved in the Transaction have
clearly-established ownership without mortgage, pledge and any other restrictions on
transfer. They were not involved in judicial proceedings such as litigation, arbitration,
being sealed up or frozen, or any other circumstances that would prevent the transfer of
the ownership thereof.

Upon the completion of the Transaction, the Information Center will become a
subordinate department of the Company, and its financial data will be consolidated into
the financial statements of the Company.

FINANCIAL DATA OF TARGET COMPANIES AND TARGET ASSETS
1. Shaanxi Future Energy
The audited major financial figures of Shaanxi Future Energy for the years ended

31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and the six months ended 30 June 2020, prepared
by Crowe in accordance with the IFRS, are summarized as follows (combined data):

RMB’000

Six months

ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June

2017 2018 2019 2020

Revenue 6,519,141 6,564,897 8,751,970 4,156,146
Profit before tax 1,980,894 1,612,119 2,821,471 1,227,871
Profit after tax 1,680,915 1,370,955 2,386,234 1,059,581
As of

As of 31 December 30 June

2017 2018 2019 2020

Total assets 22,014,387 20,510,499 20,006,701 20,867,324
Total liabilities 12,895,930 10,021,087 8,812,355 8,613,397
Net assets 9,118,457 10,489,412 11,194,346 12,253,927
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2. Fine Chemical

The audited major financial figures of Fine Chemical for the years ended 31
December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and the six months ended 30 June 2020, prepared by
Crowe in accordance with the IFRS, are summarized as follows:

Revenue
Profit before tax
Profit after tax

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net assets

3. Lunan Chemical

Year ended 31 December

2017 2018 2019
184,461 189,098 219,128
20,985 9,913 34,355
18,288 8,297 29,042

As of 31 December

2017 2018 2019
263,390 230,160 237,596
147,700 110,617 89,011
115,690 119,543 148,585

RMB’000

Six months
ended

30 June
2020

83,552
11,755
9,982

As of
30 June
2020

242,059
83,492
158,567

The audited major financial figures of Lunan Chemical for the years ended 31
December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and the six months ended 30 June 2020, prepared by
Crowe in accordance with the IFRS, are summarized as follows:

Revenue
Profit before tax
Profit after tax

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net assets

Year ended 31 December

2017 2018 2019
4,079,409 6,356,124 6,310,350
198,107 430,114 453,733
139,049 386,156 393,929

As of 31 December

2017 2018 2019
8,542,938 8,799,130 9,359,892
7,725,728 4,026,717 3,907,998

817,210 4,772,413 5,451,894
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Six months
ended

30 June
2020

2,603,067
(38,939)
(28,045)

As of
30 June
2020

9,811,094
4,249,404
5,561,690
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Chemical Equipment

The audited major financial figures of Chemical Equipment for the years ended 31

Revenue
(Loss)/profit before tax
(Loss)/profit after tax

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net (liabilities)/assets

Trading Company

December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and the six months ended 30 June 2020, prepared by
Crowe in accordance with the IFRS, are summarized as follows:

RMB’000

Six months

ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020
27,539 39,189 52,907 33,555
(354) 247 5,319 1,455
(137) 312 5,339 1,605
As of

As of 31 December 30 June

2017 2018 2019 2020
49,152 53,999 85,907 86,689
121,528 126,063 30,322 29,340
(72,376) (72,064) 55,585 57,349

The audited major financial figures of Trading Company for the years ended 31

Revenue
Profit before tax
Profit after tax

December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and the six months ended 30 June 2020, prepared by
Crowe in accordance with the IFRS, are summarized as follows:

RMB’000

Six months

ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June

2017 2018 2019 2020
11,127,075 10,217,082 7,170,375 3,388,079
32,803 23,235 21,584 13,510
24,663 20,422 17,723 9,012
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As of

As of 31 December 30 June

2017 2018 2019 2020

Total assets 1,393,089 579,427 547,396 704,417
Total liabilities 1,205,968 377,460 327,706 474,833
Net assets 187,121 201,967 219,690 229,584

6. Jisan Electricity

The audited major financial figures of Jisan Electricity for the years ended 31
December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and the six months ended 30 June 2020, prepared by
Crowe in accordance with the IFRS, are summarized as follows:

RMB’000

Six months

ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June

2017 2018 2019 2020

Revenue 428,870 455,016 429,724 171,248
Profit before tax 23,430 14,139 51,505 50,103
Profit after tax 22,651 8,754 37,812 37,306
As of

As of 31 December 30 June

2017 2018 2019 2020

Total assets 2,119,906 2,041,426 2,149,303 2,080,364
Total liabilities 1,618,426 1,535,877 1,605,942 1,499,589
Net assets 501,480 505,549 543,361 580,775
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7. Information Center

The audited major financial figures of Information Center for the years ended 31
December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and the six months ended 30 June 2020, prepared by
Crowe in accordance with the IFRS, are summarized as follows:

RMB’000

Six months

ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June

2017 2018 2019 2020

Revenue 118,338 140,851 143,302 64,392
Profit before tax 37,270 36,798 19,901 15,698
Profit after tax 37,270 36,798 19,901 15,698
As of

As of 31 December 30 June

2017 2018 2019 2020

Total assets 262,466 265,126 262,549 259,851
Total liabilities 183,804 171,666 166,568 150,028
Net assets 78,662 93,460 95,981 109,823

VI. VALUATION OF TARGET COMPANIES AND TARGET ASSETS
1. Shaanxi Future Energy

The valuation of Shaanxi Future Energy as per the “Asset Valuation Report on the
Value of the Total Shareholders’ Equity of Shaanxi Future Energy & Chemicals Co.,
Ltd. Involved in the Proposed Acquisition of the Equity Interests in Shaanxi Future
Energy & Chemicals Co., Ltd. by Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited” (Tian Xing
Ping Bao Zi (2020) No. 1242) issued by Pan-China, which has securities and futures
related business qualifications in China, is as follows:

Valuation approaches and appraisal results

Based on the benchmark date of 30 June 2020, Pan-China ultimately adopted
the asset-based approach for the valuation on the total shareholders’ equity of
Shaanxi Future Energy. However, due to the unique nature of the proprietary
technologies (i.e. technologies to which patents have not been applied for by the
relevant company), patents and rights to use proprietary technology, and given
that if the market approach and the cost approach were adopted, it would be in
contravention of the relevant valuation requirements in the PRC, the valuation of
such proprietary technologies, patents and rights to use proprietary technology
was based on income approach. According to Pan-China, the technical idea of the
income method is primarily based on the reasonable forecast on the economic life
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span and the expected level of income to be generated from the use of such
technologies, patents and rights to use proprietary technology to the enterprise in
the future. Such proprietary technologies, patents and rights to use proprietary
technology accounted for an insignificant portion of the “other intangible assets”
within the category of “Intangible Assets” of the Valuation Report on Shaanxi
Future Energy.

Based on the benchmark date of 30 June 2020 as the benchmark date,
Pan-China ultimately adopted the asset-based approach for the valuation on the
total shareholders’ equity of Shaanxi Future Energy. Under the ongoing concern
on 30 June 2020, being the valuation benchmark date, the value of total
shareholders’ equity after appraisal of Shaanxi Future Energy amounted to
RMB23,937.0333 million, with an estimated appreciation of RMB11,837.9846
million and an appreciation rate of 97.84%, and the appraisal results are as

follows:
RMB0’000
Book value Appraised Appreciation
Item (Note) value Changes rate (%)
Current assets 303,135.20 306,384.89 3,249.69 1.07
Non-current assets 1,765,001.35  2,945,550.11  1,180,548.76 66.89
Including: Long-term equity
investment 6,530.00 8,361.34 1,831.34 28.05
Investment
properties 2,253.02 2,658.39 405.37 17.99
Fixed assets 1,299,004.14  1,282,461.29 -16,542.85 -1.27
Construction in
progress 104,857.87 93,825.64 -11,032.23 -10.52
Intangible assets 265,805.74  1,471,658.46  1,205,852.72 453.66
Others 86,550.58 86,584.99 34.41 0.04
Total assets 2,068,136.55  3,251,935.01  1,183,798.46 57.24
Current liabilities 342,774.99 342,774.99 - -
Non-current liabilities 515,456.69 515,456.69 - -
Total liabilities 858,231.68 858,231.68 - -
Net assets 1,209,904.87  2,393,703.33  1,183,798.46 97.84

Note: Such book value is prepared in accordance with Chinese Accounting Standards.

Under the going concern assumption as at the valuation benchmark date, the
book value of total assets, the book value of liabilities and the book value of net
assets of Shaanxi Future Energy were RMB20,681.3655 million, RMB§,582.3168
million and RMB12,099.0487 million, respectively. Shaanxi Future Energy’s total
assets after appraisal by the asset-based approach were RMB32,519.3501 million,
liabilities were RMB®&,582.3168 million, net assets were RMB23,937.0333 million,
and the appraised appreciation was RMB11,837.9846 million, representing an
appreciation rate of 97.84%.
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Explanatory notes on appreciation of valuation

The main reason for the appreciation of Shaanxi Future Energy valuation is
the appreciation of mining rights in intangible assets, while the main reason for
the appreciation of mining rights is a lower cost of obtaining the original value of
mining rights. In the valuation of Shaanxi Future Energy, the mining rights of
Jinjitan Coal Mine are evaluated using the discounted cash flow method. The
evaluated value included the economic benefits brought by the exploration and
development of the mining rights, reflecting the income status of the future years.

According to Pan-China, the main indicators and parameter selection
methods for the evaluation of mining rights of Jinjitan Coal Mine using the
discounted cash flow method are as follows:

(1) Product plan

According to the actual situation of the enterprise, the product plan is
mixed coal, washed lump coal, washed clean coal, and washed gangue.
The product options adopted in their assessment are blended coal,
washed lump coal, washed clean coal, and washed gangue.

(2) Mining service life

It is determined based on the remaining recoverable reserves and mine
production scale of the paid price on the assessment base date.

(3) Product price and sales revenue

Product output: The mineral products used in the assessment are
blended coal, washed lump coal, washed clean coal, and washed
gangue. Forecast is made according to the product yield table provided
by the enterprise.

Product price: Forecast is made with reference to the historical sales
price of the enterprise.

(4) Total cost

For material costs, power costs, repair costs, employee compensation,
subsidence compensation, sales costs, management costs and other
expenditures, forecasts are made with reference to the 2019 data of the
enterprise.

For depreciation and amortization of intangible assets, the average life

method is adopted, and forecasts are made with reference to the life of
various assets.
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(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

)

For maintenance fees, safety fees and environmental governance and
restoration funds, forecasts are made according to the regulations of the
relevant documents.

For finance expenses, forecasts are made in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the “Guiding Opinions on the Determination of
Mining Rights Evaluation Parameters” and LPR.

Taxes, surcharges and income tax: predictions are made with reference
to the relevant national taxation policies.

Investment

The project has been constructed and put into production, and the
follow-up investment in geological exploration is zero.

Fixed asset investment, subsequent investment in construction in
progress, and intangible asset investment are predicted with reference to
asset appraisal values.

The production capacity index payment is invested at the time of the
base date and recovered at the end of the production period.

Renewal and reconstruction funds, recovery of residual (residual) value
of fixed assets

According to the “China Mining Rights Evaluation Standards”, the net
value of fixed assets at the end of the evaluation period is used as the
residual value of the recovered fixed assets.

Liquidity: Refer to the “China Mining Rights Evaluation Standards” to
determine the sales revenue funding rate, one-time investment in the
first year of the production period, and one-time recovery at the end of
the production period.

Discount rate

The discount rate is generally selected based on the risk-free rate of
return and the risk-free rate of return. The 10-year treasury bond’s
annual yield to maturity on the evaluation base date is selected as the
risk-free rate of return for this project evaluation. The method for
determining the risk return rate is the “risk accumulation method”. The
production stage risk return, industry risk return rate, financial
operation risk return rate and other risk return rates are considered.
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Since Pan-China has, in the valuation of Shaanxi Future Energy, assessed the
mining right of the Jinjitan Coal Mine based on income approach (the “Jinjitan
Coal Mine Profit Forecast”), such valuation constitutes a profit forecast under
Rule 14.61 of the Listing Rules. As such, the requirements under Rules 14.60A
and 14.62 of the Listing Rules are applicable.

In accordance with Rule 14.62(2) of the Listing Rules, the Company has
engaged Crowe to report on the calculations of the discounted future cash flow
under the Jinjitan Coal Mine Profit Forecast. Crowe has reviewed the calculation
of discounted future cash flows used in the valuation (not involving the adoption
of accounting policies).

Crowe has reported to the Directors that, so far as the calculations of the
discounted future estimated cash flows on which the valuation of the mining
rights of Jinjitan Coal Mine was based as concerned, the discounted future
estimated cash flow has been properly compiled in all material aspects in
accordance with the assumptions made. The work performed by Crowe has not
reviewed, considered or conducted any work on the appropriateness and validity
of the basis and assumptions and Crowe has not given any opinion on the
appropriateness and validity of the basis and assumptions on which the discounted
future estimated cash flows, and thus the Jinjitan Coal Mine Profit Forecast, are
based.

The Directors have reviewed the basis and assumptions, on which the
Jinjitan Coal Mine Profit Forecast of the asset valuation report of Shaanxi Future
Energy was based and prepared by Pan-China. The Directors have also considered
the report by Crowe. Based on the foregoing, the Directors have confirmed that
they are satisfied that the valuation of the mining rights of Jinjitan Coal Mine has
been made after due and careful enquiry.

The letter dated 30 September 2020 from Crowe for the purpose of Rule
14.62(2) of the Listing Rules on the Jinjitan Coal Mine Profit and the letter dated
30 September 2020 from the Board of the Company for the purpose of Rule
14.62(3) of the Listing Rules on the Jinjitan Coal Mine Profit Forecast have
already been included in the announcement published by the Company on 30
September 2020. Full text of the said letters from Crowe and the Board including
the basis and assumption relevant to the Jinjitan Coal Mine Profit Forecast are
reproduced and set out in “Further Information in relation to Jinjitan Coal Mine”
of this circular.

Fine Chemical

The valuation of Fine Chemical as per the “Asset Valuation Report on the Value

of the Total Shareholders’ Equity of Yankuang Yuling Fine Chemical Co., Ltd. Involved
in the Proposed Acquisition of the Equity Interests in Yankuang Yuling Fine Chemical
Co., Ltd. by Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited” (Tian Xing Ping Bao Zi (2020)
No. 1262) issued by Pan-China, which has securities and futures related business
qualifications in China, is as follows:
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Valuation approaches and appraisal results

Based on the benchmark date of 30 June 2020, Pan-China ultimately adopted
the asset-based approach for the valuation on the total shareholders’ equity of
Fine Chemical. However, due to the unique nature of the proprietary technologies
(i.e. technologies to which patents have not been applied for by the relevant
company), patents and rights to use proprietary technology, and given that if the
market approach and the cost approach were adopted, it would be in contravention
of the relevant valuation requirements in the PRC, the valuation of such
proprietary technologies, patents and rights to use proprietary technology was
based on income approach. According to Pan-China, the technical idea of the
income method is primarily based on the reasonable forecast on the economic life
span and the expected level of income to be generated from the use of such
technologies, patents and rights to use proprietary technology to the enterprise in
the future. Such proprietary technologies, patents and rights to use proprietary
technology accounted for an insignificant portion of the “other intangible assets”
within the category of “Intangible Assets” of the Valuation Report on Fine
Chemical.

Based on the benchmark date of 30 June 2020 as the benchmark date,
Pan-China ultimately adopted the asset-based approach for the valuation on the
total shareholders’ equity of Fine Chemical. Under the ongoing concern on 30
June 2020, being the valuation benchmark date, the value of total shareholders’
equity after appraisal of Fine Chemical amounted to RMB223.6242 million with
an estimated appreciation of RMB65.0573 million and an appreciation rate of
41.03%, and the appraisal results are as follows:

RMBO0’000
Book value Appraised Appreciation
Item (Note) value Changes rate (%)
Current assets 7,765.22 8,045.19 279.97 3.61
Non-current assets 16,440.62 22,666.38 6,225.76 37.87
Including: Long-term equity
investment - - -
Investment
properties - - -
Fixed assets 15,127.65 21,072.16 5,944.51 39.30
Construction in
progress - - -
Intangible assets 1,291.90 1,573.15 281.25 21.77
Others 21.07 21.07 - -
Total assets 24,205.84 30,711.57 6,505.73 26.88
Current liabilities 8,331.64 8,331.64 - -
Non-current liabilities 17.51 17.51 - -
Total liabilities 8,349.15 8,349.15 - -
Net assets 15,856.69 22,362.42 6,505.73 41.03
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Note: Such book value is prepared in accordance with Chinese Accounting Standards.

Under the going concern assumption as at the valuation benchmark date, the
book value of total assets, the book value of liabilities and the book value of net
assets of Fine Chemical were RMB242.0584 million, RMB83.4915 million and
RMB158.5669 million, respectively. Fine Chemical’s total assets after appraisal
by the asset-based approach were RMB307.1157 million, liabilities were
RMB83.4915 million, net assets were RMB223.6242 million, and the appraised
appreciation was RMB65.0573 million, representing an appreciation rate of
41.03%.

3. Lunan Chemical

The valuation of Lunan Chemical as per the “Asset Valuation Report on the Value
of the Total Shareholders’ Equity of Yankuang Lunan Chemical Co., Ltd. Involved in
the Proposed Acquisition of the Equity Interests in Yankuang Lunan Chemical Co., Ltd
by Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited” (Tian Xing Ping Bao Zi (2020) No. 1255)
issued by Pan-China, which has securities and futures related business qualifications in
China, is as follows:

Valuation approaches and appraisal results

Based on the benchmark date of 30 June 2020, Pan-China ultimately adopted
the asset-based approach for the valuation on the total shareholders’ equity of
Lunan Chemical. However, due to the wunique nature of the proprietary
technologies (i.e. technologies to which patents have not been applied for by the
relevant company), patents and rights to use proprietary technology, and given
that if the market approach and the cost approach were adopted, it would be in
contravention of the relevant valuation requirements in the PRC, the valuation of
such proprietary technologies, patents and rights to use proprietary technology
was based on income approach. According to Pan-China, the technical idea of the
income method is primarily based on the reasonable forecast on the economic life
span and the expected level of income to be generated from the use of such
technologies, patents and rights to use proprietary technology to the enterprise in
the future. Such proprietary technologies, patents and rights to use proprietary
technology accounted for an insignificant portion of the “other intangible assets”
within the category of “Intangible Assets” of the Valuation Report of Lunan
Chemical.
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Based on the benchmark date of 30 June 2020 as the benchmark date,
Pan-China ultimately adopted the asset-based approach for the valuation on the
total shareholders’ equity of Lunan Chemical. Under the ongoing concern on 30
June 2020, being the valuation benchmark date, the value of total shareholders’
equity after appraisal of Lunan Chemical is RMB6,187.4849 million, with an
estimated appreciation of RMB645.4981 million and an appreciation rate of
11.65%, and the appraisal results are as follows:

RMBO0’000
Book value Appraised Appreciation
Item (Note) value Changes rate (%)
Current assets 255,241.72 255,665.54 423.82 0.17
Non-current assets 731,024.02 794,012.87 62,988.85 8.62
Including: Long-term equity
investment - - -
Investment
properties - - -
Fixed assets 438,685.65 465,954.04 27,268.39 6.22
Construction in
progress 78,659.71 79,799.22 1,139.51 1.45
Intangible assets 52,073.40 86,254.68 34,181.28 65.64
Others 161,605.26 162,004.93 399.67 0.25
Total assets 986,265.74  1,049,678.41 63,412.67 6.43
Current liabilities 369,334.04 369,334.04 - -
Non-current liabilities 62,733.02 61,595.88 -1,137.14 -1.81
Total liabilities 432,067.06 430,929.92 -1,137.14 -0.26
Net assets 554,198.68 618,748.49 64,549.81 11.65

Note: Such book value is prepared in accordance with Chinese Accounting Standards.

Under the going concern assumption as at the valuation benchmark date, the
book value of total assets, the book value of liabilities and the book value of net
assets of Lunan Chemical were RMB9,862.6574 million RMB4,320.6706 million
and RMB5,541.9868 million, respectively. Lunan Chemical’s total assets after
appraisal by the asset-based approach were RMB10,496.7841 million, liabilities
were RMB4,309.2992 million, net assets were RMB6,187.4849 million, and the
appraised appreciation was RMB645.4981 million, representing an appreciation
rate of 11.65%.

4. Chemical Equipment

The valuation of Chemical Equipment as per the “Asset Valuation Report on the
Value of the Total Shareholders’ Equity of Shareholders of Yankuang Jining Chemical
Equipment Co., Ltd. Involved in the Proposed Acquisition of the Equity Interests in
Yankuang Jining Chemical Equipment Co., Ltd. by Yanzhou Coal Mining Company
Limited” (Tian Xing Ping Bao Zi (2020) No. 1252) issued by Pan-China, which has
securities and futures related business qualifications in China, is as follows:
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Valuation approaches and appraisal results

Based on the benchmark date of 30 June 2020, Pan-China ultimately adopted
the asset-based approach for the valuation on the total shareholder’ equity of
Chemical Equipment. Under the ongoing concern on 30 June 2020, being the
valuation benchmark date, the value of total shareholders’ equity after appraisal of
Chemical Equipment is RMB69.6413 million, with an estimated appreciation of
RMB16.265 million and an appreciation rate of 30.47%, and the appraisal results
are as follows:

RMBO0’000
Book value Appraised Appreciation
Item (Note) value Changes rate (%)
Current assets 4,998.88 5,063.47 64.59 1.29
Non-current assets 3,670.11 5,232.02 1,561.91 42.56
Including: Long-term equity
investment - - -
Investment
properties - - -
Fixed assets 2,548.29 3,604.32 1,116.03 43.80
Construction in
progress - - -
Intangible assets 314.13 1,153.86 839.73 267.32
Others 807.69 413.84 -393.85 -48.76
Total assets 8,668.99 10,295.49 1,626.50 18.76
Current liabilities 2,871.66 2,871.66 - -
Non-current liabilities 459.70 459.70 - -
Total liabilities 3,331.36 3,331.36 - -
Net assets 5,337.63 6,964.13 1,626.50 30.47

Note: Such book value is prepared in accordance with Chinese Accounting Standards.

Under the going concern assumption as at the valuation benchmark date, the
book value of total assets, the book value of liabilities and the book value of net
assets of Chemical Equipment were RMB&86.6899 million, RMB33.3136 million
and RMBS53.3763 million, respectively. Chemical Equipment’s total assets after
appraisal by the asset-based approach were RMB102.9549 million; liabilities were
RMB33.3136 million; net assets were RMB69.6413 million, and the appraised
appreciation was RMB16.265 million, representing an appreciation rate of
30.47%.

5. Trading Company

The valuation of Trading Company as per the “Asset Valuation Report on the
Value of the Total Shareholders’ Equity of Shareholders of Yankuang Coal Chemicals
International Trading Co., Ltd. Involved in the Proposed Acquisition of the Equity
Interests in Yankuang Coal Chemicals International Trading Co., Ltd. by Yanzhou Coal
Mining Company Limited” (Tian Xing Ping Bao Zi (2020) No. 1254) issued by
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Pan-China, which has securities and futures related business qualifications in China, is
as follows:

Valuation approaches and appraisal results

Based on the benchmark date of 30 June 2020, Pan-China ultimately adopted
the asset-based approach for the valuation on the total shareholders’ equity of
Trading Company. Under the ongoing concern on 30 June 2020, being the
valuation benchmark date, the value of total shareholders’ equity after appraisal of
Trading Company is RMB229.9034 million, with an estimated appreciation of
RMBO0.3193 million and an appreciation rate of 0.14%, and the appraisal results
are as follows:

RMBO0’000
Book value Appraised Appreciation
Item (Note) value Changes rate (%)
Current assets 69,932.00 69,932.00 - -
Non-current assets 509.63 541.56 31.93 6.27
Including: Long-term equity
investment - - -
Investment
properties - - -
Fixed assets 27.38 59.31 31.93 116.62
Construction in
progress - - -
Intangible assets - - -
Others 482.25 482.25 - -
Total assets 70,441.63 70,473.56 31.93 0.05
Current liabilities 46,826.25 46,826.25 - -
Non-current liabilities 656.97 656.97 - -
Total liabilities 47,483.22 47,483.22 - -
Net assets 22,958.41 22,990.34 31.93 0.14

Note: Such book value is prepared in accordance with Chinese Accounting Standards.

Under the going concern assumption as at the valuation benchmark date, the
book value of total assets, the book value of liabilities and the book value of net
assets of Trading Company were RMB704.4163 million, RMB474.8322 million
and RMB229.5841 million, respectively. Trading Company’s total assets after
appraisal by the asset-based approach were RMB704.7356 million; liabilities were
RMB474.8322 million; net assets were RMB229.9034 million, and the appraised
appreciation was RMB0.3193 million, representing an appreciation rate of 0.14%.

6. Jisan Electricity
The valuation of Jisan Electricity as per the “Asset Valuation Report on the Value

of the Total Shareholders’ Equity of Shareholders of Shandong Yankuang Jisan
Electricity Co., Ltd. Involved in the Proposed Acquisition of the Equity Interests in

- 37 —



LETTER FROM THE BOARD

Shandong Yankuang Jisan Electricity Co., Ltd. by Yanzhou Coal Mining Company
Limited” (Tian Xing Ping Bao Zi (2020) No. 1247) issued by Pan-China, which has
securities and futures related business qualifications in China, is as follows:

Valuation approaches and appraisal results

Based on the benchmark date of 30 June 2020, Pan-China ultimately adopted
the asset-based approach for the valuation on the total shareholders’ equity of
Jisan Electricity. Under the ongoing concern on 30 June 2020, being the valuation
benchmark date, the value of total shareholders’ equity after appraisal of Jisan
Electricity is RMB713.8707 million, with an estimated appreciation of
RMB133.0956 million and an appreciation rate of 22.92%, and the appraisal
results are as follows:

RMBO0’000

Book value Appraised Appreciation

Item (Note) value Changes rate (%)

Current assets 159,410.98 159,410.98 - -

Non-current assets 48,625.54 61,935.10 13,309.56 27.37
Including: Long-term equity

investment - - - -

Fixed assets 46,903.43 57,928.93 11,025.50 23.51

Intangible assets 1,722.11 4,006.17 2,284.06 132.63

Total assets 208,036.52 221,346.08 13,309.56 6.40

Current liabilities 81,020.53 81,020.53 - -

Non-current liabilities 68,938.48 68,938.48 - -

Total liabilities 149,959.01 149,959.01 - -

Net assets 58,077.51 71,387.07 13,309.56 22.92

Note: Such book value is prepared in accordance with Chinese Accounting Standards.

Under the going concern assumption as at the valuation benchmark date, the
book value of total assets, the book value of liabilities and the book value of net
assets of Jisan Electricity were RMB2,080.3652 million, RMB1,499.5901 million
and RMBS580.7751 million, respectively. Jisan Electricity’s total assets after
appraisal by the asset-based approach were RMB2,213.4608 million, liabilities
were RMB1,499.5901 million, net assets were RMB713.8707 million, and the
appraised appreciation was RMB133.0956 million, representing an appreciation
rate of 22.92%.

7. Information Center
The valuation of Information Center as per the “Market Value of the Relevant

Assets and Liabilities of the Information Center of Yankuang Group Company Limited
Involved in the Proposed Acquisition of the Assets Group of the Information Center of
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Yankuang Group Company Limited by Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited” (Tian
Xing Ping Bao Zi (2020) No. 1258) issued by Pan-China, which has securities and
futures related business qualifications in China, is as follows:

Valuation approaches and appraisal results

Based on the benchmark date of 30 June 2020, Pan-China ultimately adopted
the asset-based approach for the valuation on the total shareholders’ equity of
Information Center. Under the ongoing concern on 30 June 2020, being the
valuation benchmark date, the value of relevant assets and liabilities after
appraisal of Jisan Electricity is RMBI119.7962 million, with an estimated
appreciation of RMB9.9739 million and an appreciation rate of 9.08%, and the
appraisal results are as follows:

RMBO0’000
Book value Appraised Appreciation
Item (Note) value Changes rate (%)
Current assets 18,986.13 18,982.38 -3.75 -0.02
Non-current assets 6,998.93 7,897.24 898.31 12.83
Including: Long-term equity
investment - - -
Investment
properties - - -
Fixed assets 6,759.83 7,389.35 629.52 9.31
Construction in
progress - - -
Intangible assets 239.10 507.89 268.79 112.42
Others - - -
Total assets 25,985.06 26,879.62 894.56 3.44
Current liabilities 14,151.78 14,151.78 - -
Non-current liabilities 851.05 748.22 -102.83 -12.08
Total liabilities 15,002.83 14,900.00 -102.83 -0.69
Net assets 10,982.23 11,979.62 997.39 9.08

Note: Such book value is prepared in accordance with Chinese Accounting Standards.

Under the going concern assumption as at the valuation benchmark date, the
book value of total assets, the book value of liabilities and the book value of net
assets of Information Center were RMB259.8506 million, RMB150.0283 million
and RMB109.8223 million, respectively. Information Center’s total assets after
appraisal by the cost approach were RMB268.7962 million; liabilities were
RMB149.0 million; net assets were RMB119.7962 million, and the appraised
appreciation was RMB9.9739 million, representing an appreciation rate of 9.08%.

VII. LETTER OF PERFORMANCE COMMITMENT

Reference is made by the announcement published by the Company on 23 October
2020.
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In view of the Transaction Agreement entered into between Yankuang Group and the

Company

on 30 September 2020 and based on confidence in the future development

prospect of the Target Companies, and with reference to the Asset Valuation Reports filed
with the competent state-owned regulatory authorities, Yankuang Group made the following
commitments regarding the performance of the Target Equity Interests in the next three

years:

M

(1D

)

(Iv)

Commitment to the audited aggregate net profit attributable to shareholders of the
parent company after deducting non-recurring profit and loss corresponding to the
Target Equity Interests (the “Net Profit”), calculated in accordance with the China
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises, shall not be less than RMB4.314
billion (the “Committed Net Profit”) during the years 2020 to 2022 (the
“Commitment Period”). The commitment to the Committed Net Profit is
determined with reference to the Asset Valuation Reports filed with the competent
state-owned regulatory authorities. The Committed Net Profit of Shaanxi Future
Energy and Jisan Electricity shall be determined according to the proportion of
equity interests participating in the Transaction, being 49.315% and 99%.

In the case which after the end of the Commitment Period, the aggregate amount
of actual Net Profit corresponding to the Target Equity Interests does not reach
the Committed Net Profit, Yankuang Group shall compensate the Company in
cash, and the specific compensation amount shall be calculated based on the
difference between the Committed Net Profit and the actual Net Profit
corresponding to the Target Equity Interests. Among which, the actual Net Profit
corresponding to 49.315% equity interests in Shaanxi Future Energy or 99%
equity interests of Jisan Electricity = (Net Profit of Shaanxi Future Energy or
Jisan Electricity attributable to shareholders of the parent company after deducting
non-recurring profit and loss each year) x the equity interest ratios of Shaanxi
Future Energy or Jisan Electricity in the Transaction.

The actual Net Profit realized in each year shall be determined on the basis of the
net profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company after deducting
non-recurring profit and loss recognized in the special audit report issued by the
accounting firm appointed by the Company, and approved by both the Company
and Yankuang Group.

Commitment to perform all the compensation obligations within 30 days after the
issuance of the special audit report on the Target Companies the receipt of the
notice from the Company specifying the specific amount of compensation during
the Commitment Period.

In the case which during the Commitment Period, due to force majeure (“force
majeure” refers to the objective circumstances that cannot be foreseen,
unavoidable and unsurmountable at the time when the Transaction Agreement was
entered into between Yankuang Group and the Company, including but not limited
to: 1. natural disasters such as earthquakes, tsunamis, typhoons, volcanic
eruptions, landslides, avalanches, mudslides, epidemics, etc.; 2. social abnormal
events such as wars, armed conflicts, strikes, disturbances, riots, etc.; 3. changes
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in laws, regulations or policies, government control orders or decisions), the
normal production and operation of Target Companies is materially and adversely
affected or the Target Companies are no longer controlled or actually controlled
by the Company, Yankuang Group may adjust the amount of the Committed Net
Profit under the Letter of Performance Commitment and other content according
to the degree of impact of the foregoing circumstances starting from the year
(such year inclusive) in which the above-mentioned circumstances occurred.

(V) The Letter of Performance Commitment shall take effect from the date when the
Transaction Agreement becomes effective.

Based on the above, pursuant to the Letter of Performance Commitment,

1. for each Target Company, any of the Target Company(ies) which did not realise Net
Profit will offset the Net Profit realised by the other Target Company(ies) during the
Commitment Period, and the total amount for those three years will be aggregated.

2. with respect to the maximum compensation amount and in accordance with the
calculation method set out in the Letter of Performance Commitment, the Committed
Net Profit will net off the actual realised net profit corresponding to the Target Equity
Interests. Accordingly, if the Net Profit corresponding to the Target Equity Interest for
the three years is negative, it will result in a maximum compensation amount exceeding
RMB4.314 billion.

The Company will comply with the disclosure requirements under Rule 14A.63 of the Hong
Kong Listing Rules.

VIII.OTHER ARRANGEMENTS RELATING TO THE TRANSACTION

Upon the Closing, the employees of the Information Center shall be resettled in
accordance with the principle of “people go with the assets”. Except for the Information
Center, the labor contract relationship of the employees of other Target Companies will not
be changed as a result of the Transaction. In addition, the Transaction does not involve other
personnel placement issues.

IX. CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Currently, there are transactions between the Group, Yankuang Group and its associates
and certain Target Groups and Target Assets. Subsequent to the completion of the
Transaction, Target Companies will become subsidiaries of the Company, and the Target
Assets will become a subordinate department of the Company. Therefore, the connected
transactions between the Target Group, Target Assets and the Group will be eliminated.
Existing transactions between the Target Group, Target Assets and Yankuang Group and its
associates will become newly added continuing connected transactions of the Company.
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As soon as reasonably practicable, the Company will promptly examine the status and
scale of the continuing connected transactions between the Target Group, Target Assets and
Yankuang Group and its associates, and publish announcements and seek the approval from
Independent Shareholders (if required) for full compliance with the relevant requirements of
the Listing Rules.

X. BENEFITS OF AND REASONS FOR THE TRANSACTION

As a result of the Transaction, the Company can realize the integration of the coal
chemical business segment under Yankuang Group, further strengthen the three main
businesses of "coal, coal chemical industry, and coal power”, and extend the industrial chain,
while optimizing the core business of the Company to strengthen the Company’s
profitability as well as anti-risk capabilities. Strong profitability and abundant operating cash
flow of the Target Companies and Target Assets can enhance the value of the Company and
Shareholders’ returns.

The indirect coal liquefaction project of Shaanxi Future Energy is the first set of
indirect coal liquefaction projects at the megaton level using proprietary technology in the
PRC. It consist of two core technologies: low-temperature Fischer-Tropsch synthesis and
high-temperature Fischer-Tropsch synthesis, which is the national energy strategic reserve
and is of positive significance to promote the diversification of national energy security.
Jinjitan Coal Mine is a supporting mine for the indirect coal liquefaction project of Shaanxi
Future Energy. According to JORC Standards, as at 30 June 2020, the coal mine has 982
million tons of in-situ resources and 333 million tons of recoverable reserves. It is mainly
high-quality thermal coal with low sulfur, low ash, high calorific value and low cohesion.
The average calorific value of raw coal is about 6,000 kcal/kg. The coal mine has an
approved annual production capacity of 15 million tons, which is a leading domestic,
internationally first-class, intelligent mining well with demonstration effects. Fine Chemical
is mainly dedicated to the production of catalysts for the indirect coal liquefaction projects
of Shaanxi Future Energy, which is closely related to the business of Shaanxi Future Energy.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company held 24.6575% equity interests in
Shaanix Future Energy. Through the Transaction, the Company’s shareholding in Shaanix
Future Energy will increase to 73.9725%. The Transaction is conducive to further
consolidate the Company’s control over Shaanxi Future Energy. To ensure the smooth
progress in the operation and management of Shaanxi Future Energy, and to implement the
Company’s development strategy of revolving around the main coal industry and upstream
and downstream related industries, implement regional development and industrial extension,
and enhance enterprise development with great profit potential, decisively implement
mergers and reorganizations, improve industrial concentration and resource allocation
efficiency, and enhance the development strategy of corporate core competitiveness, enhance
the comprehensive competitiveness and development potential of listed companies, and
further improve the interests of the Shareholders of the Company in the long run.

Based on the above, the Directors are of the view that the acquisition of 49.315%

equity interests in Shaanxi Future Energy is fair and reasonable, and in the interests of the
Shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Lunan Chemical is mainly engaged in the production and research and development of
high-end fine chemical products, and is the cradle of the new generation of coal chemical
industry development in the PRC. With a variety of leading products, Lunan Chemical has
highly correlated upstream and downstream products, and its product market competitiveness
is strong. It has formed product chains of methanol-formaldehyde-polyoxymethylene, acetic
acid-acetic anhydride-acetate-cellulose acetate. The 300,000 tons/year caprolactam and
supporting engineering projects currently under construction are the appliance featuring the
largest single-set production capacity in the PRC.

Chemical Equipment has obtained the highest qualifications in the pressure vessel
design and manufacturing industry and the boiler manufacturing industry. The Trading
Company undertakes the supply and marketing functions of the chemical sector, and serves
for the above-mentioned chemical business together with Chemical Equipment.

Jisan Electricity is a thermal cogeneration company. The raw materials required for
power generation and the heat produced are mainly derived from and sold to the Company’s
Jining No. 3 Coal Mine, and the power generated is mainly sold to the State Grid Shandong
Electric Power Company. The Information Center has been providing customized and
professional information system development, construction and maintenance services for the
Company for numerous years. Jisan Electricity and Information Center are the acquisition
targets of the Transaction. Subsequent to the completion of the Transaction, industry synergy
can be enhanced and connected transactions can be significantly reduced.

The Transaction is beneficial to the Company in obtaining quality coal chemicals and
electricity assets, consolidating the Company’s coal chemicals and electricity businesses
development advantages, extending the industrial chain to realize the coordinated
development of the business, and further enhances the Company’s sustainable profitability
and core competitiveness, which is in line with the Company’s development strategies and
the interest of the Shareholders as a whole. The Transaction is entered into based on normal
commercial terms, the pricing of which is fair and reasonable, and it will not adversely
affect the Company’s current and future financial position and operating results.

Upon Closing, the Company will also financially consolidate the Target Group and
Target Assets. The Transaction will increase the total assets of the Company, boost the
operating income of the Company, enable synergy and economy of scale, improve the
overall operating performance and profitability through the extension of the industrial chain,
strengthen the Company’s sustainability and anti-risk capability, which is beneficial for the
protection of the Shareholders’ interests.
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XI. FINANCIAL IMPACT OF THE TRANSACTION

Upon Closing, the Target Companies and Target Assets will become subsidiaries and
subordinate department of the Company, the financial information of the Target Group and
Target Assets will be consolidated into the Group’s accounts. The unaudited pro forma
financial information of the Enlarged Group (for the purpose of illustrating the impact of the
acquisition of the Target Companies and the Target Assets (as if the Transaction had
occurred on 30 June 2020)) is set out in Appendix III to this circular.

Assets and liabilities

As at 30 June 2020, the unaudited consolidated total assets, total liabilities and
net assets of the Group, extracted from the published interim report of the Group for
the six months ended 30 June 2020, amounted to approximately RMB219,703 million,
RMB135,553 million and RMB84,150 million, respectively.

Based on the unaudited pro forma financial information of the Group upon the
Closing as set out in Appendix III to this circular, taking into account the Closing had
taken place on 30 June 2020, the unaudited pro forma consolidated total assets,
liabilities and net assets of the Enlarged Group would have been approximately
RMB243,259 million, RMB152,288 million and RMB90,971 million, respectively, as a
result of the Transaction.

Liquidity and sufficiency of working capital

Based on the unaudited pro forma financial information of the Group upon the
Closing as set out in Appendix III to this circular, taking into account the Closing had
taken place on 30 June 2020, the cash and bank balances, pledged term deposits and
restricted cash would decrease from approximately RMB24,474 million to
approximately RMB7,445 million and the net current liabilities would increase from
approximately RMB11,155 million to approximately RMB31,497 million.

The Directors are of the view that the Enlarged Group following the Closing
should be able to maintain itself as going concern with sufficient working capital by

taking into consideration of the following:

- the Directors anticipate that the Enlarged Group will generate positive cash
flows from its operations; and

- the undrawn borrowings facilities are available for immediate use.
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XII.

Expected significant capital expenditures

Based on the information currently available to the Group, certain Target
Companies expected to have significant capital expenditures, details of which are set

out below:
RMB’000
July to
December
Lunan Chemical 2020 2021
Follow-up capital investment in projects such as
polyoxymethylene and caprolactam 113,955.62  197,184.74
Renewal of existing assets and equipment 8,794.84 13,461.13
July to
December
Shaanxi Future Energy 2020 2021
Follow-up capital investment for indirect coal
liquefaction projects 1,471.18 -
Follow-up investment of Jinjitan railway line and
shaft project 13,991.55 8,411.30
Total 138,213.20  219,057.18

Lunan Chemical and Future Energy intend to use its own funds and self-raised
funds (bank loans, etc.) to pay for the relevant capital expenditures. Save as disclosed,
the Target Companies did not have any funding commitment for significant capital
expenditures in the near future.

POTENTIAL RISKS AND COUNTER MEASURES SUBSEQUENT TO THE
COMPLETION OF THE TRANSACTION

1. Macroeconomic and Industry Fluctuation Risks

The industries in which the Target Companies engaged is cyclical, and their
production, operation and development prospects are affected to a certain extent by
macroeconomics, industry policies, industry cycles and fluctuations. The production
and operation activities of the Target Companies such as chemical production and
operation, development, transformation and sales of coal resources, as well as power
production and sales may be affected by laws and regulations announced or
implemented from time to time by the state and the local authorities in the places
where the Target companies are located.
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The Company will pay close attention to national policies and macroeconomic
trends as well as industry policy changes and fluctuations, grasp the guidance of
macro-control policies, actively adjust business plans, product structure and market
structure, and enhance the Target Companies’ overall anti-risk capability and market
competitiveness. At the same time, the Company will promptly negotiate and discuss
plans with Yankuang Group on industry policy changes that may affect certain Target
Companies.

2. Integration Risks of Target Companies

Upon the completion of the Transaction, the Company will integrate with the
Target Companies and the Target Assets in aspects such as business system,
organizational structure, management system, financial management and information
technology to play a synergistic effect. In the case which the integration effect of the
Company after the acquisition is lower than expected, it will have certain impacts on
the effect of the Transaction.

From the perspective of business operation and resources allocation, the Company
will actively build and manage the business, assets, finance, personnel, organization,
and management model of the Target Companies and the Target Assets, and strive to
reduce the integration risk of the Transaction and exert the synergistic effect of the
Transaction.

XIII. APPROVAL FROM THE BOARD

The Transaction was considered and approved at the fifth meeting of the eighth session
of the Board of the Company on 30 September 2020. Li Xiyong and Wu Xiangqian, the
related Directors of the Company, abstained from voting on the resolutions relating to the
Transaction, while the non-related Directors had voted thereat. The Board is of the view that
the terms of the Transaction Agreement are fair and reasonable; although the Transaction is
not in the ordinary and usual course of business, the Transaction is on normal commercial
terms or better, and in the interests of the Company and Shareholders as a whole.

XIV. LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS

As one or more applicable percentage ratios of the Transaction is/are more than 25%
but all applicable percentage ratios are less than 100%, the Transaction constitutes a major
transaction of the Company and subject to the reporting, announcement and shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

In addition, Yankuang Group is the controlling shareholder of the Company. As of the
Latest Practicable Date, Yankuang Group holds directly and indirectly approximately 56.01%
of the Shares of the Company. In accordance with the Listing Rules, Yankuang Group is a
connected person of the Company. As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in
respect of the Transaction is/are more than 5%, the Transaction also constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company and is subject to the reporting, announcement, Independent
Shareholders’ approval and annual review requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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XV. EGM

The Notice of EGM was published on Monday 16 November 2020. At the EGM,
among other things, the following resolution (being resolution no.1 of the Notice of EGM)
will be proposed to the Shareholders:

As ordinary resolution:

1. To consider and approve Equity Interests and Assets Transfer Agreement between
Yankuang Group Company Limited and Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited
and to approve the transactions contemplated thereunder.

Whether or not you are able to attend the meeting in person, you are strongly advised to
complete and sign the form of proxy published on 16 November 2020 in accordance with
the instructions printed thereon. For holders of H Shares of the Company, the proxy form
shall be lodged with the Company’s H Share Registrar, Hong Kong Registrars Limited at
17M/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. For holders of A
Shares of the Company, the proxy form shall be lodged at the Office of the Secretary to the
Board at 298 South Fushan Road, Zoucheng, Shandong Province 273500, the PRC as soon
as possible but in any event not later than 24 hours before the time appointed for the
holding of the meeting or any adjourned meeting (as the case may be). Completion and
return of the proxy form will not preclude you from attending and voting in person at the
meeting or any adjourned meeting should you so wish.

Yankuang Group is the controlling Shareholder, and therefore Yankuang Group and its
associates are connected persons (as defined under the Hong Kong Listing Rules) of the
Company. Pursuant to Rule 14A.36 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules, where independent
shareholders’ approval is required with regard to a connected transaction, any connected
person with a material interest in such transaction and any shareholder with a material
interest in such transaction and its associates shall not vote on such transaction. Accordingly,
Yankuang Group and its associates shall abstain from voting at the EGM on the resolution in
relation to major and connected transaction — acquisition of the Target Equity Interests and
Target Assets, which must be taken by way of poll as required under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules except where the chairman of the EGM, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of
hands.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, Yankuang Group controlled or was entitled to exercise
control over the voting rights in respect of 2,267,169,423 A Shares and 454,989,000 H
Shares in the Company, representing, in aggregate, approximately 56.01% of the entire
issued share capital of the Company.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the 2,267,169,423 A Shares held by Yankuang Group
included: (i) 1,875,662,151 A Shares held by Yanchuang Group’s own account, the voting
rights in respect of which are exercisable by Yanchuang Group; and (ii) 391,507,272 A
Shares held by the guarantees and trust account opened by Yankuang Group and CITIC
Securities Co., Ltd., the voting rights in respect of which are exercisable by CITIC
Securities Co., Ltd. The aforementioned guarantees and trust account provide guarantees for
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the exchangeable corporate bonds issued by Yankuang Group. Save as disclosed above, to
the extent that the Company is aware, having made all reasonable enquiries, as at the Latest
Practicable Date:

(i) there was no voting trust or other agreement or arrangement or understanding entered
into by or binding upon Yankuang Group, whereby they had or might have temporarily
or permanently passed control over the exercise of the voting rights in respect of their
Shares in the Company to a third party, whether generally or on a case-by-case basis;

(i) Yankuang Group was not subject to any obligation or entitlement whereby they had or
might have temporarily or permanently passed control over the exercise of the voting
right in respect of their Shares in the Company to a third party, whether generally or
on a case-by-case basis; and

(iii) it was not expected that there would be any discrepancy between Yankuang Group’s
beneficial shareholding interest in the Company and the number of Shares in the
Company in respect of which they would control or would be entitled to exercise
control over the voting right at the EGM.

XVI. CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The H Share register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 1
December 2020 to Wednesday, 9 December 2020 (both days inclusive), during which period
no transfer of the Company’s H Shares will be registered. In order to attend the EGM, all
share transfers, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged for
registration with the Company’s H Share Registrar, Hong Kong Registrars Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 30 November 2020 for registration. Holders of the
Company’s H Shares whose names appear on the Company’s register of members of H
shares which is maintained by Hong Kong Registrars Limited at the close of business on
Monday, 30 November 2020 are entitled to attend the EGM.

XVI. RECOMMENDATION

Your attention is drawn to (i) the letter from the Independent Board Committee set out
on pages 61 to 62 of this circular which contains the recommendation of the Independent
Board Committee to the Shareholders regarding the resolutions to approve the Transaction;
(ii) the letter from the Independent Financial Adviser set out on pages 63 to 65 of this
circular which contains its advice to the Independent Board Committee and the Independent
Shareholders in respect of the fairness and reasonableness of the Transaction; and (iii)
additional information set out in the appendices to this circular.

The Independent Board Committee, after taking into account of the opinions from
Donvex Capital Limited, is of view that the terms of the Transaction Agreement are fair and
reasonable; although the Transaction is not in the ordinary and usual course of business, the
Transaction is on normal commercial terms or better, and in the interests of the Company
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and Shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, the Independent Board Committee recommends
that the Independent Shareholders vote in favour of the aforesaid resolution in relation to the
Transaction to be proposed at the EGM.

Having considered, among other things, the foregoing reasons for and benefits of the
Transaction, the Directors are of view that the major and connected transaction in relation to
the acquisition of the Target Equity Interests and Target Assets is fair and reasonable, and is
entered into on normal commercial terms or better, and in the best interests of the Company.
Accordingly, the Directors recommend the Independent Shareholders to vote in favour of the
aforesaid resolution at the EGM.

By order of the Board
Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited
Zhao Qingchun
Director
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I

JINJITAN COAL MINE
(i) Introduction

Jinjitan Mine, which is 100% controlled by Shaanxi Future Energy, is an
underground fully mechanized longwall (FM LW) operating with an authorized output
level of 15 Mtpa. The mine and an associated mine site coal preparation plant (“CPP”)
are located approximately 30 km northeast of Yulin City, Shaanxi Province. This area is
one of the largest coalfields in the world. Transportation is well developed that
includes railway and a network of expressway and provincial highways. Coal mining
(including downstream power generation and chemical producing facilities) is the
primary industry supporting the local economy.

Exploration of the mine field was conducted in the early 2000s. There are 72 drill
holes completed mostly in the District I. A drilling program consisting of additional 67
drill holes, covering part of the west wing of the District I and the entire District II, is
underway at the time of this circular and expected to be completed by end of 2020.
The purpose of this drilling is to further define the geological condition and coal
quality of the west wing of the District I and to upgrade resources classification in
District II.

The feasibility study reports for Jinjitan Mine and its CPP were completed in
2008. Upon the establishment of Shaanxi Future Energy in 2011, Jinjitan Mine was
designated to supply coal to Shaanxi Future Energy as feedstock for its coal
liquefaction facilities. Construction of the mine with an initial 8.0 Mtpa capacity,
commenced in February 2012, and the initial test run was conducted in June 2014. The
full mine construction project was officially completed and accepted in May 2018,
followed by the capacity reassessment and authorization to increase annual mining
capacity to 15.0 Mtpa in July 2018. In 2019, the mine produced 15.16 Mt product coal.
In terms of output level in 2019, Jinjitan ranks No. 1 among Yankuang’s domestic
mines and No. 12 among China’s underground coal mines.

Geologic condition in the subject mining rights area is judged to be simple. Coal
bearing strata are typically flat lying and the overlying surface is covered by 30 m to
50 m of unconsolidated and poorly consolidated alluvial and loess deposits. Mining
depth is shallow in the topmost 2-2U Seam (200 m to 320 m) and will be deeper (250
m to 490 m) when the mining moves to the lower seams. The top seam, 2-2U Seam,
averages 7.7 m thick, with seam splitting in local areas. The seam is favorable for
mining by high-production FM LW faces and construction of a high capacity mine.

Coal produced from this area is used in the domestic steam and chemical markets
and is generally low in sulfur content with marketable calorific values.

(ii) Competent Person’s Report
The Competent Person’s Report on Jinjitan Coal Mine operation was prepared by

BOYD in accordance with the recommended guidelines of the JORC Code 2012. Please
refer to Part A of Appendix IV to this circular for details.
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II.

(iii) Competent Person’s Valuation Report

The Competent Person’s Valuation Report was prepared by BOYD in compliance
with the Australasian Code for Public Reporting of Technical Assessment and
Valuations of Mineral Assets — The VALMIN Code (2015 Edition).

Based on the established (fully developed) and active production status of the
Jinjitan mining operation, BOYD selected the income method of mineral valuation as
the preferred and appropriate method for coal reserve valuation. Together with the
consideration of Jinjitan Mine’s rating of the operation as first-class in terms of
productivity and operating cost in China, BOYD concluded the derived Technical Value
of the existing operation is the same as Market Value (i.e. no further adjustments are
warranted). In addition to the value assigned to the existing operation, BOYD opined
that it is appropriate to recognize and assign Market Value to the large tonnage of
additional resources which are not considered in the DCF-NPV analysis (Technical
Value). Please refer to Part B of Appendix IV to this circular for details.

NO MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGES

No material adverse changes have occurred from the effective date of the Competent

Person’s Report (i.e. 30 June 2020) up to the Last Practicable Date.

III. NO LEGAL CLAIMS OR PROCEEDINGS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no legal claims or proceedings that may have an

material influence on the mining and exploration rights of the Jinjitan Mine operations
owned by Shaanxi Future Energy and/or the business operations and financial positions of
Jinjitan Mine operations are known to the Directors to be present, on-going, pending or
threatened by any third party against Shaanxi Future Energy or vice versa.

In addition, there are no land claims of material importance that may exist over the

land on which exploration or mining activity of Jinjitan Mine owned by Shaanxi Future
Energy is being carried out.
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IV. JINTITAN COAL MINE PROFIT FORECAST

Since Pan-China has, in the valuation of Shaanxi Future Energy, assessed the mining
right of Jinjitan Coal Mine based on income approach, such valuation constitutes a profit
forecast under Rule 14.61 of the Listing Rules. For purpose of Rule 14.62 of the Listing
Rules, full text of the letters dated 30 September 2020 from each of Crowe and the Board
including the basis and assumption relevant to the Jinjitan Coal Mine (which have already
been included in the announcement published by the Company on 30 September 2020) are
reproduced below:

(a) Basis and Assumptions set out in the Jinjitan Coal Mine Profit Forecast

Set out below is the information in relation to the Jinjitan Coal Mine Profit

Forecast:

BASIS AND ASSUMPTIONS

D

(D)

(111

IV)

V)

(VI)

The degree of geological survey work as well as the internal and external
conditions of the valuation target remain the same as current status without
significant changes;

To determine the technical and economic parameters for the Valuation based
on the principle of balanced production and sales, and the principle of
average social productivity;

The relevant laws, regulations, policies and systems abided remain the same
as status quo without significant changes, while the relevant social, political,
economic environment, and development technologies and conditions
followed are still as the status quo without significant changes;

Continuous operation based on the set resource reserves, production
methods, production scale, product structure, development technology level
as well as the market supply and demand levels;

There will be no major changes in product prices, costs, tax rates, interest
rates and other factors in the future mine development revenue period during
the forecast period;

No consideration on the impact of mortgages, guarantees, and other rights
that may be assumed in the future, or any other restrictive factors on
property rights, and the additional price that a special transaction party may
pay, etc., on its assessed value;

(VII) There is no significant impact caused by other force majeure and unforeseen

factors.
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(b)

Full Text of the Report Issued by the Accountant on the Jinjitan Coal Mine
Profit Forecast

INDEPENDENT ASSURANCE REPORT ON CALCULATIONS OF
DISCOUNTED FUTURE ESTIMATED CASH FLOWS IN CONNECTION
WITH THE VALUATION OF THE MINING RIGHTS OF JINJITAN COAL
MINE OWNED BY SHAANXI FUTURE ENERGY & CHEMICALS CO.,
LTD.

TO THE DIRECTORS OF YANZHOU COAL MINING COMPANY
LIMITED

We have reviewed the calculations of the discounted future estimated cash
flows on which the valuation report prepared by Beijing Pan-China Assets
Appraisal Co., Ltd. (Tian Xing Ping Bao Zi (2020) No. 1242), of the mining
rights owned by Shaanxi Future Energy & Chemicals Co., Ltd. (the “Shaanxi
Future Energy”) (the “Valuation™) is based.

The Valuation based on the discounted future estimated cash flows is
regarded as a profit forecast under Rule 14.61 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) and will be included in an announcement dated 30 September 2020 to be
issued by Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited (the “Company”) in
connection with the major and connected transaction in relation to the acquisition
of the 49.315% equity interest in Shaanxi Future Energy (the “Announcement”).

Directors’ Responsibility for the Discounted Future Estimated Cash Flows

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
discounted future estimated cash flows in accordance with the bases and
assumptions determined by the directors and set out in the Announcement (the
“Assumptions”). This responsibility includes carrying out appropriate procedures
relevant to the preparation of the discounted future estimated cash flows for the
Valuation and applying an appropriate basis of preparation; and making estimates
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Our Independence and Quality Control

We have complied with the independence and other ethical requirements of
the “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), which is founded on
fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due
care, confidentiality and professional behavior.

Our firm applies Hong Kong Standard on Quality Control 1 “Quality Control
for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Statements, and Other
Assurance and Related Services Engagements” issued by the HKICPA and
accordingly maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including
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documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical
requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory
requirements.

Reporting Accountants’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the arithmetical accuracy of
the calculations of the discounted future estimated cash flows on which the
Valuation is based and to report solely to you, as a body, as required by Rule
14.62(2) of the Listing Rules, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

Our engagement was conducted in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” issued by the HKICPA.
This standard requires that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the assurance engagement to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the
discounted future estimated cash flows, so far as the calculations are concerned,
have been properly compiled in accordance with the Assumptions. We reviewed
the arithmetic accuracy of the compilation of the discounted future estimated cash
flows. Our work does not constitute any valuation of Shaanxi Future Energy.

Because the Valuation relates to discounted future estimated cash flows, no
accounting policies of the Company have been adopted in its preparation. The
Assumptions include hypothetical assumptions about future events and
management actions which cannot be confirmed and verified in the same way as
past results and these may or may not occur. Even if the events and actions
anticipated do occur, actual results are still likely to be different from the
Valuation and the variation may be material. Accordingly, we have not reviewed,
considered or conducted any work on the reasonableness and the validity of the
Assumptions and do not express any opinion whatsoever thereon.

Opinion

Based on the foregoing, in our opinion, the discounted future estimated cash
flows, so far as the calculations are concerned, have been properly compiled, in
all material respects, in accordance with the Assumptions.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 September 2020

Chung Wai Chuen Alfred
Practising Certificate Number: P05444
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(c)

Full text of the Letter from the Board on the Jinjitan Coal Mine Profit
Forecast

EMNEXZRGBERQA
YANZHOU COAL MINING COMPANY LIMITED

(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 1171)

To the Shareholders,

RE: MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION - ACQUISITION OF THE
TARGET EQUITY INTERESTS AND TARGET ASSETS

Reference is made to the asset valuation report prepared by Beijing
Pan-China Assets Appraisal Co., Ltd. (“Pan-China”) regarding the valuation of
Shaanxi Future Energy & Chemicals Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi Future Energy”) as at
30 June 2020 (the “Valuation”) to determine the market value of Shaanxi Future
Energy on 31 August 2020 (the “Asset Valuation Report”). In the valuation of
Shaanxi Future Energy, the assessment of the mining right of Jinjitan Coal Mine
is prepared in accordance with the income method (the “Jinjitan Coal Mine
Profit Forecast”) and therefore constitutes a profit forecast under Rule 14.61 of
the Listing Rules.

We have reviewed and considered the Jinjitan Coal Mine Profit Forecast,
including the basis and assumptions on which the forecast is based, and reviewed
and considered the valuation undertaken by Pan-China. We have also taken into
account the report prepared by Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, which confirms that in
terms of the calculation method related to the estimated discounted future cash
flow, all material aspects of the estimated discounted future cash flow have been
properly prepared in accordance with the basis and assumptions set out in the
Asset Valuation Report. It comes to our attention that the calculation of the
Jinjitan Coal Mine Profit Forecast in the valuation is accurate.

Based on the above, we are of the view that the Asset Valuation Report of
Shaanxi Future Energy on Jinjitan Coal Mine Profit Forecast prepared by
Pan-China has been prepared after due and careful enquiry.

Yours faithfully,
By order of the Board
Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited
Zhao Qingchun
Director

30 September 2020
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IV. OTHER MATTERS RELATING TO THE JINJITAN COAL MINE
(i) Mining rights and other licenses/permits required under the laws

As of the Latest Practicable Date, Shaanxi Future Energy controls 100% of the
mining right for the Jinjitan Mine. There are no notices of dispute recorded against the
Jinjitan Mining right. The following table shows the mining right information of
Jinjitan Mine.

Current Mining Capacity
Authorized Right Term Verification
Verified
Output Mining Date  Verified
Mining Right Certificate Capacity  Elevation Mining Area Grant (month/  Capacity
Number (Mtpa) (m) Method (km2) Date Expiration yr) (Mtpa)
€6100002015061110138703 8.0 1,013 - UG** 916206 06/10/ 06/10/ 0772018 15.0
760% 2019 2023

* Note shown on the Certificate: mining elevation range for the first 30 years: 1,013 - 960 m,

for coal seams 2-2 and 2-2.

wE UG = underground

According to the Measures for the Administration of the Registration of Mining
Mineral Resources (2014 Edition), the mining right will be renewed upon application
after paying the mining right fee. In 2011, Shaanxi Future Energy has paid RMBI1.6
billion mining right fee for 326.9 mt recoverable reserve (Chinese Standard). As of 30
June 2020, the remaining reserve mining right fee can support another 13-years
operation in the output rate of 15 million mtpa. Mining rights renewal after 13-years of
operation will be guaranteed by paying additional mining right fees upon valuation by
then.

(ii) Environmental, social, health and safety issues

Mining and related activities are inherently disruptive to the environment. Impacts
include both environmental pollution and ecological disruption, including delayed
influences on ecological environment and ground water, dynamic change of the
magnitude and extent of the impact, and sustained period of impact during the whole
LOM (Life-of-Mine) operation. Major influence factors include: fugitive dust, noise,
wastewater and solid wastes pollution, as well as the sustained and cumulative impact
of surface subsidence on landform, surface structures, the ecological environment and
ground water. The environmental aspects related to coal exploration, mining, and
processing activities in China are subject to both national and local laws and
regulations.
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There was no any non-compliance with applicable regulations governing
exploration, drilling and land use reported to BOYD, and Jinjitan Mine management is
aware of its duties with respect to environmental protection. An environmental
management system was established. The Jinjitan Mine operation is inspected routinely
by local environmental protection administration to ensure compliance.

Environmental impact assessment reports and geological environment protection
and land reclamation plans prepared by the Jinjitan Mine conform to the regulations of
national laws and statutes. As mining continues and subsidence occurs, ecological
environment remediation and land reclamation are conducted. Jinjitan Mine relocates
villagers endangered by subsidence. The mine also protects and maintains roads, power
lines, and water bodies impacted by mining. The mine cooperates with the daily
supervision and inspection from administrative authorities responsible for ecology and
land and resource. BOYD’s review concludes that Jinjitan Mine management fulfills its
obligation of ecological environmental protection.

The potential environmental issues for the Jinjitan Mine operation identified by
BOYD are as follows:

(a) The authorized capacity of Jinjitan Mine increased from 8 Mtpa to 15 Mtpa
in July 2018. According to the environmental protection laws and statutes,
the environmental impact assessment and examination procedures of
completion and commencement should be done according to the new
capacity. Jinjitan Mine has begun this process, and BOYD is of the opinion
that the job should be accelerated by maintaining close communication with
environmental protection authorities.

(b) Jinjitan Mine’s authorized mine area was reduced in 2019 to exclude 6.9
km2 of a newly designated water conservation area. Underground mining is
likely to affect ground water system right above and nearby areas. Although
the underground mining operation will not affect the area in the near future,
a ground water impact assessment is necessary to address the protection of
the water conservation area prior to mining of the coal resources near that
area.

A potential social issue for the Jinjitan Mine identified by BOYD is the timely
arrangement of village relocation. While the Jinjitan Mine is in its early stage of
mining, surface subsidence has already occurred, and mine management has taken
proactive steps. As indicated in the village relocation plan, six villages overlying and
subject to surface subsidence will be relocated with 868 residents involved, and the
budget for relocation and compensation totals RMB200 million. Although village
relocation is underway, there are some minor compensation claims due to surface
subsidence. Shaanxi Future Energy is discussing the compensation plan with the
administrative department and relevant residents. Jinjitan Mine management is aware
that it is critical to handle such claims properly and timely with the help of the local
government, thus avoiding any interruption to LW face layout (the design, positioning
and sequencing of longwall faces from which coal is produced, which could be
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interrupted if surface facilities right above such as villages were not relocated in time
prior to such activities to another place which would not be affected by ground
subsidence caused by underground longwall mining), installation and mining.

Health and safety aspects are major core concerns of the coal mining industry in
China and the world. BOYD is of the opinion that such aspects have been properly
addressed in the mine design documents and safety protocols for mining and
development operations. The Jinjitan Mine management is aware of the significance of
health and safety, and the mine has maintained safe records in historical operations.

Saved as disclosed in the circular, so far as the Directors are aware, there are no
environmental, social, health and safety issues which may have material adverse
impacts on the operations and mining activities of Jinjitan Mine.

(iii) Non-compliance incidents with the PRC laws, regulations and permits which
may have a material adverse impact

So far as the Directors are aware, there were no non-compliance incidents with
the PRC laws, regulations and permits which may have a material adverse impact on
the operations and mining activities of Jinjitan Mine as at the Latest Practicable Date.

(iv) Key risks identified to the Jinjitan Mine operation

In accordance with Chapter 18 of the Listing Rules, BOYD identified in its
Competent Person’s Report certain risks relating to the Jinjitan Mine operation. Such
risks are ranked as high, medium or low based on Guidance Note 7 issued by the Stock
Exchange. Please refer to the Chapter 7 “Risk Assessment” of the Competent Person’s
Report in Part A of Appendix IV to this circular for details. The following table shows
the summary of BOYD’s risk assessment for the period 2020 to 2026.

Risk Assessment

Hazard/Risk Issue Severity Probability Overall
Geologic
Overall (General) Minor Possible Low
Unforeseen Anomalies Minor to Possible Low
Moderate
Reserve Availability Minor Unlikely Low
Naturally Occurring Events
Weather Minor to Possible Low
Major
Earthquakes Minor to Possible Low
Major
Routine and Non-routine Minor to Possible Low to
Operational Risks (Adverse Moderate Medium

mining conditions, equipment
outages, etc.)
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Risk Assessment

Hazard/Risk Issue Severity Probability Overall
LW Subsidence Minor to Possible Low
Moderate
Major Events
Major Underground Fire Minor to Possible Low to
Major Medium
Explosions Minor to Unlikely Low
Major
Underground Flooding Minor to Possible Low
Major
External Risk — Regulation Moderate to  Possible Medium
Major
Marketing (Commercial) Moderate to  Likely Medium to
Major High

The China domestic market has demonstrated remarkable coal price fluctuation in
the past decade. A substantial reduction in market prices would have a material adverse
impact on financial performance of the subject Jinjitan Mine. Such an event would
occur if there were surplus alternative coals from other suppliers, or reduction in
demand from Jinjitan’s customer base. In a lot of cases, market fluctuations were
driven by various government policies, which is likely to be beyond the control of any
individual coal producers. In other words, Jinjitan Mine is subject to similar market
risks as other coal producers. Mitigation measures suggested to Jinjitan Mine would
include:

Maintain the successful operation management performance

Continue to adopt advanced mining technologies to maintain high efficiency

Maintain the lower operating costs

—  Routinely negotiate and secure sales contracts in advance
INDUSTRY OVERVIEW AND PRICING TREND
(i) Industry overview

The proportion of coal in the domestic energy structures of both production and
consumption have been declining year by year. According to the National Bureau of
Statistics of the PRC, by the end of 2019, the proportion of coal was 68.8% in the
structure of energy production and 57.7% in the structure of energy consumption. Also
according to the National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC, the total domestic energy
consumption has increased year by year. By the end of 2019, the total energy
consumption reached 4.86 billion tons of standard coal. This indicates that coal will
remain China’s main energy source in the coming decades.
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(ii) Pricing trend

Coal prices in China has declined signigicantly between 2013-2016 due to
slow-paced economic growth. The government introduced a 276-day working day rule
in March 2016 to reduce production, thus coal prices were able to recover and
rebounded quickly between 2017 and the first quarter of 2019. After the first quarter of
2019, coal prices slowly declined and the COVID-19 outbreak in 2020 accelerated the
downturn of the market. By June 2020, coal prices had recovered to mid-2019 levels
following production and work resumption of each domestic industry.

Due to complex and changing political and economic factors, it is difficult to
predict whether China’s coal prices will grow steadily. In recent years, the domestic
coal industry has continued to push forward the policy of increasing efficient capacities
and closing mines of low efficiency, and orderly development of efficiency advanced
capacity, mines of low efficiency are gradually eliminated, whilst new competitors will
be tightly controlled by industry regulations due to the high threshold of the industry.
Therefore, it appears likely that as a domestic advanced capacity coal mine, Jinjitan
Mine will have an advantage in future market competition.
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TMNEZERODBR QA
YANZHOU COAL MINING COMPANY LIMITED

(A joint stock limited company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 1171)

Registered office:

298 South Fushan Road
Zoucheng

Shandong Province PRC
Postal Code: 273500

Principal place of business
in Hong Kong:

40th Floor, Sunlight Tower

248 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

16 November 2020
To the Independent Shareholders

Dear Sir or Madam,

MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION IN RELATION
TO THE ACQUISITION OF THE TARGET EQUITY INTERESTS
AND TARGET ASSETS

We refer to the circular of the Company dated 16 November 2020 (“Circular”) to the
Shareholders, of which this letter forms part. Terms defined therein shall have the same
meanings when used in this letter unless the context otherwise requires. We have been
appointed by the Board as the Independent Board Committee to advise you as to whether, in
our opinion, the Transaction is fair and reasonable in so far as the Independent Shareholders
are concerned.

Donvex Capital Limited has been appointed as the Independent Financial Adviser to
advise the Independent Board Committee. The letter from the Independent Financial Adviser,
which contains its advice, together with the principal factors taken into consideration in
arriving at such advice, are set out on pages 63 to 115 of this Circular.

Your attention is also drawn to the “Letter from the Board” set out on pages 6 to 49 of
this Circular and the additional information set out in appendices to this Circular. Having
taken into account the transactions contemplated under the Transaction Agreement and
having considered the interests of the Independent Shareholders and the advice from the
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Independent Financial Adviser, we consider that the terms of the Transaction are fair and
reasonable; although the Transaction is not in the ordinary and usual course of business, the
Transaction is on normal commercial terms or better, and in the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole.

Accordingly, we recommend that the Independent Shareholders vote in favour of the
resolution to approve the major and connected transaction in relation to the acquisition of
the Target Equity Interests and Target Assets.

Yours faithfully,

Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited
Tian Hui, Zhu Limin, Cai Chang,
Poon Chiu Kwok
Independent Board Committee
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The following is the full text of the letter of advice from Donvex Capital Limited setting
out their advice to the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders,
which has been prepared for the purpose of inclusion in this circular.

Unit 2502, 25/F

| D onvex . Carpo Commercial Building

% & }éz Z_‘ 18-20 Lyndhurst Terrace
== NN Central
Donvex Capital Limited Hong Kong

[ < N S S I ¢ A

16 November 2020

The Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders of
Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited

Dear Sir/Madam,

MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
IN RELATION TO
THE ACQUISITION OF THE TARGET COMPANIES AND
TARGET ASSETS

INTRODUCTION

We refer to our engagement as the Independent Financial Adviser to advise the
Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders in relation to the
Transaction Agreement and the Transaction, details of which are set out in the letter from
the Board (the “Letter from the Board”) contained in the circular of the Company dated 16
November 2020 to the Shareholders (the “Circular”), of which this letter forms part. Terms
used herein have the same meanings as those defined in the Circular unless otherwise stated.

As stated in the Letter from the Board, on 30 September 2020, the Company (the
“Purchaser”) and Yankuang Group (the “Vendor”) entered into the Transaction Agreement,
pursuant to which the Purchaser agreed to acquire, and the Vendor agreed to sell, 49.315%,
100%, 100%, 100%, 100% and 99% equity interests in Shaanxi Future Energy, Fine
Chemical, Lunan Chemical, Chemical Equipment, Trading Company, and Jisan Electricity,
respectively, as well as relevant assets and business of the Information Center, at the
consideration of RMB18.355 billion.

Yankuang Group is the controlling shareholder of the Company, directly and indirectly,
holding approximately 56.01% of the Shares of the Company. Therefore, Yankuang Group is
a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the entering into the Transaction
Agreement and the Transaction constitute a connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is subject to the reporting, announcement, and
Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The EGM will be
convened and held for the Independent Shareholders to consider and, if thought fit, approve
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the Transaction Agreement and the Transaction. The Vendor and its associates will be
required to abstain from voting on the resolution in relation to the Transaction Agreement
and the Transaction.

The Independent Board Committee, comprising all of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tian Hui, Mr. Zhu Limin, Mr. Cai Chang and Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok,
has been established to advise the Independent Shareholders on (a) whether the terms of the
Transaction Agreement are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole; (b) whether the Transaction is on normal commercial terms and in
the Company’s ordinary and usual course of business; and (c) how the Independent
Shareholders should vote in respect of the resolution to approve the Transaction Agreement
and the Transaction at the EGM. In our capacity as the Independent Financial Adviser, our
role is to advise the Independent Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders in this
regard.

INDEPENDENCE

We did not act as financial adviser to the Group, the Target Groups, and their
respective connected persons in the past two years immediately preceding the Latest
Practicable Date.

In the last two years, we have acted as the independent financial adviser to independent
board committee and independent shareholders of the Company for (a) the major and
continuing connected transaction in relation to the provision of financial services to
Yankuang Group, details of which are set out in the circular of the Company dated 11
October 2019; and (b) the discloseable and connected transaction in relation to the entering
into the capital increase agreement with Yankuang Group, Taizhong Property, Huaneng Fuel
and Hainan Intelligent Logistics, details of which are set out in the circular of the Company
dated 13 November 2020 (the “Previous Engagements”). Under the Previous Engagements,
we were required to express our opinion on and give recommendations to the independent
board committee and independent shareholders of the Company in relation to (i) the
provision of comprehensive credit facility services under the financial services agreement;
and (ii) the entering into the capital increase agreement and the capital increase
contemplated thereunder. Apart from the independent financial adviser roles in connection
with the Previous Engagements and the Transaction, we have not acted in any capacity of
the Group in the past two years.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, we did not have any relationship with or interest in
the Company or any other parties that could reasonably be regarded as relevant to our
independence.

We are independent from and not connected with the Group pursuant to Rule 13.84 of
the Listing Rules and, accordingly, are qualified to advise the Independent Board Committee
and the Independent Shareholders in relation to the Transaction Agreement and the
Transaction. Apart from the normal advisory fee payable to us in connection with our
appointment as the independent financial adviser, no arrangement exists whereby we shall
receive any other fees or benefits from the Company.
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BASIS OF OUR OPINION

In formulating our opinion to the Independent Board Committee and the Independent
Shareholders, we have relied on the statements, information, opinions and representations
contained in the Circular and the information and representations provided to us by the
Directors and management of the Company. We have no reason to believe that any
information and representations relied on by us in forming our opinion is untrue, inaccurate
or misleading, nor are we aware of any material facts the omission of which would render
the information provided and the representations made to us untrue, inaccurate or
misleading. We have assumed that all statements, information, opinions and representations
contained or referred to in the Circular, which have been provided by the Directors and
management of the Company and for which they are solely and wholly responsible, were
true and accurate at the time they were made and continue to be true until the date of the
EGM.

The Directors have collectively and individually accepted full responsibility for the
accuracy of the information contained in the Circular and have confirmed that, having made
all reasonable enquiries, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained
in the Circular is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no material facts and representations the omission of which would
make any statement in the Circular or the Circular misleading.

We consider that we have reviewed sufficient information to reach an informed view
regarding the Transaction Agreement and the Transaction, and to justify reliance on the
accuracy of the information contained in the Circular and to provide a reasonable basis for
our recommendation. We have not, however, for the purpose of this exercise, conducted any
form of independent in-depth investigation or audit into the businesses or affairs or future
prospects of the Group, nor have we considered the taxation implication on the Group.

Our opinion is based on the financial, economic, market, and other conditions in effect
and the information made available to us as at the Latest Practicable Date. Shareholders
should note that subsequent developments (including any material change in market and
economic conditions) may affect and/or change our opinion, and we have no obligation to
update this opinion to take into account events occurring after the Latest Practicable Date or
to update, revise, or reaffirm our opinion. In addition, nothing contained in this letter should
be construed as a recommendation to hold, sell, or buy any Shares or any other securities of
the Company.

This letter is issued for the information for the Independent Board Committee and the
Independent Shareholders solely in connection with their consideration of the Transaction,
and, except for its inclusion in the Circular, is not to be quoted or referred to, in whole or in
part, nor shall this letter be used for any other purpose, without our prior written consent.
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PRINCIPAL FACTORS AND REASONS CONSIDERED

A.

Background information on the Group, the Target Group, and the Target Assets
1. The Group

The Group is principally engaged in the business of mining, preparation,
processing and sales of coal and coal chemicals.

The tables below set forth a summary of the consolidated financial information of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 (“FY2018”), the year ended 31
December 2019 (“FY2019”), six months ended 30 June 2019 (“1H2019”), and six
months ended 30 June 2020 (“1H2020”) as extracted from the annual report for the
year ended 31 December 2019 (“2019 Annual Report”) and the interim report for six
months ended 30 June 2020 (“2020 Interim Report”) of the Company:

FY2019 FY2018 1H2020 1H2019

RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million

(Audited) (Audited) (Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Total revenue 67,805 67,447 35,325 33,237

Profit after taxation 11,827 11,323 6,355 7,492
As at 30 As at 31 December

June 2020 2019 2018

RMB million RMB million RMB million

(Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited)

Bank balances and cash 17,573 22,790 27,373

Net assets 84,150 85,349 87,045

Revenue

The revenue of the Group increased from approximately RMB67,447 million
for FY2018 to approximately RMB67,805 million for FY2019, which remained
stable during FY2019.

The revenue of the Group increased from approximately RMB33,237 million
for 1H2019 to approximately RMB35,325 million for 1H2020, which was mainly
attributable to the increase in sales volume of coal from 55,288 kilotons for
1H2019 to 67,620 kilotons for 1H2020.

Profit after taxation
The profit after taxation of the Group increased from approximately

RMB11,323 million for FY2018 to approximately RMBI11,827 million for
FY2019, which remained stable during FY2019.
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The profit after taxation of the Group decreased from approximately
RMB7,492 million for 1H2019 to approximately RMB6,355 million for 1H2020,
which was mainly attributable to decrease in gross profit on the sales of coal of
the Group.

Bank balances and cash

The bank balances and cash of the Group decreased from approximately
RMB27,373 million as at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB22,790
million as at 31 December 2019, which was mainly due to (a) the decrease in net
cash from operating activities as a result of the decrease in profit before tax and
the increase in bills and accounts receivables; and (b) the increase in net cash
used in investing activities as a result of purchase of intangible assets; and (c) the
increase in net cash used in financing activities as a result of the payments for
acquisition of additional interests in non-controlling subsidiaries by the Group in
FY2019.

The bank balances and cash of the Group decreased from approximately
RMB22,790 million as at 31 December 2019 to approximately RMB17,573
million as at 30 June 2020, which was mainly due to (a) the decrease in net cash
from operating activities as a result of the decrease in profit before tax in
1H2020; and (b) the increase in the placement of restricted cash and long term
receivables in 1H2020.

Net assets

The net assets of the Group decreased from approximately RMB87,045
million as at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB85,349 million as at 31
December 2019, which was mainly due to the net effect of (a) the increase in
profit after taxation for FY2019; (b) the distribution of dividends in FY2019; and
(c) the payments for acquisition of additional interests in non-controlling
subsidiaries by the Group in FY2019.

The net assets of the Group decreased from approximately RMBS85,349
million as at 31 December 2019 to approximately RMB84,150 million as at 30
June 2020, which was mainly due to the net effect of (a) the increase in profit
after taxation for 1H2020; (b) the distribution of dividends in 1H2020; and (c) the
redemption of perpetual capital securities by the Group in 1H2020.
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2.

The Target Group

(a) Shaanxi Future Energy and its subsidiaries (‘“Shaanxi Future Energy

Group”)

Shaanxi Future Energy is a company established under the laws of the PRC
with limited liability on 25 February 2011. It is principally engaged in the
production and sales of coal, paraffin, ammonium sulfate and other chemical
products. The following chart sets forth the shareholding structure of Shaanxi

Future Energy as at the Latest Practicable Date:

Shaanxi Yanchang
Yanzhou Coal .
Petroleum Mining

Co., Ltd.

Yankuang Group Mini
ining

Shaanxi Yanchang
Petroleum Produycts
Makreting Company

Yulin Yuyang
State-owned Assets
Operation Co., Ltd.

49.315% 24.6575% 52%

19.4575%

1.37%

Shaanxi Future Energy

The tables below set forth a summary of the of the consolidated audited
financial information of Shaanxi Future Energy Group prepared in accordance

with IFRS for two years ended 31 December 2019 and 1H2020:

1H2020 FY2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Audited) (Audited)

Total revenue 4,156,146 8,751,970

Profit after taxation 1,059,581 2,386,234

As at

30 June 31 December

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000

(Audited) (Audited)

Total assets 20,867,324 20,006,701

Total liabilities 8,613,397 8,812,355

Net assets 12,253,927 11,194,346

Revenue

The revenue of Shaanxi Future Energy Group

approximately RMB6,564.9 million for FY2018

to

FY2018
RMB’000
(Audited)

6,564,897
1,370,955

31 December
2018
RMB’000
(Audited)

20,510,499
10,021,087
10,489,412

increased from
approximately

RMBS8,752.0 million for FY2019, which was mainly attributable to the

increase in the sales of chemical products.
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(b)

Profit after taxation

The profit after taxation of Shaanxi Future Energy Group increased
from approximately RMB1,371.0 million in FY2018 to approximately
RMB2,386.2 million in FY2019, which was mainly attributable to the
increase in revenue.

Total assets

The total assets of Shaanxi Future Energy Group decreased from
approximately RMB20,510.5 million as at 31 December 2018 to
approximately RMB20,006.7 million as at 31 December 2019, which was
mainly due to the decrease in intangible assets as a result of the amortization
and the decrease in the held-to-maturity assets.

The total assets of Shaanxi Future Energy Group increased from
RMB20,006.7 million as at 31 December 2019 to approximately
RMB20,867.3 million as at 30 June 2020, which was mainly attributable to
the increase in inventories, trade receivables, and cash and cash equivalents.

Total liabilities

The total liabilities of Shaanxi Future Energy Group amounted to
approximately RMB10,021.1 million, RMBS,812.4 million, and RMBS,613.4
million as at 31 December 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020, respectively.
The overall decrease in total liabilities of Shaanxi Future Energy Group was
mainly due to repayment of bank borrowings.

Lunan Chemical

Lunan Chemical is a company established under the laws of the PRC with

limited liability on 11 July 2007 and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Vendor. It
is principally engaged in the production and sales of chemical products including
acetic acid, ethyl acetate, methyl acetate, and polyformaldehyde etc..
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The tables below set forth a summary of the of the audited financial
information of Lunan Chemical prepared in accordance with IFRS for two years
ended 31 December 2019 and 1H2020:

1H2020 FY2019 FY2018

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

Total revenue 2,603,067 6,310,350 6,356,124
Profit/(Loss) after

taxation (28,045) 393,929 386,156

As at

30 June 31 December 31 December

2020 2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

Total assets 9,811,094 9,359,892 8,799,130

Total liabilities 4,249,404 3,907,998 4,026,717

Net assets 5,561,690 5,451,894 4,772,413

Revenue

The revenue of Lunan Chemical decreased from approximately
RMB6,356.1 million for FY2018 to approximately RMB6,310.4 million for
FY2019, which remained stable in FY2019.

Profit after taxation

The profit after taxation of Lunan Chemical slightly increased from
approximately RMB386.2 million in FY2018 to approximately RMB393.9
million in FY2019. Lunan Chemical recorded loss of approximately
RMB28.0 million in 1H2020, which was mainly attributable to the decrease
in gross profit margin in 1H2020 as a result of the low production rate of
the chemical products due to outbreak of the novel coronavirus
(“COVID-19”) in 1H2020 and the high fixed cost for the operation.

Total assets

The total assets of Lunan Chemical increased from approximately
RMBS,799.1 million as at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB9,359.9
million as at 31 December 2019, and further increased to approximately
RMBO9,811.1 million as at 30 June 2020. The overall increase in total assets
was mainly due to the increase in property, plant and equipment and
prepayments and other receivables.

- 70 —



LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER

(c)

Total liabilities

The total liabilities decreased from approximately RMB4,026.7 million
as at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB3,908.0 million as at 31
December 2019, which was mainly attributable to the repayment of bank
borrowings.

The total liabilities increased from approximately RMB3,908.0 million
as at 31 December 2019 to approximately RMB4,429.4 million as at 30 June
2020, which was mainly due to the increase in short-term bank borrowings.

Fine Chemical

Fine Chemical is a company established under the laws of the PRC with

limited liability on 25 May 2012 and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Vendor. It
is principally engaged in the production and sales of catalyst, wax, sodium nitrate,
and potassium silicate.

The table below sets forth a summary of the of the audited financial

information of Fine Chemical prepared in accordance with IFRS for two years
ended 31 December 2019 and 1H2020:

1H2020 FY2019 FY2018

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

Total revenue 83,552 219,128 189,098

Profit after taxation 9,982 29,042 8,297

As at

30 June 31 December 31 December

2020 2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

Total assets 242,059 237,596 230,160

Total liabilities 83,492 89,011 110,617

Net assets 158,567 148,585 119,543
Revenue

The revenue of Fine Chemical increased from approximately RMB189.1
million for FY2018 to approximately RMB219.1 million for FY2019, which
was mainly attributable to the increase in the sales of chemical products.

71 —



LETTER FROM THE INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVISER

(d)

Profit after taxation

The profit after taxation of Fine Chemical increased from
approximately RMB8.3 million in FY2018 to approximately RMB29.0
million in FY2019, which was mainly attributable to the increase in the unit
price for the chemical products.

Total assets

The total assets of Fine Chemical amounted to approximately
RMB230.2 million, RMB237.6 million, and RMB242.1 million as at 31
December 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020, respectively, which was mainly
attributable to the increase in bank balances and cash and trade and bills
receivables.

Total liabilities

The total liabilities amounted to approximately RMB110.6 million,
RMB89.0 million, and RMB83.5 million as at 31 December 2018 and 2019
and 30 June 2020, respectively. The overall decrease in total liabilities of
Fine Chemical was mainly due to settlement of trade payables and the
repayment of short-term loans.

Chemical Equipment

Chemical Equipment is a company established under the laws of the PRC

with limited liability on 2 September 1989 and a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Vendor. It is principally engaged in the manufacturing, sales, and maintenance of
pressure vessels and mine mechanical and electrical equipment.

The tables below set forth a summary of the of the audited financial

information of Chemical Equipment prepared in accordance with IFRS for two
years ended 31 December 2019 and 1H2020:

1H2020 FY2019 FY2018

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

Total revenue 33,555 52,907 39,189
Profit after taxation 1,605 5,339 312
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(e)

As at
30 June 31 December 31 December
2020 2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)
Total assets 86,689 85,907 53,999
Total liabilities 29,340 30,322 126,063
Net assets/(liabilities) 57,349 55,585 (72,064)

Revenue

The revenue of Chemical Equipment increased from approximately
RMB39.2 million for FY2018 to approximately RMB52.9 million for
FY2019, which was mainly attributable to the increase in sales of equipment
in FY2019.

Profit after taxation

The profit after taxation of Chemical Equipment increased from
approximately RMBO0.3 million in FY2018 to approximately RMBS5.3 million
in FY2019, which was mainly attributable to the gain generated from debt
restructuring during FY2019.

Total assets

The total assets of Chemical Equipment increased from approximately
RMB54.0 million as at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMBS85.9
million 31 December 2019, and further increased to approximately RMB86.7
million as at 30 June 2020. The overall increase in the total assets was
mainly attributable to the increase in bank balances and cash and property,
plant and equipment.

Total liabilities

The total liabilities decreased from approximately RMB126.1 million as
at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB30.3 million as at 31 December
2019, and further decreased to approximately RMB29.3 million as at 30 June
2020. The overall decrease in the total liabilities was mainly due to the
settlement of other trade payables due to Yankuang Group.

Trading Company

Trading Company is a company established under the laws of the PRC with

limited liability on 25 March 2008 and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Vendor.
It is principally engaged in the wholesale of chemical products, including
methanol and ethanol etc..
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The tables below set forth a summary of the of the audited financial
information of Trading Company prepared in accordance with IFRS for two years
ended 31 December 2019 and 1H2020:

1H2020 FY2019 FY2018

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

Total revenue 3,388,079 7,170,375 10,217,082

Profit after taxation 9,012 17,723 20,422

As at

30 June 31 December 31 December

2020 2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

Total assets 704,417 547,396 579,427

Total liabilities 474,833 327,706 377,460

Net assets 229,584 219,690 201,967
Revenue

The revenue of Trading Company decreased from approximately
RMB10,217.1 million for FY2018 to approximately RMB7,170.4 million for
FY2019, which was mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue generated
from the sales of coal and chemical products.

Profit after taxation

The profit after taxation of the Trading Company decreased from
approximately RMB20.4 million in FY2018 to approximately RMB17.7
million in FY2019, which was mainly attributable to the decrease in the
income from the write back of trade payables in FY2019.

Total assets

The total assets of Trading Company decreased from approximately
RMB579.4 million as at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB547.4
million as at 31 December 2019, which was mainly due to the decrease in
bank balances and cash as a result of the decrease in the retention received
in FY2019.

The total assets of Trading Company increased from approximately
RMB547.4 million as at 31 December 2019 to approximately RMB704.4
million as at 30 June 2020, which was mainly due to the increase in bank
balances and cash as a result of the increase in trade payables.
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0y

Total liabilities

The total liabilities of Trading Company decreased from approximately
RMB377.5 million as at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB327.7
million as at 31 December 2019, which was mainly attributable to settlement
of trade payables. The total liabilities then increased to approximately
RMB474.8 million as at 30 June 2020, which was mainly due to the increase
in trade payables.

Jisan Electricity

Jisan Electricity is a company established under the laws of the PRC with
limited liability on 31 January 2005. It is principally engaged in the provision of
heat and generation of electricity. The following chart sets forth the shareholding
structure of Jisan Electricity as at the Latest Practicable Date:

Yankuang Group

Jining Rencheng
District Public Assets
Management Company

99%

1%

Jisan Electricity

The tables below set forth a summary of the of the audited financial
information of Jisan Electricity prepared in accordance with IFRS for two years
ended 31 December 2019 and 1H2020:

Total revenue

Profit after taxation

Total assets

Total liabilities

Net assets

1H2020
RMB’000
(Audited)

171,248
37,306

30 June
2020
RMB’000
(Audited)

2,080,364
1,499,589
580,775
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FY2019
RMB’000
(Audited)

429,724
37,812

As at
31 December
2019
RMB’000
(Audited)

2,149,303
1,605,942
543,361

FY2018
RMB’000
(Audited)

455,016
8,754

31 December
2018
RMB’000
(Audited)

2,041,426
1,535,877
505,549
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(g)

Revenue

The revenue of Jisan Electricity decreased from approximately
RMB455.0 million for FY2018 to approximately RMB429.7 million for
FY2019, which remained stable during FY2019.

Profit after taxation

The profit after taxation of Jisan Electricity increased from
approximately RMBO0.9 million in FY2018 to approximately RMB37.9
million in FY2019, which was mainly attributable to the fact that Jisan
Electricity switched its raw materials for the generation of electricity in
FY2019 from the thermal coal to the coal slime, the price of which was
lower and the energy density was higher than those of the thermal coal.

Total assets

The total assets of Jisan Electricity increased from approximately
RMB2,041.4 million as at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB2,149.3
million 31 December 2019, which was mainly attributable to the increase in
other receivables due from Yankuang Group.

The total assets of Jisan Electricity decreased from approximately
RMB2,149.3 million 31 December 2019 to approximately RMB2,080.4
million as at 30 June 2020, which was mainly attributable to the decrease in
property, plant and equipment as a result of depreciation.

Total liabilities

The total liabilities of Jisan Electricity increased from approximately
RMB1,535.9 million as at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB1,605.9
million as at 31 December 2019, which was mainly attributable to the
increase in the debentures.

The total liabilities of Jisan Electricity decreased from approximately
RMB1,605.9 million as at 31 December 2019 to approximately RMB1,499.6
million as at as at 30 June 2020, which was mainly due to the settlement of
trade payables.

Information Center

The Information Center is currently the functional department of Yankuang

Group’s informatization business. It is mainly engaged in the provision of mine
information, development of mining information system, and provision of
maintenance services for the mining systems. Information Center leased auxiliary
mining facilities and provided mine information for the coal mines and received
service fee from the companies which controlled the coal mines.
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In the Transaction, the Company will acquire related assets including but not
limited to mining information systems and auxiliary mining facilities. The
employees of Information Center will be transferred from Yankuang Group to the
Group upon the completion of the Transaction.

The tables below set forth a summary of the of the audited financial
information of Information Center prepared in accordance with IFRS for two
years ended 31 December 2019 and 1H2020:

1H2020 FY2019 FY2018

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

Total revenue 64,392 143,302 140,851

Profit after taxation 15,698 19,901 36,798

As at

30 June 31 December 31 December

2020 2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

Total assets 259,851 262,549 265,126

Total liabilities 150,028 166,568 171,666

Net assets 109,823 95,981 93,460
Revenue

The revenue of Information Center increased from approximately
RMB140.9 million for FY2018 to approximately RMB143.3 million for
FY2019, which remained stable in FY2019.

Profit after taxation

The profit after taxation of Information Center decreased from
approximately RMB36.8 million in FY2018 to approximately RMB19.9
million in FY2019, which was mainly attributable to the increase in the
maintenance cost of auxiliary mining facilities and mining information
system in FY2019.

Total assets

The total assets of Information Center amounted to approximately
RMB265.1 million, RMB262.5 million, and RMB259.9 million as at 31
December 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020, respectively, which was mainly
attributable to the decrease in property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets as a result of depreciation and amortization.
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Total liabilities
The total liabilities of Information Center decreased from approximately
RMB171.7 million as at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB166.6
million as at 31 December 2019, and further decreased to approximately
RMB150.0 million as at 30 June 2020, which was mainly attributable to the
increase in other payables due to Yankuang Group.
B. The Transaction Agreement
On 30 September 2020, the Company entered into the Transaction Agreement with
Yankuang Group. The principal terms of the Transaction Agreement are summarized as
follows:
Date:
30 September 2020
Parties:
(a) the Vendor; and
(b) the Purchaser
(Collectively referred to as “Both Parties”)
Asset to be acquired
According to the terms and conditions of the Transaction Agreement, the
Company conditionally agreed to acquire from Yankuang Group and Yankuang Group
conditionally agreed to transfer its 49.315%, 100%, 100%, 100%, 100% and 99%
equity interests in Shaanxi Future Energy, Fine Chemical, Lunan Chemical, Chemical
Equipment, Trading Company and Jisan Electricity, respectively, as well as relevant
assets and business of the Information Center.
Conditions precedent
Pursuant to the Transaction Agreement, the completion is subject to a series of

conditions precedent, details of which have been set out in the section headed “IIl. The
Transaction — Conditions precedent” in the Letter from the Board to this Circular.
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Consideration and payment terms

The total consideration amounted to RMB18.355 billion, and shall be paid in cash
in the following manner:

(a) The Company shall pay 40% of the transaction price (interest-free) to
Yankuang Group in one lump sum within five Working Days after the
Transaction Agreement becomes effective;

(b) The Company shall pay 30% of the transaction price and the corresponding
interest (the “Corresponding Interest”) to Yankuang Group before 30 June
2021; and

(c) The Company shall pay 30% of the Transaction price and the Corresponding
Interest to Yankuang Group within twelve months after the Transaction
Agreement becomes effective.

The Corresponding Interest is calculated based on the one-year benchmark interest
rate of loan prime rate announced by the National Interbank Funding Center on the
actual payment date of each subsequent transfer price. The calculation is from the
payment date of the first tranche of transaction price to the subsequent payment date of
each transaction price. The calculation period is calculated as 365 days a year.

Basis of the consideration

The consideration amounting to RMB18.355 billion was determined based on
normal commercial terms after arm’s length negotiations between Both Parties with
reference to, among others, (i) the production and operation, financial condition and
future development plan of the Target Companies and Target Assets; and (ii) the
valuation results of the Target Companies and Target Assets included in the Asset
Valuation Reports issued by Pan-China, an independent valuer engaged by the
Company.

Set out below is a table demonstrating (i) the valuation results of 100% equity
interest for each of the Target Companies and Target Assets based on the Asset
Valuation Reports; and (ii) the consideration payable by the Company to Yankuang
Group in respect of each of the Target Companies and the Target Assets.

Valuation Results of
100% equity

Target Companies/Target Assets interest Consideration

RMB RMB

1 Shaanxi Future Energy 23,937,033,251.40 10,818,247,947.93
(Note)

2 Fine Chemical 223,624,156.19 223,624,156.19
3 Lunan Chemical 6,187,484,899.77 6,187,484,899.77
Chemical Equipment 69,641,286.66 69,641,286.66
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Valuation Results of
100% equity

Target Companies/Target Assets interest Consideration

RMB RMB

5 Trading Company 229,903,330.02 229,903,330.02
6 Jisan Electricity 713,870,678.78 706,731,971.99
7 Information Center 119,796,238.31 119,796,238.31
Total 18,355,429,830.87

Note:

Pursuant to the general meeting of Shaanxi Future Energy held on 6 August 2020, it is agreed
that the profit in a total of RMB2 billion will be distributed to all shareholders from the distributable
profit of RMB4.593 billion as of 31 December 2019 based on the registered capital of Shaanxi Future
Energy. The following table sets forth the calculation of the consideration of 49.315% equity of
Shaanxi Future Energy:

Items Unit Calculation Amount

Valuation results of 100% equity RMB’000 a 23,937,033
interest

Dividends declared RMB’000 b 2,000,000

Shareholding percentage % c 49.315

Consideration RMB’000 d=(a-b)*c 10,818,248

The Company also engaged BOYD to prepare the Competent Person’s Report and
Competent Person’s Valuation Report on the valuation under the Listing Rules in
respect of the mining rights of Jinjitan Coal Mine under Shaanxi Future Energy.
Pursuant to the Competent Person’s Valuation Report as disclosed in Appendix IV to
the Circular, the valuation on the mining rights of Jinjitan Coal Mine amounted to
approximately RMB22,072 million.

C. Assessment on the Asset Valuation Reports, Jinjitan Coal Mine Valuation Report,
and the consideration of the Transaction

In assessing the fairness and reasonableness of the Asset Valuation Reports and the
Jinjitan Coal Mine Valuation Report, we have taken into the following factors:

1. Asset Valuation Reports
(a) The valuer
The Company has engaged Pan-China to perform the valuation and prepare
the Asset Valuation Reports for the Target Companies and Target Assets. As

disclosed in the Letter from the Board to this Circular, Pan-China has securities
and futures related business qualifications.
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We have reviewed the qualification on the valuation of mining assets of
Pan-China issued by Chinese Association of Mineral Resources Appraisers and
understand that Pan-China is certified with professional qualification required to
perform the valuation on the Target Companies and the Target Assets.

In respect of Pan-China’s experience, we have requested and obtained a list
from Pan-China demonstrating their track record of valuation in relation to the
acquisitions of target companies principally engaged in the same businesses as
those of the Target Companies and Target Assets. Based on our review, we
understand that Pan-China has accumulated extensive experience in evaluating
companies and/or assets in mining, processing and manufacturing business
operation which is similar to the Target Companies and Target Assets.

In addition, Pan-China confirms that (a) it is independent from the Company;
(b) all relevant material information provided by the Company had been
incorporated in the Asset Valuation Reports; and (c) there were no other material
relevant information or representations relating to the Target Companies and
Target Assets provided or made by the Company to Pan-China not having been
included in the valuation.

We have also reviewed the scope of work of Pan-China and noted that there
is no limitation on the scope of work which might adversely impact on the degree
of assurance in the Asset Valuation Reports.

Based on the above, we are of the view that the scope of work of Pan-China
is appropriate and Pan-China is qualified and competent to perform the valuation
of the Target Companies and Target Assets and prepare the Asset Valuation
Reports.

(b) Valuation methodology adopted for the Target Assets and each of the
Target Companies

We have reviewed the Asset Valuation Reports issued by Pan-China and
discussed with Pan-China regarding the assumption made and methodology
adopted for the valuations of the Target Companies and Target Assets (the
“Valuation”). We understand that:

(i) Pan-China did not adopt market approach for the Valuation since there
were no acquisitions of companies similar to the business operation of
the Target Companies and Target Assets in the market comparable to
the Transaction;

(i1)) Pan-China did not adopt income approach for the Valuation since the
income generated from the Target assets and the assets of the Target
Companies could not be accurately quantified or ascertained mainly due
to (a) uncertain changes on the policies on thermal power generation
industry; (b) short track record of profitability of Chemical Equipment;
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(iii)

and/or (c) uncertainty of the profitability of the Target Assets since the
profitability of the Target Assets is determined with reference to the
profitability of Shaanxi Future Energy; and

Pan-China has adopted asset approach for the Valuation since asset
approach is a commonly utilized method in the valuation, which
considers the fundamental cost to reproduce the assets appraised in
accordance with the current market prices of similar assets.

After considering the reasons above, we are of the view that the valuation
methodology adopted by Pan-China is reasonable and acceptable for the

Valuation.

(¢) Valuation assumptions

We noted that Pan-China has made the following assumption for the
Valuation, including:

General assumptions for the Valuation

(1)

(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

All assets to be appraised were assumed to be in the course of trading;

The buyers and sellers, on equal footing, have the opportunity and time
to get sufficient market information, and are able to trade in a
voluntary and sensible manner, free from any compulsory or restrictive
conditions;

The assets being appraised are in use and will continue to be used; and

The company will continue as going concern. The management has the
ability to take the responsibilities for the operation of the business. The
company will fully comply with all applicable laws and regulations.
The business is profitable and sustainable;

Additional assumptions for the valuation of Shaanxi Future Energy

(1)

(i1)

(iii)

No material changes will happen on the relevant laws, regulations and
policies currently in force and the macroeconomic condition of the
country; no material changes will happen on the political, economic and
social environment in the regions where the parties are located; there
will be no material adverse impact arising from other unforeseeable and
force majeure factors;

The management of the company is responsible for the operation of the
business and has the ability to perform his duties;

The company will comply with all applicable laws and regulations
unless otherwise specified;
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(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

The accounting policies of the company to be adopted in the future are
assumed to be, in all material aspects, consistent with the accounting
policies adopted when the report was being prepared;

The operation of business and the scope of activities of the company
are assumed to be consistent with the present management style and
level;

No material change on the interest rates, exchange rates, tax bases and
rates, and policy duties and levies is expected;

No other force majeure or unforeseeable factors will have material
adverse impact on the business of the company;

(viii) The annual cashflows for the forecast year are assumed to be stable;

(ix)

(x)

(x1)

(xii)

It is assumed that the business operation of the company during the
forecast year is consistent with the current business model as at the
valuation benchmark date without material changes;

It is assumed that the company can maintain a continuous cooperative
relationship with the existing customers after the valuation benchmark
date;

The company can continue to enjoy its preferential policies after the
current preferential policies for western development expires on 31
December 2030 according to the “Announcement of the Ministry of
Finance and the State Administration of Taxation and the National
Development and Reform Commission on Continuing the Corporate
Income Tax Policy for the Western Development”; and

The Jinjitan Coal Mine can successfully obtain the mining qualification
for the remaining coal resources after the expiry of the current mining
period. The cost of coal for the indirect coal liquefaction and
comprehensive utilization project, a project under Shaanxi Future
Energy, will remain at the cost price of Jinjitan Coal Mine in the
future.

After considering the above, we are of the view that the assumptions adopted
by Pan-China for the Valuation are reasonable.

(d) Application of the asset approach

The following sets forth the major assets and liabilities considered in the
valuation of each Target Company and Target Assets as extracted from the Asset
Valuation Reports. We have reviewed the calculation of each Target Company and

Target Assets adopted by Pan-China and we consider the valuation methodology is
properly applied.
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(i) Shaanxi Future Energy

Assessment on the valuation result under the asset approach

As at 30 June 2020
Net book Variance
value under  between the
China net book
Accounting value and
Financial Appraised Standards appraised
items value (“CAS”) value
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
a b c=a-b
Inventories 437,834 405,281 32,552
Advance 70,515 70,570 (55)
Payment
Long-term 83,613 65,300 18,313
investments
Construction 938,257 1,048,579 (110,322)
in progress
Right-of-use 505,279 442,289 62,990
assets and
investment
properties
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Reason for the increase
/decrease in the
appraised value

The market value is
higher than the book
value. (Note 1)

The variance,
representing the advance
payment for the patent,
has been considered in
the valuation of the
intangible assets.

The net asset value of
the subsidiaries increased
due to the increase of the
net profit since the
incorporation date of the
subsidiaries.

The market value of the
quota for the replacement
of coal production
capacity is lower than
the purchase price of the
aforesaid capacity. (Note
2)

The consideration of the
right-of-use asset and
investment properties as
at its acquisition date is
significantly lower than
its market value as at 30
June 2020. (Note 3)
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Financial
items

Property,
plant, and
equipment

Intangible
assets

As at 30 June 2020

Net book

value under

China

Accounting

Appraised Standards
value (“CAS”)
RMB’000 RMB’000
a b
12,824,613 12,990,041
14,237,889 2,238,298

Variance
between the
net book
value and
appraised
value
RMB’000
c=a-b

(165,428)

11,999,591

Reason for the increase
/decrease in the
appraised value

(a) The value-added tax
rate in the PRC
decreased from 17% to
13% or 9% in 2019; (b)
The cost of labor,
machineries, and
materials have
significantly increased
since the establishment
of the properties, plant,
and equipment; netting
off the effect that the
useful life adopted under
the relevant accounting
policy is longer than that
of the actual expected
useful life of the
machineries.

The present value of the
net cash flow generated
from the intangible
assets, mainly
representing the mining
rights, is higher than the
net book value of the
aforesaid assets as at 30
June 2020.

Note 1: The appraised value is determined with reference to the market price of the
inventories owned by Shaanxi Future Energy, including but not limited to
diesel fuel, liquid wax, light hydrocarbons, liquefied petroleum, and coal.

Note 2: The appraised value is determined with reference to the market price of the
replacement of coal production capacity under the only three transactions
entered into since July 2019 in Ningxia Assets and Equity Exchange, Jiangxi
Assets and Equity Exchange, and Hebei Environment and Energy Exchange,
respectively.
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Note 3: The appraised value is determined with reference to the market price of the
similar land use rights and investment properties (“Similar Assets”), which
shall fulfil the following criteria:

(a)  The usage of the Similar Assets should be the same as that of the land
use rights and investment properties of Shaanxi Future Energy;

(b)  The location of the Similar Assets should be in the same district where
the land use rights and investment properties of Shaanxi Future Energy
are located;

(c) The date of the acquisition of the Similar Assets should be close to the
date of the Transaction;

(d)  The sale of the Similar Assets is conducted under normal conditions and
no intervention of courts is involved; and

(e) The currency of the sale shall be denominated in RMB.

Based on the above factor, as stated in the Asset Valuation Report
of Shaanxi Future Energy, the valuation of 100% equity interest of
Shaanxi Future Energy as at 30 June 2020 based on the asset approach
was RMB23,937,033,251.40, which was higher than the book value of
the Shaanxi Future Energy by approximately RMB11,837,985,000 or
97.84%. Such significant increase was mainly attributable to the
increase in the appraised value of the mining rights of Shaanxi Future
Energy, details of which have been set out in the table above.

Assessment on the feasibility on the adoption of the alternative
approach

In addition to the asset-based approach, we have assessed the
feasibility of the market approach. We have formulated the following
criteria in selecting the comparable acquisition: (a) the target companies
under the comparable acquisition is engaged in the mining of coal in
the PRC and the sales of coal; (b) the purchaser of the comparable
acquisition is listed in the Stock Exchange; and (c) the comparable
acquisition was announced on or after 1 January 2017.

As such, we have selected three comparable acquisitions.
However, considering that (a) there are only three comparable
acquisitions; and (b) the P/E ratio of the comparable acquisitions ranges
from 91.7 to 1,470.8, which is far above that of the acquisition of
Shaanxi Future Energy, we are of the view that the samples size is
neither representative nor meaningful. Therefore, we concur with the
view from Pan-China that there is insufficient market information
available for the adoption of market approach.
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(ii)

Our view on the consideration of the acquisition of Shaanxi Future
Energy

Based on (a) the asset-based approach adopted by Pan-China in
the valuation of Shaanxi Future Energy; (b) the reference of the market
price adopted for the valuation of the assets; and (c) no representative
comparable acquisitions in the market, we consider that the
consideration of the acquisition of Shaanxi Future Energy is fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and Independent
Shareholders as a whole.

Lunan Chemical
Assessment on the valuation result under the asset approach

As at 30 June 2020

Variance
between the
net book
Net book value and  Reason for the increase
Financial Appraised  value under appraised /decrease in the
items value CAS value appraised value
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
a b c=a-b
Inventories 253,718 249,480 4,238  The market value is
higher than the book
value. (Note 1)
Buildings 1,256,010 1,016,764 239,246 (a) The cost of labor,
machineries, and
materials have
significantly increased
since the establishment
of the buildings; (b) The
useful life adopted under
the relevant accounting
policy is shorter than
that of the actual
expected useful life of
the buildings.
Other fixed 3,403,530 3,370,095 33,436  The market value is
assets higher than the book

value. (Note 2)
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Financial
items

Construction
in progress

Right-of-use
assets

Intangible
assets

Long-term
payables

As at 30 June 2020

Variance

between the

net book

Net book value and

Appraised  value under appraised
value CAS value
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
a b c=a-b
797,992 786,597 11,395
669,839 440,264 229,575
192,708 80,470 112,238
45,797 57,168 (11,371)
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Reason for the increase
/decrease in the
appraised value

The appraised value
consists of the net book
value, the cost of capital,
and the cost of the
establishment of the
construction in progress
which is recognized as
expense according to
CAS.

The consideration of the
right-of-use asset as at
its acquisition date is
significantly lower than
its market value as at 30
June 2020. (Note 3)

The present value of the
net cash flow generated
from the intangible assets
is higher than the net
book value of the
aforesaid assets as at 30
June 2020.

The government of
Tengzhou City and
Lunan Chemical
mutually agreed that the
long-term payment will
be settled through annual
instalments in the
coming ten years from
2021. Hence, the present
value of the long-term
payables is lower than its
book value.
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Note 1: The appraised value is determined with reference to the market price of the
inventories owned by Lunan Chemical, including but not limited to acetic acid.

Note 2: The appraised value is determined with reference to the market price of the
equipment and facilities owned by Lunan Chemical. In the event that the
aforementioned equipment and facilities are on sale in the market, the market
price of them will be adopted as their appraised value. Otherwise, the
appraised value is determined based on the market price of the similar
equipment and facilities, which their usage and parameters shall be similar to
the appraised equipment and facilities.

Note 3: The appraised value is determined with reference to the market price of similar
land use rights with the following criteria:

(a)  The usage of the similar land use rights should be the same as that of
the land use rights of Lunan Chemical;

(b)  The location of the similar land use rights should be in the same district
where the land use rights of Lunan Chemical is located;

(c)  The date of the acquisition of the similar land use rights should be close
to the date of the Transaction;

(d)  The sale of the similar land use rights is conducted under normal
conditions and no intervention of courts is involved; and

(e) The currency of the sale shall be denominated in RMB.

Based on the above factor, as stated in the Lunan Chemical Asset
Valuation Report, the valuation of 100% equity interest of Lunan
Chemical as at 30 June 2020 based on the asset approach was
RMB6,187,484,899.77, which was higher than the book value of the
Lunan Chemical by approximately RMB645,498,000 or 11.65%. Such
increase was mainly attributable to the increase in the appraised value
of the building, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets of Lunan
Chemical, details of which have been set out in the table above.

Assessment on the feasibility on the adoption of the alternative
approach

In addition to the asset-based approach, we have assessed the
feasibility of the market approach. We have formulated the following
criteria in selecting the comparable acquisition: (a) the target companies
under the comparable acquisition is mainly engaged in the
manufacturing and sales of acetic acid in the PRC; (b) the purchaser of
the comparable acquisition is listed in the Stock Exchange; and (c) the
comparable acquisition was announced on or after 1 January 2017. We
have used our best efforts to search the comparable transactions but
there is no comparable transaction fulfilling our criteria in the market.
Therefore, we concur with the view from Pan-China that there is
insufficient market information available for the adoption of market
approach.
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(iii)

Our view on the consideration of the acquisition of Lunan Chemical

Based on (a) the asset-based approach adopted by Pan-China in
the valuation of Lunan Chemical; (b) the reference of the market price
adopted for the valuation of the assets; and (c) no comparable
acquisitions in the market, notwithstanding the loss position in 1H2020,
we consider that the consideration of the acquisition of Lunan Chemical
is fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and
Independent Shareholders as a whole.

Fine Chemical

As at 30 June 2020
Variance
between the
net book
Net book value and  Reason for the increase
Financial Appraised  value under appraised /decrease in the
items value CAS value appraised value
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
a b c=a-b
Inventories 19,860 17,060 2,800  The market value is
higher than the book
value. (Note 1)
Buildings 111,705 92,303 19,402 (a) The cost of labor,

machineries, and
materials have
significantly increased
since the establishment
of the buildings; (b) The
useful life adopted under
the relevant accounting
policy is shorter than
that of the actual
expected useful life of
the buildings.
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As at 30 June 2020
Variance
between the
net book
Net book value and  Reason for the increase
Financial Appraised  value under appraised /decrease in the
items value CAS value appraised value
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
a b c=a-b
Machineries 99,017 58,974 40,043  (a) The value-added tax
and rate in the PRC decrease
equipment from 17% to 13% or 9%
in 2019; (b) The useful
life adopted under the
relevant accounting
policy is shorter than
that of the actual
expected useful life of
the machineries
equipment.
Intangible 15,731 12,919 2,812 The present value of the
assets net cash flow generated

from the intangible assets
is higher than the net
book value of the
aforesaid assets as at 30
June 2020.

Note 1: The appraised value is determined with reference to the market price of the
inventories owned by Fine Chemical, including but not limited to catalysts.

Based on the above factor, as stated in the Fine Chemical Asset
Valuation Report, the valuation of 100% equity interest of Fine Chemical as
at 30 June 2020 based on the asset approach was RMB223,624,156.19,
which was higher than the book value of the Fine Chemical by
approximately RMB65,057,000 or 41.03%.
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(iv) Chemical Equipment

Financial
items

Trade and

other

receivables

Inventories

Buildings

Appraised
value
RMB’000
a

21,905

11,933

15,112

As at 30 June 2020
Variance

between the

net book

Net book value and
value under appraised
CAS value
RMB’000 RMB’000
b c=a-b

27,893 13
11,300 033
7,710 7,402

- 92 _

Reason for the increase
/decrease in the
appraised value

The appraised value,
which represents the
recoverable amount of
trade and other
receivables, is larger than
net book value of the
trade and other
receivables.

The market value is
higher than the book
value. (Note 1)

(a) The cost of labor,
machineries, and
materials have
significantly increased
since the establishment
of the buildings; (b) The
useful life adopted under
the relevant accounting
policy is shorter than
that of the actual
expected useful life of
the buildings.
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Financial
items

Machineries

Long-term
deferred
expenses

Right-of-use

assets

Note 1:

Note 2:

As at 30 June 2020
Variance
between the
net book
Net book value and  Reason for the increase
Appraised  value under appraised /decrease in the
value CAS value appraised value
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
a b c=a-b
21,531 17,773 3,758  The replacement cost
decreased as a result of
advance in technology,
netting off the effect that
the useful life adopted
under the relevant
accounting policy is
shorter than that of the
actual expected useful
life of the machineries
and equipment.

- 4,004 (4,004) 1t has been included in
the appraisal value of the
buildings.

11,538 3,141 8,397  The consideration of the

right-of-use asset as at
its acquisition date is
significantly lower than
its market value as at 30
June 2020. (Note 2)

The appraised value is determined with reference to the market price of the
inventories owned by Chemical Equipment, including but not limited to buffer
vessels.

The appraised value is determined with reference to the market price of the
similar land use rights with the following criteria:

(a)  The usage of the similar land use rights should be the same as that of
the land use rights of Chemical Equipment;

(b)  The location of the similar land use rights should be in the same district
where the land use rights of Chemical Equipment is located;

(c)  The date of the acquisition of the similar land use rights should be close
to the date of the Transaction;

(d)  The sale of the similar land use rights is conducted under normal
conditions and no intervention of courts is involved; and
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(e) The currency of the sale shall be denominated in RMB.

Based on the above factor, as stated in the Chemical Equipment
Asset Valuation Report, the valuation of 100% equity interest of
Chemical Equipment as at 30 June 2020 based on the asset approach
was RMB69,641,286.66, which was higher than the book value of the
Chemical Equipment by approximately RMB16,265,000 or 30.47%.

(v) Trading Company

As at 30 June 2020

Variance
between the
net book
Net book value and  Reason for the increase
Financial Appraised  value under appraised /decrease in the
items value CAS value appraised value
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
a b c=a-b
Property, 593 274 319 The replacement cost
plant and decreased as a result of
equipment advance in technology,

netting off the effect that
the useful life adopted
under the relevant
accounting policy is
shorter than that of the
actual expected useful
life of the machineries
and equipment.

Based on the above factor, as stated in the Trading Company Asset
Valuation Report, the valuation of 100% equity interest of Trading Company
as at 30 June 2020 based on the asset approach was RMB229,903,330.02,
which was higher than the book value of the Trading Company by
approximately RMB319,300 or 0.14%.
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(vi) Jisan Electricity

Financial
items

Buildings

Machineries
and
electronic
equipment

Right-of-use
assets

Appraised
value
RMB’000

a

268,486

310,803

40,043

As at 30 June 2020
Variance

between the

net book

Net book value and
value under appraised
CAS value
RMB’000 RMB’000
b c=a-b
136,330 132,156
332,704 (21,901)
17,221 22,822
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Reason for the increase
/decrease in the
appraised value

(a) The cost of labor,
machineries, and
materials have
significantly increased
since the establishment
of the buildings; (b) The
useful life adopted under
the relevant accounting
policy is shorter than
that of the actual
expected useful life of
the buildings.

The replacement cost
decreased, netting off the
effect that the useful life
adopted under the
relevant accounting
policy is shorter than
that of the actual
expected useful life of
the machineries and
electronic equipment.

The consideration of the
right-of-use asset as at
its acquisition date is
significantly lower than
its market value as at 30
June 2020. (Note 1)
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Financial
items

Intangible
assets

Note 1: The appraised value is determined with reference to the market price of the
similar land use rights with the following criteria:

(a)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

Note 2: The appraised value is determined with reference to the market price of the

Appraised
value
RMB’000

a

19

The usage of the similar land use rights should be the same as that of

As at 30 June 2020
Variance

between the

net book

Net book value and
value under appraised
CAS value
RMB’000 RMB’000

b c=a-b

- 19

the land use rights of Jisan Electricity;

The location of the similar land use rights should be in the same district

Reason for the increase
/decrease in the
appraised value

The market value of the
intangible assets,
representing the software
used by Jisan Electricity,
is higher than their book
value. (Note 2)

where the land use rights of Jisan Electricity is located;

The date of the acquisition of the similar land use rights should be close
to the date of the Transaction;

The sale of the similar land use rights is conducted under normal

conditions and no intervention of courts is involved; and

The currency of the sale shall be denominated in RMB.

software, which is quoted from the supplier of the software.

Based on the above factor, as stated in the Jisan Electricity Asset
Valuation Report, the valuation of 100% equity interest of Jisan
Electricity as at 30 June 2020 based on the asset approach was
RMB713,870,678.78, which was higher than the book value of the Jisan

Electricity by approximately RMB133,096,000 or 22.92%.
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(vii) Information Center

Financial
items

Trade and
other
receivables

Machineries
and
equipment

Intangible
assets

As at 30 June 2020

Variance

between the

net book

Net book value and

Appraised  value under appraised
value CAS value
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
a b c=a-b

59,411 59,448 (38)
73,893 67,598 6,295
5,079 2,391 2,688
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Reason for the increase
/decrease in the
appraised value

The other receivables
due from the independent
third parties are very
unlikely recoverable.

The replacement cost
decreased as a result of
advance in technology,
netting off the effect that
the useful life adopted
under the relevant
accounting policy is
shorter than that of the
actual expected useful
life of the machineries
and equipment.

The appraised value of
the intangible assets did
not take into account the
amortization of the
aforesaid assets.
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As at 30 June 2020
Variance
between the
net book
Net book value and  Reason for the increase
Financial Appraised  value under appraised /decrease in the
items value CAS value appraised value
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
a b c=a-b
Other 343 1,371 (1,028)  The other non-current
non-current liabilities, representing
liabilities the government grant

received by the Target
Assets, will no longer be
repaid to the government
authorities due to the
completion of the project
contemplated under the
government grant. The
appraised value
represents the accrued
enterprise income tax to
be paid from the
government grant.

Based on the above factor, as stated in the Information Center Asset
Valuation Report, the valuation of the Target Assets of Information Center as
at 30 June 2020 based on the asset approach was RMB119,796,238.31,
which was higher than the book value of the Target Assets of Information
Center by approximately RMB9,974,000 or 9.08%.

(e) Our view on the consideration of the Transaction

Based on the assessment on the valuation as stated above, in particular (a)
the valuation methodology adopted by Pan-China; and (b) the reference of the
appraised value and the criteria of the selection of the similar assets adopted for
the Valuation, we consider that (i) the valuation of the Target Companies and
Target Assets was performed on a justifiable basis; and (ii) the consideration
under the Transaction Agreement determined based on the valuation is fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and Independent Shareholders as a
whole.
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2. Jinjitan Coal Mine Valuation Report
(a) The valuer

The Company has engaged BOYD to perform the valuation and prepare the
Jinjitan Coal Mine Valuation Report for Jinjitan Coal Mine. BOYD is one of the
largest independent consulting firms exclusively serving the coal, financial, utility,
power and mineral related industries, and has been providing consultancy services
since 1943 in over 60 countries.

To assess the qualification of BOYD to perform the valuation for the Jinjitan
Coal Mine, we have reviewed the qualification of BOYD. BOYD confirms that
(a) it is independent from the Company; (b) all relevant material information
provided by the Company had been incorporated in the Asset Valuation Report;
and (c) there were no other material relevant information or representations
relating to the Target Companies and Target Assets provided or made by the
Company to BOYD not having been included in the valuation.

We have also reviewed the scope of work of BOYD and noted that there is
no limitation on the scope of work which might adversely impact on the degree of
assurance in the Jinjitan Coal Mine Valuation Report.

Based on the above, we are of the view that the scope of work of BOYD is
appropriate and BOYD is qualified and competent to perform the valuation of
Jinjitan Coal Mine and prepare the Jinjitan Coal Mine Valuation Report.

(b) Valuation methodology adopted for Jinjitan Coal Mine
Application of income approach

Under the income approach, the appraisal value of Jinjitan Coal Mine
represents the present worth of future economic benefits expected to be
generated from the Jinjitan Coal Mine. BOYD has applied the discount cash
flow method to estimate the net present value of the projected cash flow of
the existing or planned mining operation of Jinjitan Coal Mine at a discount
rate to calculate its appraisal value.

In our assessment of the income approach valuation, we have reviewed
the following key quantitative assumptions in Jinjitan Coal Mine Valuation
Report:

Forecasted revenue
The revenue of Jinjitan Coal Mine represented the revenue from the
sales of coal, which is calculated by the annual output of product coal in

tons multiplied by the forecasted unit selling price of coal per ton. We noted
that BOYD has adopted (a) the average unit selling price of the coal of
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approximately RMB386 per ton and RMB392 per ton; and (b) the output of
product coal of 14.09 million tons and 13.93 million tons the coal of Jinjitan
Coal Mine during the forecast period.

We have reviewed:

(I) the average unit selling price of the coal of Jinjitan Coal Mine for
twelve months ended 30 June 2020;

(I) the comparison between the unit selling price of the coal of
Jinjitan Coal Mine and that of the coal of Shenmu Region for
twelve months ended 30 June 2020;

(IT) the reason for the increase of the unit selling price of coal of
Jinjitan Coal Mine during the forecast period; and

(IV) the output of ROM coal and product coal as stated in the Jinjitan
Coal Mine Valuation Report disclosed in appendix IV to this
Circular.

We noted that:
(i) the output of product coal fell below the planned ROM coal;

(i) the unit selling price of the coal of Jinjitan Coal Mine remained
stable and fell within the range of the unit selling price for twelve
months ended 30 June 2020;

(iii) the increase of unit selling price of the coal of Jinjitan Coal Mine
from RMB386 per ton (VAT inclusive) to RMB392 per ton (VAT
inclusive) during the forecasted period was due to the
improvement of the quality of coal as a result of the technical
upgrade of the processing of the coal; and

(iv) according to the research report, namely, 2020 interim research
report on coal industry: Completion of supply-side structural
reform, focus on reformation of the coal industry, and attention to
the industry leader in the market (CHEHRATHE20204F RIS G —
BERMOCE - BAVERESAIEEAY)), dated 2 July 2020 issued by Ping An
Securities Company, Limited (“Ping An Securities”), a security
firm established in the PRC, and with reference to the information
extracted from the research department of Ping An Securities,
database of BP, a British multinational oil and gas company, and
Wind financial database, the market leader in China’s financial
information services industry, the price of the coal will increase in
the future due to the expected increase in the demand on coal
from overseas. As COVID-19 is expected to be under control
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worldwide and the vaccines of COVID-19 will be available in the
future, the economy of the overseas countries is expected to
recover and the consumption of coal is expected to increase.

Based on the above, we concur with BOYD that the forecasted revenue
adopted in the Jinjitan Coal Mine Valuation Report is fair and reasonable.

Forecasted operating costs

The operating costs of Jinjitan Coal Mine mainly represented the cash
cost of materials, salaries, repairs for the mining and non-cash cost of
depreciation of equipment and amortization of mining right. We noted that
the operating costs in the forecast period was forecasted with reference to
the relevant historical cost of sales for three years ended 31 December 2019
and six months ended 30 June 2020.

We have reviewed:

(a)

(b)

the historical financial statements of Shaanxi Future Energy; and

the forecasted operating costs of coal per ton for four years ending
31 December 2024.

We noted that:

(1)

(i1)

the trend of the average cost of coal per ton in the forecast period
is in line with the historical average unit price of the coal per ton
during the three years ended 31 December 2019 and six months
ended 30 June 2020; and

the operating costs during the forecast period are higher than that
for the three years ended 31 December 2019 since (a) the
amortization and depreciation of the equipment as mentioned
under “Capital expenditure” of this section has been taken into
account; and (b) the salaries of the employees are expected to
increase. Save for the abovementioned operating costs, the details
of other major operating costs, including amortization of mining
right, cost of simple production maintenance, cost of safety
production, cost of materials, cost of utilities, and cost of repairs,
are similar to those for three years ended 31 December 2019;

In light of the above, we concur with BOYD that the forecasted
operating costs adopted in the Jinjitan Coal Mine Valuation Report is fair
and reasonable.
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Capital expenditure of Jinjitan Coal Mine

We have discussed with BOYD and reviewed the capital expenditure
projection of Jinjitan Coal Mine as follows:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

()

(2)

(h)

the relocation of village as a result of the exploitation of the coal
mine is expected to be completed in 2021;

the construction of the underground engineering project is
expected to commence in 2021 and complete in 2022;

the purchase of the electromechanical equipment will be purchased
during the years between 2020 and 2022 for the purpose of the
replacement of the existing equipment;

the cost for the environmental protection as a result of the
exploitation of the coal mine will incur in 2020;

the construction of the fine coal processing system for the
improvement of the quality of the coal will be completed in 2022;

the continuous miner equipment will be purchased during the
years between 2021 and 2022 for the purpose of the replacement
of the existing equipment;

the caving system will be purchased in 2023 for the purpose of
the replacement of the existing equipment; and

the aggregate capital expenditure was determined with reference to
the cost for the construction of the projects or the purchase price
of the equipment estimated by the management of Shaanxi Future
Energy.

Based on the above, we consider that the capital expenditure is
necessary for the further development of Jinjitan Coal Mine.

Adjustments on the discounted cash flow forecast made by BOYD

BOYD has made adjustments for the operating costs to reflect the
amortization and depreciation for the projected capital expenditure since
some capital expenditures were not included in the profit forecast prepared
by the management of Shaanxi Future Energy. We have reviewed the capital
expenditure and the calculation of amortization and depreciation and agreed
with the adjustments made by BOYD.
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Discount rate

In estimating the discount rate for the valuation of Jinjitan Coal Mine,
BOYD has adopted the weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) to
compute the cost of capital as the discount rate. We understand from BOYD
that the discount rate of approximately 10.2% was adopted with reference to
the following methodology:

o  Cost of debt is determined by the following:

o  Nominal risk-free rate is the yield on 10-year PRC
government bonds.

0 Borrowing spread is based on China’s three-month interbank
offered rate.

o  Country risk premium is based upon excess 10-year credit
default swap (“CDS”) spreads of CDSs of the United States.

o  Pre-tax cost of debt is calculated by adding the nominal
risk-free rate, the borrowing spread, and the country risk
premium.

0 The tax rate is 25%.
e  Cost of equity is determined by the following:

o  Nominal risk-free rate is the yield on 10-year PRC
government bonds.

0 Equity risk premium is the level of risk-reward that equity
investors in the stock market would require compensating
them for the level of risk undertaken versus a risk-free rate.
The figure is determined based on the market studies of A.
Damodaran, Stern School of Business at New York
University.

0 Country risk premium is based upon excess 10-year credit
default swap (“CDS”) spreads of CDSs of the United States.

0 Size premium, an additive factor to the cost of equity and
refers to the excess return that an investor would require
compensating them for the level of risk taken for a smaller
sized or start-up company, is determined based on a range of
data published by Duff & Phelps Global Industry
Classification Standard.
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0 Levered beta is the tax-effected unlevered beta, which is
calculated from the peer group empirical study, multiplied by
the optimal equity percentage.

o Cost of equity is the sum of the nominal risk-free rate, the
equity risk premium adjusted for the levered beta, the
country risk premium, and the size premium.

e Implied WACC is nominal before considering the effects on the
inflation.

e Real WACC adjusted the implied WACC by PRC inflation rate
published in June 2020.

Assessment on the factors in determining the cost of equity
Our review on the comparable companies

Regarding the cost of equity, we have reviewed that the list of the eight
comparable companies and noted that (i) these comparable companies are
principally engaging in the production and sales of coal listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Stock Exchange; and (ii) the revenue of
the comparable companies for the year ended 31 December 2019 are more
than RMB3 billion, representing similar scales of business with similar
business operation. As such, we concur with BOYD that the comparable
companies selected by BOYD are fair and representative samples.

Our review on the specific data in determining the cost of equity

We have reviewed the specific data of the comparable companies and
noted that:

(a) the levered beta is determined with reference to the daily stock
return of each comparable company and the stock index during the
period from 30 June 2010 to 29 June 2020;

(b) the unlevered beta of each comparable company is determined
based on the debt ratio as at the balance sheet date of the latest

published financial statements of each comparable company;

(c) the cost of equity is calculated based on the median of the
unlevered beta of the comparable companies;
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We have also assessed other factors in determining the cost of equity as
follows:

(a) the equity risk premium, which is extracted from the market
studies of A. Damodaran, Stern School of Business at New York
University, is determined with reference to (i) the default risk of
the PRC, which is estimated according to the local currency
sovereign rating from the Moody’s; and (ii) the estimated risk
premium for the mature markets, which is estimated according to
the implied premium for the S&P 500; and

(b) the size premium, which is extracted from the data published by
Duff & Phelps Global Industry Classification Standard, is
determined with reference to the variance of the average WACC
and the lowest WACC among the metals and mining companies.

Based on the above, we consider that the cost of equity is fair and
reasonable.

Other assessments on the valuation of Jinjitan Coal Mine

We noted that Crowe, the reporting accountant of the Company, has
examined the calculations of the discounted future estimated cash flows on
which the Jinjitan Coal Mine Valuation Report were based and is of the view
that so far as the arithmetical accuracy of the calculations of the profit
forecasts is concerned, the profit forecasts has been properly compiled in all
material respects in accordance with the assumptions adopted by the
Directors.

We have reviewed the procedures undertaken by the Directors in
preparing the profit forecasts underlying in the Jinjitan Coal Mine Valuation
Report. The Board has also confirmed that the profit forecasts underlying in
Jinjitan Coal Mine Valuation Report had been made after due and careful
enquiry.

Details of the report from Crowe and the report from the Board on the
profit forecast of Jinjitan Coal Mine Valuation Report are set out in
Appendix II and IIT to the announcement dated 30 September 2020.

Our view on the valuation performed by BOYD

Based on the factors above, we are of the view that the key quantitative
assumptions adopted by BOYD in the valuation were fair and reasonable.
Accordingly, we consider the calculation of net present value of the
projected cash flow applied by BOYD is appropriate and the DCF
methodology has been properly applied in the valuation.

As stated in the Jinjitan Coal Mine Valuation Report, the valuation of

Jinjitan Coal Mine as at 30 June 2020 based on the income approach was
approximately RMB22,072 million.
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3. Conclusion

Based on the above and having considered that (i) the valuation methodologies
have been properly adopted for each of the Target Companies, Target Assets, and
Jinjitan Coal Mine; and (ii) the consideration for each the Target Companies, Target
Assets, and Jinjitan Coal Mine was determined with reference to the valuation results
of the Target Companies, Target Assets, and Jinjitan Coal Mine, we are of the view that
the consideration under the Transaction Agreement is fair and reasonable so far as the
Independent Shareholders are concerned, and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

D. Assessment on sufficiency of the working capital of the Group

As disclosed in the Letter from the Board to this Circular, with reference to the
unaudited pro forma financial information of the Enlarged Group as at 30 June 2020 set out
in Appendix III to the Circular, upon the completion of the Transaction and assuming that
the Transaction was completed on 30 June 2020, the cash and bank balances, pledged term
deposits and restricted cash would decrease from approximately RMB24,474 million to
approximately RMB7,445 million and the net current liabilities would increase from
approximately RMB11,155 million to approximately RMB31,497 million.

Notwithstanding the substantial reduction of the cash and bank balances upon the
completion of the Transaction, the management of the Company is of the view that there is
no material impact on the liquidity and working capital sufficiency of the Group due to the
following reasons:

(a) the management of the Company anticipated that the Enlarged Group will
generate positive cash flows from its operations after taking into account the
benefits stated in the section headed “Principal factors and reasons considered — F.
Reasons and benefits for the Transaction” in this letter; and

(b) the undrawn borrowings facilities of the Group of approximately RMB87.945
billion as at 30 June 2020 are available for immediate use, if necessary.

E. Assessment on the expected capital expenditures of the Group

As disclosed in the Letter from the Board to this Circular, it is expected that Shaanxi
Future Energy and Lunan Chemical will incur significant capital expenditures, details of
which have been set out in the section headed “XI. Financial impact of the Transaction —
Expected significant capital expenditures” in the Letter from the Board to this Circular.

Shaanxi Future Energy and Lunan Chemical intend to use its internal resources and
debt financing (bank loans etc.) to pay for the relevant capital expenditures. Save for the
above, the Target Companies did not have any funding commitment for significant capital
expenditures in the near future.
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F. Reasons for and benefits of the Transaction

The Group is principally engaged in the business of mining, preparation,
processing and sales of coal and coal chemicals. Having considered the following
reasons of the Transaction, we are of the view that the Transaction is fair and
reasonable, on normal commercial terms, and in the interests of the Company and its

Shareholders as a whole:

1.

Coal business

(a) Acquisition of Shaanxi Future Energy

(i) Increase in the gross profit margin of the Group

Shaanxi Future Energy is principally engaged in the production
and sales of coal, paraffin, ammonium sulfate and other chemical
products. As stated in the Letter from the Board, Shaanxi Future Energy
fully controlled a coal mine, namely, Jinjitan Coal Mine.

As advised by the management of the Company, the raw coal from
the mines of Shaanxi Future Energy is of low sulfur, low dust, and high
energy density, which is in high demand in power generation industry
in northwestern China. In addition, with the cost-effective mining
techniques and advanced mining equipment, Shaanxi Future Energy is
able to lower the cost of coal mining and achieve high gross profit
margin in its coal business.

The following table sets forth the gross profit margin of the coal
business of Shaanxi Future Energy for FY2018, FY2019, and 1H2020
as extracted from the audit report of Shaanxi Future Energy prepared
under CAS:

FY2018 FY2019 1H2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

Revenue generated
from the coal

business 4,156,035 5,254,013 2,799,002
Cost of sales of the

coal business (1,220,574)  (1,288,620) (802,570)
Gross profit 2,935,461 3,965,393 1,996,432
Gross profit margin

(%) 70.6 75.5 71.3
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The following table sets forth the gross profit margin of the coal
business of the Group for FY2018, FY2019, and 1H2020 as extracted
from 2019 Annual Report and 2020 Interim Report of the Company:

FY2018 FY2019 1H2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Audited) (Audited) (Unaudited)

Revenue generated
from the coal

business 62,428,313 63,777,065 33,497,673
Cost of sales of the

coal business (36,177,841) (40,176,591) (24,632,046)
Gross profit 26,250,472 23,600,474 8,865,627
Gross profit margin

(%) 42.0 37.0 26.5

As shown in the tables above, the gross profit margin of the coal
business of Shaanxi Future Energy for FY2018, FY2019, and 1H2020
amounted to approximately 70.6%, 75.5%, and 71.3%, respectively,
which are significantly higher than those of the Group for the
respective years/period. In light of the above, we are of the view that,
upon the completion of the Transaction, the gross profit margin of the
coal business of the Group will be improved.

(ii) Enhancement of the coal production of the Group

As disclosed in the 2019 Annual Report of the Group, the raw
coal production volume of the Group amounted to approximately
106,390 kilotons for FY2019. As stated in the valuation report of
Shaanxi Future Energy, the expected annual raw coal production
volume amounted to approximately 15,000 kilotons. Upon the
completion of the Transaction, the raw coal production volume of the
Group is expected to increase by approximately 14.1% of the Group.
As such, we are of the view that the aggregate coal production of the
Group will be enhanced upon the completion of the Transaction.

(iii) Conclusion
Notwithstanding:
(I) the substantial reduction of the cash and bank balances of the
Group upon the completion of the acquisition of Shaanxi
Future Energy;
(IT) the expected capital expenditure to be incurred upon the

completion of the acquisition of Shaanxi Future Energy will
reduce the cash and bank balance of the Group; and
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(III) the consideration of Shaanxi Future Energy is at 79%
premium to its net asset value as at 30 June 2020,

we are of the view that the acquisition of Shaanxi Future Energy
is fair and reasonable, having considered (i) the fair and
reasonable consideration on the acquisition of Shaanxi Future
Energy with reference to its Asset Valuation Report; (ii) the
significant increase in the gross profit margin of the Group upon
the completion of the Transaction as mentioned in this section
above; and (iii) the enhancement of the coal production of the
Group upon the completion of the Transaction as mentioned in
this section above.

(b) Acquisition of Information Center

As advised by the management of the Company, Information Center is
mainly engaged in monitoring the operation of the mines and providing
complete and integrated information for the optimal resource management.
The operating system of Information Center is deliberately designed for the
coal mines controlled by the Group and Shaanxi Future Energy. As such, we
are of the view that the acquisition of Information Center can enhance the
operation of the coal business of the Group as a whole by allocating
manpower and providing information on exploration and exploitation of its
coal mines.

2.  Coal chemicals business
(a) Acquisition of Fine Chemical

As advised by the management of the Company, Fine Chemical is
mainly engaged in the manufacturing and sales of chemical products,
including catalysts, which are specially designed for the production of
chemical products by Shaanxi Future Energy. The production of above
catalysts is kept on a strictly confidential basis and there is no substitution
for the production of Shaanxi Future Energy in the market.

The following table sets forth the purchase amount of catalysts by
Shaanxi Future Energy from Fine Chemical for FY2018, FY2019, and

1H2020:
FY2018 FY2019 1H2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Purchase of
catalysts from
Fine Chemical 167,778 192,539 75,045
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As illustrated in the table above, Shaanxi Future Energy continued to
purchase catalysts from Fine Chemical in the past. As such, considering that
(a) the catalysts are specially designed for the production of Shaanxi Future
Energy; and (b) there is no alternative catalyst for the production of Shaanxi
Future Energy in the market, the acquisition of the Fine Chemical
represented an upstream acquisition of business which may allow Shaanxi
Future Energy to exercise full control over Fine Chemical to strengthen the
supply chain of the coal chemical business of Shaanxi Future Energy.

(b) Acquisition of Lunan Chemical

As advised by the management of the Company, the customers of the Group
have also requested for other chemical products, including acetic acid, for their
production. Acetic acid is one of the basic components for the production of
synthetic chemical products such as terephthalic acid.

We noted that the coal chemicals business of the Group is mainly engaged in
the production and sales of methanol, while Lunan Chemical is mainly engaged in
the manufacturing and sales of acetic acid.

In respect of the supply of acetic acid, as stated in the research report,
namely, Weekly report of basic chemicals industry: Price of acetic acid kept rising
recently (CHTIWIBSIR T S A Frfl Bk — BEgML TATZEAHD), dated 20 July 2020
issued by Shengang Securities Co., Ltd. (“Shengang Securities”), a security firm
established in the PRC, and with reference to the information extracted from the
research  department of Shengang Securities and BAIINFO  (http://
www.baiinfo.com/), a supplier of commodity market information in the PRC, the
production capacity of acetic acid will not be increased in the short run as no new
production plant for acetic acid has been designed and/or set up in recent years.

In relation to the demand for acetic acid, as stated in the research report,
namely, Second report on petrochemical industry: Effect on the supply and
demand of PX under the outbreak of COVID-19 in Japan and Korea and the
market outlook of PX supply chain — report on petrochemical industry ({f7{k473
SUEHCE - H R PX O S AN AR T M — A A AT EBUE U )), dated
1 March 2020 issued by China Great Wall Securities Co., Ltd. (“Great Wall
Securities”), a security firm established in the PRC, and with reference to the
information extracted from the research department of Great Wall Securities and
Sublime China Information (https://www.sci99.com/), a supplier of commodity
market information in the PRC, the demand for acetic acid will be increased in
the future as a result of the increase in the production capacity of terephthalic
acid with the completion of an aggregate designed annual production capacity of
approximately 20.7 million tons during the period from the second quarter of
2020 to 2022.
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Based on the above, notwithstanding that:

(I) the consideration of the acquisition of Lunan Chemical is at 11.65%
premium to its net assets value of RMB5.542 billion as at 30 June
2020; and

(IT) Lunan Chemical was in loss position in 1H2020 as a result of the low
production rate of the chemical products and the high fixed cost for the
operation due to the temporary decrease in customers’ demand caused
by the outbreak of COVID-19 in the PRC,

taking into account:

(a) the demand on the acetic acid from the current customers of the
Group;

(b) the excessive demand for the acetic acid in the market;

(c) the proven track record of the profitability of Lunan Chemical for
three years ended 31 December 2019; and

(d) the recovery of the profitability of Lunan Chemical in the second
half year of 2020 due to the significant increase in the purchase
orders received by Lunan Chemical as a result of the resumption
of commercial activities after the successful control on COVID-19
in the PRC,

we are of the view that the acquisition of Lunan Chemical would
enable the Group to (i) fulfil its customers’ needs; (ii) broaden its product
line and provide more types of chemical products to the existing and
potential customers; and (iii) improve the profitability of coal chemicals
business of the Group.

(¢) Acquisition of Trading Company

As advised by the management of the Company, Trading Company is mainly
engaged in the production and sales of chemical products to Lunan Chemical,
including methanol, the raw materials for the production of acetic acid as
introduced under the paragraph “2. Coal chemicals business — (b) Acquisition of
Lunan Chemical” of this section.
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The following table sets forth the purchase amount of chemical products by
Lunan Chemical from Trading Company for FY2018, FY2019, and 1H2020:

FY2018 FY2019 1H2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Purchase of chemical
products from Lunan
Chemical 234,923 905,814 1,048,880

As illustrated in the table above, Lunan Chemical continued to purchase
chemical products from Trading Company in the past. As such, considering the
sufficient capacity of the methanol of Trading Company, the acquisition of the
Trading Company represented an upstream acquisition of business which may
allow Lunan Chemical to exercise full control over Trading Company to
strengthen the supply chain of the coal chemical business of Lunan Chemical.

Mechanical and electrical equipment manufacturing business
(a) Acquisition of Chemical Equipment

The Group is also engaged in the manufacturing, sales, leasing, repair and
maintenance of mechanical and electrical equipment including mine mechanical
and electric equipment. In 1H2020, the sales income from the electrical and
mechanical equipment manufacturing business amounted to approximately
RMB&85.1 million, representing approximately 0.2% of total revenue of the Group
for 1H2020. Having considered the following reasons, we are of the view that the
acquisition of Chemical Equipment is in the interests of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole:

(i)  Further development on the chemical industry encouraged by Shandong
Province, the PRC

Pursuant to the Overall Plan on the Reform of Production Capacity of
Shandong  Province  ( CILSHIEEE)REEURLR G lBlm M%) ) (the
“Overall Plan”) issued by the government of Shandong Province in January
2018, the outdated production capacity of Shandong Province must be
substantially eliminated in 2020 and the industrial upgrading should be
considerably completed in 2022. Regarding the chemical industry, the
conversion of coal chemical industry from the conventional, high-energy
consuming, and polluting to low-energy consuming and
environmental-friendly is highly encouraged.
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(ii) Improvement of the mechanical and electrical equipment manufacturing
business of the Group

In view of (a) the requirement that the industrial upgrading should be
considerably completed in 2022 as mentioned in the Overall Plan; and (b)
the fact that Chemical Equipment has been qualified for the manufacturing
of pressure vessels and boilers, being one of the essential conversion process
in coal chemical industry, Chemical Equipment is expected to secure more
business relating to the provision of facilities upgrading services to the
existing and potential customers in the near future. Considering (i) the track
record of Chemical Equipment; (ii) the demand to upgrade the facilities in
the market as a result of the announcement of the Overall Plan; (iii) the
qualification for the manufacturing of pressure vessels and boilers, we are of
the view that the acquisition of Chemical Equipment will help the Group to
improve the market shares in and the profitability of its mechanical and
electrical equipment manufacturing business.

4. Power generation and heat business
(a) Acquisition of Jisan Electricity

As disclosed in the 2019 Annual Report of the Group, the Group owns and
operates seven power plants in the PRC with a total installed capacity of
approximately 482MW. As stated in the valuation report of Jisan Electricity, Jisan
Electricity owns and operates power plants with a total installed capacity of
approximately 270MW. Upon the Completion of the Transaction, the total
installed capacity of the Group is expected to increase by approximately 56.0%.
As such, we are of the view that the aggregate installed capacity of the Group
will be enhanced upon the completion of the Transaction.

S. Improvement of overall profitability of the Group

We noted that the aggregate revenue of the Target Groups and Target Assets for
1H2020 represented approximately 29.7% of the total revenue of the Group for the said
period, whereas the profit after taxation of the Target Groups and Target Assets for
1H2020 represented approximately 16.7% of that of the Group for the said period.
Considering the above, we are of the view that the Transaction will improve the
profitability of the Group.

6. Conclusion

Based on the above, considering (a) the expansion of the product line of the
Group; (b) the enhanced aggregate installed capacity; (c) the improvement of the
business and profitability of the Group; (d) that the upstream vertical integration of
business would safeguard the smooth operation of the Group upon the completion of
the Transaction; and (e) fair and reasonable consideration of the Transaction as
illustrated under the paragraph headed “C. Assessment on the Asset Valuation Reports,
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the Jinjitan Coal Mine Valuation Report, and the consideration of the Transaction” in
this letter, we are of the view that the Transaction is in the interests of the Company
and its Shareholders as a whole.

Financial impact of the Transaction to the Group
1. Assets and liabilities

With reference to the unaudited pro forma financial information of the Enlarged
Group as at 30 June 2020 set out in Appendix III to the Circular, upon the completion
of the Transaction and assuming that the Transaction was completed on 30 June 2020,
the total assets of the Group would have increased from approximately RMB219,703.0
million to approximately RMB243,259.1 million on a pro forma basis. The total
liabilities of the Group would have increased from approximately RMB135,553.3
million to approximately RMB152,288.2 million on a pro forma basis. The net assets
of the Group would have increased from approximately RMB84,149.7 million to
approximately RMB90,970.9 million on a pro forma basis.

2. Profit

Upon the completion of the Transaction, the financial results of the Target Group
will be consolidated into the Group. Based on the track record of the Target Group, the
Company expected that the Target Group would contribute positively to the to the
Group’s financial performance upon the completion of the Transaction.

It should be noted that the analyses above are for illustrative purpose only and do
not purport to represent how the financial positions and performance of the Group will
be after the entering into of the Transaction Agreement. Having considered (a) the
reasons for and the benefits of entering into the Transaction Agreement, details of
which are set out under the section headed ’’D. Reasons for and benefits of the
Transaction’” of this letter; and (b) positive impact on earnings, we consider that the
Transaction Agreement and the Transaction are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Company and the Independent Shareholders as a whole.
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RECOMMENDATION

Having taken into consideration the factors and reasons as stated above, we are of the
opinion that (a) the terms of the Transaction Agreement are fair and reasonable and in the
interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole; and (b) while the Transaction is
not in the ordinary and usual course of business, the Transaction is on normal commercial
terms or better to the Group.

Accordingly, we recommend the Independent Board Committee to advise the
Independent Shareholders to vote in favor of the resolution(s) to be proposed at the EGM to
approve the Transaction Agreement and the Transaction and we recommend the Independent
Shareholders to vote in favor of the resolution(s) in this regard.

Yours faithfully,

For and on behalf of
Donvex Capital Limited
Doris Sy
Director

Ms. Doris Sy is a person licensed to carry out type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance and is a responsible office
of Donvex Capital Limited who has around 18 years of experience in corporate finance
advisory.
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1. THREE-YEAR FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

The Company is required to set out in this circular the information for the last three
financial years with respect to the profits and losses, financial record and position, set out as
a comparative table and the latest published audited balance sheet together with the notes on
the annual accounts for the last financial year for the Group.

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2019, 2018 and 2017 together with the accompanying notes to the financial
statements of the Company, can be found on pages 161 to 311 of the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2019, pages 161 to 331 of the annual report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 148 to 287 of the annual report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017. Please see below the hyperlinks to the
aforesaid documents:

Annual report for the year ended 31 December 2019:
https://www1.hkexnews.hk/listedco/listconews/sehk/2020/0422/2020042201328.pdf

Annual report for the year ended 31 December 2018:
https://www1.hkexnews.hk/listedco/listconews/sehk/2019/0329/1tn201903292452 .pdf

Annual report for the year ended 31 December 2017:
https://www1.hkexnews.hk/listedco/listconews/sehk/2018/0403/1tn201804031358.pdf

The unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the six months ended
30 June 2020 together with the accompanying notes to the financial statements, can be found
on pages 104 to 141 of the interim report of the Company for the six months ended 30 June
2020. Please see below the hyperlink to the aforesaid document:

Interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2020:
https://www1.hkexnews.hk/listedco/listconews/sehk/2020/0828/2020082801212.pdf

2. STATEMENT OF INDEBTEDNESS OF THE ENLARGED GROUP
At the close of business on 30 September 2020, being the latest practicable date for the

purpose of this statement of indebtedness prior to the date of this circular, the bank and
other borrowings of the Enlarged Group comprise the following:

RMB’000

Unsecured borrowing 49,107,444
Secured borrowing 13,492,541
Guaranteed notes 14,218,731
Debentures 385,620
Lease liabilities 976,623
78,180,959

.
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The secured loans were secured by the Enlarged Group’s bank deposits and other
assets.

Contingent liabilities

As at 30 September 2020, the Enlarged Group has provided guarantees with
respect to the performance and operation of the Group, joint operations and related
parties amounting to RMB4,469 million.

The Group’s subsidiary has issued a letter of support dated 27 February 2015 to
Middlemount, a joint venture confirming that:

- It will not demand the repayment of any loan due from Middlemount, except
to the extent that Middlemount agrees otherwise or as otherwise provided in
the loan agreement; and

- It will provide financial support to Middlemount to enable it to meet its
debts as and when they become due and payable, by way of new shareholder
loans in proportion to its share of the net assets of Middlemount.

This letter of support will remain in force whilst the Group’s subsidiary is a
shareholder of Middlemount or until notice of not less than 12 months is provided or
such shorter period as agreed by Middlemount.

Save as aforesaid and apart from intra-group liabilities and normal trade payables
in the ordinary course of business, as of 30 September 2020, the Enlarged Group did
not have any other debt securities issued and outstanding, or authorised or otherwise
created but unissued, loans or term loans (secured, unsecured, guaranteed or otherwise),
other borrowings or indebtedness in the nature of borrowings including bank overdrafts
and liabilities under acceptances (other than normal trade bills), acceptance credits,
debentures, mortgages, charges, finance lease or hire purchase commitments, guarantees
or other material contingent liabilities.

3.  SUFFICIENCY OF WORKING CAPITAL

Taking into account the present internal resources and the available credit facilities of
the Enlarged Group, and considering the effect of the Transaction, the Directors, after due
and careful enquiry, are of the opinion that the Enlarged Group will have sufficient working
capital to satisfy its present requirements, for the next 12 months from the date of this
circular.

4. BUSINESS TREND AND FINANCIAL PROSPECTS OF THE GROUP

In the second half of 2020, affected by the International public health event,
uncertainties and destabilizing factors in economic and social development have increased
significantly, while the macroeconomic situation remained complex and challenging. The
State continues to enhance the inspection on safe mining production, ecological and
environmental protection governance and other policies regulation, which brings far-reaching
impact on coal industry. In the second half of the year, actively seizing strategic
opportunities such as the transformation from old into new driving forces, the joint and
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restructuring of Yankuang Group and Shandong Energy Group, the Group will continuously
optimize the industrial structure and regional layout, tap potentials to improve efficiency,
accelerate reform and innovation, turn challenges into opportunities and potential advantages
into actual productivity, and promote a leap in development of enterprises.

(a) Grasp the development opportunities and improve the competitive strength

Focusing on the main industrial segment of coal business and related upstream
and downstream industries, the Company will implement regional distribution and
industrial extension, and enhance the sustainability of enterprise’s development. For
target enterprises with high degree of marketization, great profitability potentials and
prominent synergy effect, the Company will resolutely carry out mergers and
reorganizations, raise the concentration ratio and the efficiency of resources allocation,
and enhance the core competitiveness of the enterprise.

(b) Optimize production organization to ensure stable production volume and
increase efficiency

The Company will give coal industry prominence to the development of safety
and efficiency, and full play to its role of benefit support. The Company will
scientifically organize the continuities of production in local mines, promote the
constant operation of intelligent working faces, and maximize steady mining and high
efficiency. For coal mines in Inner Mongolia, the Company will comprehensively
complete the procedure settlements, release the increment potential to the maximum
extent, so as to increase the output and raise the efficiency. For Australian mines, the
Company will fully release the advantageous production capacity, reduce the inefficient
production capacity steadily, and enhance the operation quality and the economic
efficiency continuously. For coal chemical industries, the Company will concentrate on
high-end fine products, strengthen production and operation management, promote the
coordination and integration of Phase I and II projects between Rongxin Chemical and
Yulin Methanol Plant, to ensure stable and high yield in the first phase and high
production and performance in the second phase.

(c) Deepen lean management, tap potential, decrease costs and increase profits

The Company will adhere to cost-winning, co-ordinate ‘“volume-cost-benefit”,
implement product cost reduction, management cost reduction, procurement inventory
reduction, and promote cost reduction in a systematic and accurate manner. Cost
reduction: Strengthen lean management of the whole life cycle of costs, expand the
cost control from production activities to investment, procurement and other aspects of
operation management through comprehensive budget management and benchmarking
management. Expenses reduction: The Company will take measures such as decreasing
stock of interest-bearing liabilities, replacing high interest rates with low interest rates
and others to reduce leverage and reduce debt actively. The Company will also work
hard to reduce administrative expenses, sales expenses and non-productive expenses,
and resolutely put an end to expenditures exceeding standards and budgets. Inventory
reduction: the Company will strengthen the management of transfer and use of
materials, step up the efforts to conduct a checkup of warehouses and make a better
use of the stored goods, repair the old and utilize the wastes, and liquidize the remnant
assets.
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(d) Optimize the product structure, increase quality and improve efficiency

The Company will prioritize benefits, optimize product structure, explore market
potentials, improve the overall quality and level of marketing work. The Company will
carry out refinement upgrading of products, implement the strategy of “Winning with
clean coal”, thus increasing the added value of products and profitability. The Company
will implement customized production, according to the “fixed coal mine, fixed variety,
fixed quantity, fixed time” model to organize production, to meet the needs of different
customers for products. The Company will also grasp the market demand, subdivide of
product types, focus on areas with high market prices, low logistics costs and good
sales returns when selling products. The Company will transform from high-carbon
energy to low-carbon energy, coal to anthracite, black coal to green coal. The Group
will carry out product-cleaning transformation, explore new ways for the clean and
efficient use of coal, accelerate the extension and expansion of the industrial chain,
vigorously promote the conversion of low-end fuel to high-end raw materials.

(e) Stimulate synergy and improve the quality of development.

The Company will improve the corporate governance of the controlled company
continuously, make the model of the listed company in standard operation. The
Company will intensify its efforts to implement the big data project, and create a
digital, sharing and wise Yanzhou Coal Mining Company, to upgrade the mechanism of
operation, management and risk management, adhere to the principle of market
mechanism supplemented by administrative management, fully implement the
construction of complete marketization and realize the complete link between internal
operation factors and external market factors. The Company will carry forward the
reform of “double-hundred enterprises” in depth, explore and establish a professional
manager system, promote the tenure system and contractual reformation vigorously, and
fully stimulate the internal impetus of the enterprise.

5. POSSIBLE RISKS OF THE GROUP
Risks arising from safety management

The three main business sectors of the Company, namely coal mining, coal
chemicals and power generation, are all of high hazardous nature and of complex
uncertainties, thus the risk of safety management can easily arise.

Counter measures: The Company will improve the safety management and control
system, implement hierarchical management and undertake control responsibilities, and
promote professional and regional coordinated management in an orderly manner. The
Company will promote innovative development through the integration of information,
intelligence, automation, and implement intelligent upgrading of production systems of
coal mining and roadway development, etc. The Company will make special efforts to
address potential safety hazards, focus on safety technology evaluation, step up
formulation, review, supervision and acceptance of rectification plans. The Company
will also strengthen accountability in safety assessment and step up investigation and
punishment of accidents and accountability.
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Risks arising from exchange rate

As an international company, the Company’s overseas financing, overseas
investment, international trade and other business are all affected by exchange rate
fluctuations, which bring many uncertainties on the Group’s operating results and
strategic development.

Counter measures: The Company will strengthen research and forecast on the
trend of the exchange rate, and use a variety of financial instruments to reduce the risk
of exchange rate fluctuations. According to the trend of the exchange rate of the
trading currency, the Company will establish appropriate hedging clauses in the trading
contract. The Company will also flexibly use foreign exchange derivatives, enter into
forward foreign exchange transaction contracts, and lock the exchange rate fluctuations.

Risks arising from creditability

Due to the slowdown of domestic economic growth, some partners of the Group
have insufficient working fund, solvency decline, etc. This brings certain impacts on
the collection of receivables to the Group.

Counter measures: The Company will strengthen access management for clients,
carry out prior due diligence, and prudently grant credit quotas based on the nature,
scale, credit qualifications and other conditions of the partners. The Company will
monitor the situation of credit granting business dynamically, strictly implement the
credit line and credit term constraint mechanism. In case of credit risks, the response
mechanism shall be activated timely, and the rights and interests of the group shall be
protected by legal means if necessary.

Risks arising from geopolitics

The Group’s business spans across different regions and countries, and overseas
business will be affected by policies, economic and international relationship changes
and other factors of the local governments. In the event of any material adverse
changes in these factors, the Group’s business, financial position and operating
performance may be adversely affected.

Counter measures: First, the Company will pay close attention to international
developments, strengthen the analysis of political, economic and other development
situations where its business is located, identify and predict geopolitical risks that may
be faced by overseas businesses in a timely manner, and formulate countermeasures.
Second, the Company will continue to adhere to its localization strategy, abide by local
laws and regulations, actively integrate into local economic and social development.
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A. ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON SHAANXI FUTURE ENERGY GROUP

The following is the text of a report for the sole purpose of inclusion in this circular,
from the independent reporting accountants, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, Certified Public
Accountants, Hong Kong.

% Crowe BEESE (8) StMEBRERAT
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
& REE 1SIRET7R T8RP 0E
9/F Leighton Centre,
77 Leighton Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

The Directors
Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited

We report on the historical financial information of Shaanxi Future Energy &
Chemicals Co., Ltd. (the “Target Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Target Group”) set out on pages II-A-4 to II-A-72, which comprises the
consolidated statements of financial position of the Target Group and the statements of
financial position of the Target Company as at 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30
June 2020, and the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statements of changes in equity and the consolidated statements of
cash flows of the Target Group for each of the years ended 31 December 2017, 2018 and
2019 and the six months ended 30 June 2020 (the “Relevant Periods”), and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (the “Historical Financial
Information™). This Historical Financial Information set out on pages II-A-4 to II-A-72
forms an integral part of this report, which has been prepared for for inclusion in the
circular of Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited (the “Company”) dated 16 November
2020 (the “Circular”) in connection with the proposed acquisition of 49.315% equity interest
in the Target Company by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

The directors of the Target Company are responsible for the preparation of the
Historical Financial Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance with the basis
of preparation set out in note 3 to the Historical Financial Information, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of Historical
Financial Information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

REPORTING ACCOUNTANT’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Historical Financial Information and
to report our opinion to you. We conducted our work in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standard on Investment Circular Reporting Engagements 200 “Accountants’ Reports on
Historical Financial Information in Investment Circulars” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
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of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). This standard requires that we comply with
ethical standards and plan and perform our work to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the Historical Financial Information is free from material misstatement.

Our work involved performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the Historical Financial Information. The procedures selected depend on the
reporting accountants’ judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement
of the Historical Financial Information, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the reporting accountant considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of Historical Financial Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance
with the basis of preparation set out in note 3 to the Historical Financial Information, in
order to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Our work also
included evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the Historical Financial Information.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the Historical Financial Information gives, for the purposes of the
accountants’ report, true and fair view of the financial position of the Target Company and
the consolidated financial position of the Target Company as at 31 December 2017, 2018
and 2019 and 30 June 2020 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the Relevant Periods in accordance with the basis of the
preparation set out in note 3 to the Historical Financial Information.

REVIEW OF STUB PERIOD COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL INFORMATION

We have reviewed the stub period comparative financial information of the Target
Group which comprises the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the six months ended 30 June 2019 and other explanatory information (the
“Stub Period Comparative Financial Information”). The directors are responsible for the
preparation and presentation of the Stub Period Comparative Financial Information in
accordance with the basis of preparation set out in note 3 to the Historical Financial
Information. Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the Stub Period Comparative
Financial Information based on our review. We conducted our review in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Review Engagements 2410 ‘“Review of Interim Financial
Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity” issued by the HKICPA. A
review consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and
accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is
substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become
aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not
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express an audit opinion. Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes
us to believe that the Stub Period Comparative Financial Information, for the purposes of the
accountants’ report, is not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the basis of
preparation set out in note 3 to the Historical Financial Information.

REPORT ON MATTERS UNDER THE RULES GOVERNING THE LISTING OF
SECURITIES ON THE MAIN BOARD OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE AND THE
COMPANIES (WINDING UP AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ORDINANCE

Adjustments

In preparing the Historical Financial Information, no adjustments to the Underlying
Financial Statements as defined on page II-A-4 have been made.

Dividends

We refer to note 11 to the Historical Financial Information which states that dividends
have been declared and paid by the Target Company in respect of the Relevant Periods.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chung Wai Chuen Alfred
Practising Certificate Number: P05444

Hong Kong
16 November 2020
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I. HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF SHAANXI FUTURE ENERGY &
CHEMICALS CO., LTD.

Preparation of Historical Financial Information

Set out below is the Historical Financial Information which forms an integral part
of this accountants’ report.

The consolidated financial statements of the Target Group for the Relevant
Periods, on which the Historical Financial Information is based, have been prepared in
accordance with accounting policies which conform with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(the “IASB”) (the “Underlying Financial Statements”).

The Historical Financial Information is presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all

values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise
indicated.
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(A) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Revenue 6,519,141 06,564,897 8,751,970 4,032,867 4,156,146
Cost of sales (3,876,037)  (4,362,666)  (5,337,437)  (2,433,850)  (2,686,002)
Gross profit 2,642,504 2,202,231 3,414,533 1,599,017 1,470,144
Other income 93,706 70,111 90,895 40,552 24,012
Research and development
expenses (8,180) (12,049) (80,153) (55,339) (3,405)
Selling and distribution
expenses (27,8603) (23,771) (25,152) (12,547) (11,683)
General and administrative
expenses (242,113) (169,219) (178,283) (67,570) (78,437)
Profit from operations 2,458,048 2,067,303 3,221,840 1,504,113 1,400,631
Finance costs (477,154) (455,184) (400,369) (206,331) (172,760)
Profit before income tax 1,980,894 1,612,119 2,821,471 1,297,782 1,227,871
Income tax expense (299,979) (241,164) (435,237) (196,831) (168,290)
Profit and total
comprehensive income
for the year/period 1,680,915 1,370,955 2,386,234 1,100,951 1,059,581
Total comprehensive
income for the year/
period attributable to:
Owners of the Target
Company 1,680,915 1,370,955 2,386,186 1,100,951 1,059,563
Non-controlling interests - - 48 - 18
1,680,915 1,370,955 2,386,234 1,100,951 1,059,581
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(B) Consolidated statements of financial position

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

Note RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 14,025,763 14,251,785 14,411,823 14,176,227
Investment properties 13 17,960 17,583 17,206 17,018
Intangible assets 14 2,880,098 2,854,396 2,687,357 2,663,570
Investments in securities 15 80,000 168,000 298,530 298,530
Right-of-use assets 16 - - 32,142 -
Prepayments for property, plant and

equipment and intangible assets 19 45,415 292,345 309,051 535,913
Deferred tax assets 27 - - 526 782

17,049,236 17,584,109 17,756,635 17,692,040

Current assets

Inventories 17 242,636 204,912 252,922 405,800
Trade and bills receivables 18 2,424,740 406,997 59,401 94,623
Prepayments and other receivables 19 1,756,471 1,699,709 595,076 825,679
Cash and cash equivalents 20 541,304 614,772 1,342,667 1,849,182

4,965,151 2,926,390 2,250,066 3,175,284

Deduct:

Current liabilities

Trade and bills payables 21 1,868,495 1,590,322 1,414,439 1,522,180
Contract liabilities 22 - 98,727 95,208 185,813
Accruals and other payables 23 1,263,133 510,288 424,885 425,966
Bank loans 24 2,600,000 1,640,000 1,601,200 1,000,000

Provisions for land subsidence,
restoration, rehabilitation and

environment costs 25 - 47,148 181,523 251,286
Obligations in relation to early
retirement scheme 26 1,506 3,402 4,576 5,069
Lease liabilities 16 - - 68,292 -
Tax payable 62,406 339 2,643 123,850
5,795,540 3,890,226 3,792,766 3,514,164
Net current liabilities (830,389)  (963,836) (1,542,700)  (338,880)
Total assets less current liabilities 16,218,847 16,620,273 16,213,935 17,353,160
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Non-current liabilities
Other payables
Obligations in relation to early
retirement scheme
Bank loans
Deferred tax liabilities

Net assets

Representing:

Registered capital
Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Note

23
26

24
27

28
29

30

As at

As at 31 December 30 June

2017 2018 2019 2020
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
58,365 63,329 - -
6,242 11,119 15,125 14,774
6,930,000 5,960,000 4,898,800 4,998,800
105,783 96,413 105,664 85,659
7,100,390 6,130,861 5,019,589 5,099,233
0,118,457 10,489,412 11,194,346 12,253,927
5,400,000 5,400,000 5,400,000 5,400,000
3,718,457 5,089,412 5,779,598 6,839,161
9,118,457 10,489,412 11,179,598 12,239,161
- - 14,748 14,766
0,118,457 10,489,412 11,194,346 12,253,927
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(C) Statement of financial position of the Target Company

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14,025,357 14,251,433 14,403,900 14,148,496
Investment properties 17,960 17,583 22,776 22,530
Intangible assets 2,880,098 2,854,396 2,681,787 2,658,057
Investment in securities 80,000 168,000 298,530 298,530
Investments in subsidiaries 50,000 50,000 65,300 65,300
Right-of-use assets - - 32,142 -
Prepayments for property, plant and

equipment and intangible assets 45,415 292,345 296,751 525,188

17,098,830 17,633,757 17,801,186 17,718,101

Current assets

Inventories 222,975 200,517 252,298 405,281
Trade and bills receivables 2,420,780 414,122 46,600 209,846
Prepayments and other receivables 1,752,546 1,701,180 594,473 725,137
Cash and cash equivalents 536,273 519,552 1,259,277 1,691,088

4,932,574 2,835,371 2,152,648 3,031,352

Deduct:

Current liabilities

Trade and bills payables 1,867,663 1,589,916 1,406,193 1,508,995
Contract liabilities - 74,285 86,960 129,119
Accruals and other payables 1,542,361 503,937 405,887 415,779
Lease liabilities - - 68,292 -
Bank loans, secured 2,350,000 1,640,000 1,601,200 1,000,000

Provisions for land subsidence
restoration, rehabilitation and

environment cost - 47,148 181,523 251,286
Obligations in relation to early

retirement scheme 1,506 3,402 4,201 4,486
Tax payable 60,706 - 16,980 122,570

5,822,236 3,858,688 3,771,236 3,432,235

Net current liabilities (889,662) (1,023,317) (1,618,588)  (400,883)

Total assets less current liabilities 16,209,168 16,610,440 16,182,598 17,317,218
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Note

Non-current liabilities
Other payables
Obligations in relation to early
retirement scheme
Bank loans, secured
Deferred tax liabilities

Net assets

Representing:

Registered capital 28
Reserves 29

Total equity

As at

As at 31 December 30 June

2017 2018 2019 2020
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
58,365 63,329 - -
6,242 11,119 13,396 12,180
6,930,000 5,960,000 4,898,800 4,998,800
105,783 96,413 105,672 85,091
7,100,390 6,130,861 5,017,868 5,096,671
9,108,778 10,479,579 11,164,730 12,220,547
5,400,000 5,400,000 5,400,000 5,400,000
3,708,778 5,079,579 5,764,730 6,820,547
9,108,778 10,479,579 11,164,730 12,220,547

—II-A-9 -



APPENDIX II AUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF
TARGET GROUP AND TARGET ASSETS

(D) Consolidated statements of changes in equity

Registered Statutory Retained  Non-controlling
capital reserve earnings interests Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
At 1.1.2017 5,400,000 177,934 1,859,608 - 7,437,542
Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year - - 1,680,915 - 1,680,915
Appropriation - 141,965 (141,965) - -
At 31.12.2017 and 1.1.2018 5,400,000 319,899 3,398,558 - 9,118,457
Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year - - 1,370,955 - 1,370,955
Appropriation - 131,105 (131,105) - -
At 31.12.2018 and 1.1.2019 5,400,000 451,004 4,638,408 - 10,489,412
Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year - - 2,386,186 48 2,386,234
Dividend declared - note 11 - - (1,696,000) - (1,696,000)
Appropriation - 224,019 (224,019) - -
Capital contribution by
non-controlling interests - - - 14,700 14,700
At 31.12.2019 and 1.1.2020 5,400,000 675,023 5,104,575 14,748 11,194,346
Profit and total comprehensive
income for the period - - 1,059,563 18 1,059,581
At 30.6.2020 5,400,000 675,023 6,164,138 14,766 12,253,927
(Unaudited)
At 1.1.2019 5,400,000 451,004 4,638,408 - 10,489,412
Profit and total comprehensive
income for the period - - 1,100,951 - 1,100,951
Capital contribution by
non-controlling interests - - - 14,700 14,700
At30.6.2019 5,400,000 451,004 5,739,359 14,700 11,605,063
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(E) Consolidated statements of cash flows

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
Note RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
(unaudited)
Cash flows from operating
activities
Profit before income tax 1,980,894 1,612,119 2,821,471 1,297,782 1,227,871
Adjustments for:
Amortisation 152,787 160,944 177,162 82,243 94,519
Depreciation 741,761 775,596 873,367 425,051 457,367
Depreciation of right-of-use
assets - - 4,945 2,472 2,472
Loss on disposal of
property, plant and
equipment - - - - 112
Interest on lease liabilities 41,875 17,876 4,392 2,196 2,190
Bank interest income (12,703) (4,781) (15,305) (5,148) (9,103)
Interest received from
entrusted loan to parent
and ultimate controlling
company (73,895) (60,321) (53,905) (30,078) (12,035)
Interest expense 435,186 437,172 361,769 187,000 150,597
Operating profit before working
capital changes 3,265905 2,938,605 4,173,896 1,961,518 1,913,990
Changes in working capital:
Inventories (90,171) 37,724 (48,010) (85,496)  (152,878)
Trade and bills receivables (2,402,988) 2,017,743 347,596 (191,270) (35,222)
Prepayments and other
receivables 245,456 56,762 1,104,633 1,034,849 (230,603)
Trade payables 60,528 (278,173)  (175,883)  (192,589) 107,741
Contract liabilities - 98,727 (3,519) (98,351) 90,605
Accruals and other payables (519,726) (2,246,719)  (1,149,320)  (536,569) (59,860)
Cash generated from
operations 559,004 2,624,609 4249393 1,892,092 1,633,773
Interest received 12,703 4,781 15,305 1,089 9,103
Income tax paid (265,492)  (312,602)  (424,208)  (201,026) (67,344)
Net cash generated from
operating activities 306,215 2,316,788 3,840,490 1,692,155 1,575,532
Cash flows from investing
activities
Interest income 78,328 63,940 57,139 31,754 6,524
Proceed from disposal of
property, plant and
equipment - - - - 192
Repayment from holding
company 900,000 - 800,000 - -
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Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
Note RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
(unaudited)
Refund of deposits 411,353 - - - -
Increase in investment in
securities (40,000) (88,000)  (130,530) - -
Loan to a third party - - - - (80,000)
Loan to a related party (500,000) - - - (60,000)
Deposits for purchase of
property, plant and
equipment - - - - (8,876)
Increase in restricted cash - (111,387) (67,734) - (3,091)
Payments for acquisition of
property, plant and
equipment (848,143)  (1,091,662)  (930,754) (78,371)  (497,605)
Net cash from/(used in)
investing activities 1,538 (1,227,109)  (271,879) (46,617)  (642,856)
Cash flows from financing
activities
Proceeds from new bank loans 5,575,600 1,170,000 540,000 540,000 300,000
Proceeds from discounted bill
receivable 247,396 1,391,882 - - -
Repayment of bank loans (4,840,600)  (3,100,000) (1,640,000)  (970,000)  (801,200)
Contribution by
non-controlling interests - - 14,700 14,700 -
Refund of finance lease
deposits - - 10,000 - -
Dividend paid - - (1,696,000) - -
Payment on finance lease (686,002)  (345,846) - - (70,767)
Interest paid (438,481)  (426,358)  (362,531)  (187,000)  (153,016)
Net cash used in financing
activities (142,087)  (1,310,322) (3,133,831)  (602,300)  (724,983)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents 165,666 (220,643) 434780 1,043,238 207,693
Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year/
period 354,406 520,072 299,429 299,429 734,209
Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year/period 20 520,072 299,429 734209 1,342,667 941,902
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II. NOTES TO THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Shaanxi Future Energy & Chemicals Co., Ltd. (the “Target Company”) is a limited liability company
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The registered address of the Target Company is
located at North District of Yuheng Coal Chemical Industrial Park, Qianhe Town, Yuyang District, Yulin City,
Shaanxi Province.

The principal activity of the Target Company is the production and sales of chemical products, oil and coal.
The Target Company and its subsidiaries (the “Target Group”) are principally engaged in production of chemical
raw materials. There has been no significant change in the Target Group’s principal activities during the Relevant
Periods.

In the opinion of directors of the Target Company (the “Directors”), as of the date of this report, the parent
and ultimate controlling company of the Target Company is Yankuang Group Company Limited, a company
established in the PRC and wholly owned by the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission
of the People’s Government of Shandong Province of the PRC.

2. ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The following IFRSs in issue at 30 June 2020 have not been applied in the preparation of these

consolidated financial statements since they were not yet effective for the annual period beginning on 1 January
2020:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19 — Related Rent Concession>

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current!

Amendments to IAS 16 Proceeds before Intended*

Amendments to IAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract*

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework*

Amendments to IFRS 10 and TAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018 — 2020 Cycle*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

B W

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Basis of preparation

The Historical Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), which
comprise all standards and interpretations approved by the IASB. The Historical Financial Information has
been prepared under the historical costs convention except for certain financial instruments, which are
stated at fair value.
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3.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a)  New and amended standards adopted by the Target Group

A number of new and amended standards became applicable for the reporting period
commencing on 1 January 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020. The Target Group had to change its
accounting policies and make modified retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting the

following standards:

Amendments to IFRS 12

Amendments to IAS 7
Amendments to IAS 12

IFRS 9
IFRS 15

Amendments to IFRS 1
and TIAS 28
Amendments to IFRS 2

Amendments to IFRS 4

Amendments to IFRS 15
Amendments to IAS 40
IFRIC 22

IFRS 16

Amendments to Annual
Improvements Project

Amendments to IFRS 9

Amendments to IAS 19
Amendments to TAS 28
IFRIC 23

Amendments to IFRS 3
(Revised)

Amendments to IAS 1
(Revised) and TAS 8

Amendments to IAS 39,
IFRS 7 and IFRS 9

Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018

Annual improvements 2014-2016
cycle
Disclosure initiative

Recognition of deferred tax assets for

unrealized losses

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contract with
Customers

Annual improvements 2014-2016
cycle

Classification and measurement of
share-based payment transactions
Applying IFRS 9 financial instruments

with IFRS 4 insurance contracts

Clarifications to IFRS 15

Transfers to investment property

Foreign currency transactions and
advance consideration

Leases

Annual improvements 2015-2017
cycle

Prepayment features with negative
compensation

Plan amendment, curtailment or
settlement

Long-term interests in associates and

joint ventures

Uncertainty over income tax
treatments

Definition of a business

Definition of material
Interest rate benchmark reform

Revised conceptual framework for
financial reporting

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on
or after

1 January 2017

1 January 2017
1 January 2017

1 January 2018
1 January 2018

1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018

1 January 2018

1 January 2019
1 January 2019

1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2020
1 January 2020
1 January 2020

1 January 2020

The Target Group has assessed the impact of adopting these new standards and
amendments. According to the preliminary assessment, these standards are not expected to
have a material impact on the Target Group’s operating results and financial position.
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3.1.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

This note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and IFRS 15
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers” on the Target Group’s Historical Financial Information
since 1 January 2018, as well as the impact of adoption of IFRS 16 “Leases” since 1 January 2019.

(i) IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

IFRS 9 replaces the provisions of IAS 39 that relate to the recognition, classification
and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial
instruments, impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. The Target Group has
applied IFRS 9 retrospectively to financial instruments that have not been derecognised at the
date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018) in accordance with the transition provisions
under IFRS 9, and chosen not to restate comparative information. Differences in the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities on initial application are recognised in
retained earnings and other components of equity as at 1 January 2018.

The Target Group’s accounting policies for the classification and measurement of
financial instruments and the impairment of financial assets are disclosed in detail in note 3.18
below.

Classification and measurement of financial instruments

The Directors reviewed and assessed its existing financial assets and liabilities as at 1
January 2018 based on the facts and circumstances that existed at that date and concluded that
the initial application of IFRS 9 has had the following impact on its financial assets and
liabilities as regards their classification and measurement:

(a)  Unlisted equity investments previously classified as available-for-sale investments at
cost less impairment

For available-for-sale equity investments amounting to approximately RMB80,000,000
carried at cost less impairment as at 31 December 2017, the Target Group has not elected the
option for designation at fair value through other comprehensive income and reclassified them
to financial assets at fair value through profit or loss upon initial application of IFRS 9.

Upon adoption of IFRSY9 on 1 January 2018, the carrying amount of the equity
investments did not deviate from its fair value significantly and therefore had no impact to the
consolidated profit or loss and financial position of the Target Group as at that date.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities continue to be measured on the same
bases as are previously measured under IAS 39.

Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”)

The adoption of IFRS 9 has changed the Target Group’s accounting for
impairment losses for financial assets by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss model with a
forward-looking expected credit loss (“ECL”) model. As at 1 January 2018, the
Directors reviewed and assessed the Target Group’s existing financial assets and other
items subject to ECL for impairment using reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort in accordance with the requirement of IFRS 9.
The adoption of the ECL requirements under IFRS 9 had no significant impact to the
Target Group’s financial statements.
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Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 9

The table below summarises the original measurement categories under IAS 39
and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the Target Group’s
financial assets and financial liabilities and reconciles the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities under IAS 39 to the carrying amounts under IFRS 9 on 1
January 2018.

Carrying Carrying
amount at 31 Adoption of amount at 1
December 2017 IFRS 9 - January 2018
(IAS 39) Reclassification (IFRS 9)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Financial assets
Available-for-sale
investments
— unlisted equity
securities 80,000 (80,000) -
FVTPL
— unlisted equity
securities - 80,000 80,000

(ii) IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

IFRS 15 superseded IAS 11 “Construction Contracts”, IAS 18 “Revenue” and related
interpretations and it applies to all revenue arising from contracts with customers, unless those
contracts are in the scope of other standards. The new standard established a five-step model
for determining whether how much and when revenue is recognised. The Target Group has
elected to adopt the modified retrospective approach for contracts with customers that are not
completed as at the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018) with the cumulative effect
of initially applying IFRS 15 as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings and
comparative information is not restated. Accordingly, certain comparative information may not
be comparable as comparative information was prepared under IAS 18 “Revenue”. Details are
described below.

The Directors are of the opinion that the adoption of IFRS 15 has no impact on the
timing of revenue recognition of the Target Group.

The Target Group’s accounting policies for its revenue streams are disclosed in detail in
note 3.5 below.

The amount of adjustment for each financial statement line item of the consolidated
statement of financial position at 1 January 2018 affected by the application of IFRS 15 is
illustrated below. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been included.

Carrying
amount Impact on Carrying
previously adoption of amount as
reported at 31 IFRS 15 - restated at 1
December 2017  Reclassification January 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Accruals and other payables 1,321,498 (14,551) 1,306,947
Contract liabilities - 14,551 14,551
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Advances received from customers

As at 1 January 2018, the “receipts in advance” of RMB14,551,000 previously included
in other payables and accruals was reclassified to contract liabilities.

Disclosure of the estimated impact on the amounts reported in respect of the year ended
31 December 2018 as a result of the adoption of IFRS on 1 January 2018

The following table summarises the estimated impact of applying IFRS 15 on the
statement of financial position at 31 December 2018, by comparing the amounts reported under
IAS 18 and related interpretations that were in effect before the change. Line items that were
not affected by the adjustments have not been included. The adoption of IFRS 15 did not have
material impact on the Target Group’s operating, investing and financing cash flows.

Impact on the statement of financial position at 31 December 2018

Amounts

excluding

Impact on impacts of

adoption of adopting

As reported IFRS 15 IFRS 15
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Accruals and other payables 573,617 98,727 672,344
Contract liabilities 98,727 (98,727) -

(iii) IFRS 16 “Leases”

IFRS 16 introduces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. It
introduces significant changes to the lessee accounting by removing the distinction between
operating lease and finance lease and requiring the recognition of right-of-use asset and a lease
liability for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets. In contrast
to lessee accounting, the requirements for lessor accounting have remained largely unchanged.
Details of these new accounting policies are described in note 3.12. Comparative information
has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17 “Leases”.

On transition to IFRS 16, the Target Group elected to apply the practical expedient to
grandfather the assessment of which arrangements are, or contain, leases. It applied IFRS 16
only to contracts that were previously identified as leases. Contracts that were not identified as
leases under TAS 17 and IFRIC-4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”
were not reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a lease under IFRS 16 has been applied only
to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.

The Target Group as lessee
Operating lease

On adoption of IFRS 16, the Target Group recognised lease liabilities in relation
to leases which had previously been classified as ’operating leases’ under the principles
of IAS 17 “Leases” (except for lease of low value assets and lease with remaining lease
term of twelve months or less). These liabilities were measured at present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as
of 1 January 2019. The adoption of IFRS 16 did not have material impact on the Target
Group’s financial statements as it did not have any operating lease arrangements.
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Finance lease

For finance leases, the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset and the lease
liability at 1 January 2019 were determined at the carrying amount of the leased asset
and lease liability under IAS 17 immediately before that date. Accordingly, the
obligation under finance leases previously included in borrowings are now included
within lease liabilities. There is no impact on the opening balance of equity.

The following table summarises the impact of the transition to IFRS 16 at 1
January 2019. Line items that were not affected by the adjustments have not been

included.

Carrying
amount Carrying
previously Impact on amount as
reported at 31 adoption of restated at 1
December 2018 IFRS 16 January 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Right-of-use assets - 37,087 37,087
Property, plant and equipment 14,251,785 (37,087) 14,214,698
Lease liabilities - 63,329 63,329
Accruals and other payables 573,617 (63,329) 510,288

3.1.3 Adoption of the going concern basis

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Target Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern has been assessed. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by
the Directors on a going concern basis notwithstanding that the Target Group had net current
liabilities of approximately RMB830,389,000, RMB963,836,000, RMB1,542,700,000 and
RMB338,880,000 at 31 December, 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020, respectively. The
Directors are of the opinion that the Target Group will have sufficient funds to meet its financial
obligations when they fall due in the foreseeable future taking into account of the unutilised banking
facilities available to the Target Group. The Directors are of the opinion that the Target Group is able
to continue as a going concern and it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis.

Should the Target Group be unable to continue in business as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to restate the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively and
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise.

3.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Target Company and
entities controlled by the Target Company and its subsidiaries. If a subsidiary prepares its financial
statements using accounting policies other than those adopted in the consolidated financial statements for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s
financial statements in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity with the Target
Group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Target Group has: (i) the power over the investee; (ii) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power over
the investee to affect the amount of the Target Group’s returns. When the Target Group has less than a
majority of the voting rights of an investee, power over the investee may be obtained through: (i) a
contractual arrangement with other vote holders; (ii) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; (iii)
the Target Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights; or (iv) a combination of the above, based on all
relevant facts and circumstances.
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The Target Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Target Group obtains control of the subsidiary and
ceases when the Target Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Target Group gains control until the date when the Target Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income of subsidiaries are attributed to the
owners of the Target Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Target Company and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between entities of the Target Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

3.3 Business combination

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Target Group, liabilities incurred by the Target
Group to former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Target Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs incurred to effect a business combination are recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the
business combination are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes;

- assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with IAS 19 Employee Benefits;

- liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree or
the replacement of the acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with the share-based
payment transactions of the Target Group are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy below);

- assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance
with that standard; and

- lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments as if the
acquired lease was a new lease at the acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low value.
Right-of-use assets are measured at an amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Target Group’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration transferred,
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the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by another standards, are measured at acquisition-date
fair value except for non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation are measured either at fair value
or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

Where the consideration transferred by the Target Group in a business combination includes assets or
liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at
its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period
adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments being made against goodwill.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the
measurement period about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. Measurement
period cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounting for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset
or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value with corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Target Group’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Target Group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are recognised on the same basis as would be
required if the Target Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period
in which the combination occurs, the Target Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement
period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised as of that date.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill
are initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

(i) Mining reserves

Mining reserves represent the portion of total proven and probable reserves in the mine.
Mining reserves are amortised over the life of the mine on a unit of production basis of the estimated
total proven and probable reserves. Changes in the annual amortisation rate resulting from changes in
the remaining reserves are applied on a prospective basis from the commencement of the next
financial year.
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(ii)  Mining resources

Mining resources represent the fair value of economically recoverable reserves (excluding the
portion of total proven and probable reserves of a mining right i.e. does not include the above mining
reserves) of a mining right (Details are set out in the accounting policy of exploration and evaluation
expenditure). When production commences, the mining resources for the relevant areas of interest are
amortised over the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable
reserves.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each separately
identifiable area of interest which is at individual mine level.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure comprises costs that are directly attributable to:
- Researching and analysing existing exploration data;

- Conducting geological studies, exploratory drilling and sampling;

- Examining and testing extraction and treatments methods; and/or

- Compiling pre-feasibility and feasibility studies.

These costs include employee remuneration, materials and fuel used, rig costs and payments
made to contractors.

Exploration expenditure relates to the initial search for deposits with economic potential.
Expenditure on exploration activity is not capitalised.

Evaluation expenditure relates to a detailed assessment of deposits or other projects that have
been identified as having economic potential. Capitalisation of evaluation expenditure commences
when there is a high degree of confidence that the Target Group will determine that a project is
commercially viable, i.e. the project will provide a satisfactory return relative to its perceived risks,
and therefore it is considered probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Target Group.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each separately
identifiable area of interest which is at individual mine level. These costs are only carried forward
where the right of tenure for the area of interest is current and to the extent that they are expected to
be recouped through successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the
area, or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage which permits reasonable assessment
of the existence of economically recoverable reserves and active and significant operations in, or in
relation to, the area of interest are continuing.

The carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets is assessed for impairment when
facts or circumstances suggest the carrying amount of the assets may exceed their recoverable
amount.

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of
continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest. Accumulated costs in relation to
an abandoned area are written-off in full in the period in which the decision to abandon the area is
made.

Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure considered to be tangible is recorded as a
component of property, plant and equipment. Otherwise, it is recorded as an intangible asset.
Exploration and evaluation expenditure acquired in a business combination are recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date (the fair value of potential economically recoverable reserves at the
acquisition date which is shown as “Mining resources”).
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Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources
in an area of interest are demonstrable (i.e. when proved reserves of coal are determined and
development is approved by management), the exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that
area of interest are first tested for impairment and then reclassified to mining reserves or property,
plant and equipment. When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of
interest are amortised over the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically
recoverable reserves.

On reclassification, the carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation assets are also
reviewed and, where appropriate, written down to their recoverable amount.

3.4 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At each reporting date, the Target Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets and
intangible assets with finite useful life to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset (determined
at the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use) is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life will be tested for
impairment annually. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately. Where an
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but such that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as an income
immediately. For the purposes of impairment testing, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Assessment is performed for each area of interest in conjunction
with the group of operating assets (representing a cash generating unit) to which the Target Group’s activity
is attributed.

3.5 Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or

services.

Specifically, the Target Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

The Target Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligations is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially same.
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Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

° The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Target
Group’s performance as the Target Group performs;

° The Target Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced; or

° The Target Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Target
Group and the Target Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to

date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct
goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer, excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Target Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Target Group has received consideration from the customer.

The Target Group recognised revenue from the following major sources:

° Sales of goods (including coal, methanol and equipment manufacturing)

° Provision of services (including coal railway transportation, electricity and heat supply)
Sales of goods

Revenue from sale of coal, methanol and equipment manufacturing is recognised at the point
when the control of the goods is transferred to the customers (generally on delivery of the goods to
the location specified by the customers and accepted by the customers). It is a point of time where
the customer has the ability to direct the use of the products and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits of the products.

3.6 Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are
expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is derecognised.

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.
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An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development expenditure is recognised
only if it is anticipated that the development costs incurred on a clearly-defined project will be
recovered through future commercial activity. The resultant asset is amortised on a straight line basis
over its useful life. Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised only
when the Target Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete
the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill
are initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

3.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets), other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings

For payments of ownership interest of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire property is presented as property, plant and equipment of the Target
Group when the payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold land and building
elements.

To the extend the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” (upon
application of IFRS 16) or “prepaid lease payments” (before application IFRS 16) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment,
other than construction in progress and freehold land, over their estimated useful lives and after
taking into account their estimated residual value, using the straight line method or unit of production

method.

Estimated Estimated
Category useful life residual values
Buildings 20 — 30 years 0-3%
Machinery 10 — 20 years 0-3%
Transportation 4 — 8 years 0-3%
Other equipments 3 — 10 years 0%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at the end of each reporting periods.

Any gain or loss arising on the disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is

determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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3.8 Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents production site development projects under construction for
production or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any impairment loss.
Costs included costs of constructing the manufacturing plant and acquisition of mining rights, mining
permits and licenses that form an integral part of the overall development projects. Construction in progress
is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment or intangible assets when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation or amortisation commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

3.9 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institution and short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. For the preparation of consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents
include bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Target Group’s
cash management.

3.10 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, which comprises direct
materials and, where applicable, direct labour and overheads that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition, is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all further costs to completion and costs to be
incurred in selling, marketing and distribution.

Inventories of auxiliary materials, spare parts and small tools expected to be used in production are
stated at weighted average cost less allowance, if necessary, for obsolescence.

3.11 Taxation
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal
authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting date. They are
calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based
on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a
component of tax expense in profit or loss.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year/period. Taxable profit differs from
profit before tax as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Target Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences at the reporting date between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised
for all deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other unused
tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and
unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill

or from initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Target Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset realised. Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in profit or loss,
or in other comprehensive income or directly in equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either (i) the same taxable entity; or (ii) different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

3.12 Leasing
Definition of a lease

Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the
use of an identifiable asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Target Group as lessee

The Target Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the
contract. The Target Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with
respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the
Target Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Target Group measures lease liability at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Target Group uses its

incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

° fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;
° variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the

index or rate at the commencement date;
° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the
options; and
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° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Target
Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
asset) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances
resulting in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using revised
discount rate.

° the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate
(unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which
case a revised discount rate is used).

° A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a
separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability,
lease payments made at or before the commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease
incentives received. Whenever the Target Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and
remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, provision is recognised and measured
under IAS 37 “Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. The costs are included in the
related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

They are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset
reflects that the Target Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement
date of the lease.

The Target Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

The Target Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment loss.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Target Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on

the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.
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As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and
instead account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The
Target Group hasused this practical expedient for all leases.

Lease modification
The Target Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

° the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the
stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that
stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate lease, the Target Group
remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

3.13 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Target Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot
be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain events not wholly within the control of the
Target Group are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

3.14 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

All other borrowing costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.
3.15 Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Target Group will
comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which

the Target Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Target Group should purchase, construct

—II-A-28 -



APPENDIX II AUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF
TARGET GROUP AND TARGET ASSETS

or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement of
financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of
the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Target Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

3.16 Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution plans including included state-managed retirement benefit schemes
and superannuation funds are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

3.17 Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave are
included in other payables and accrued expenses. Related on-costs are also included in other payables and
accrued expenses as other creditors. Long service leave is provided for when it is probable that settlement
will be required and it is capable of being measured reliably.

Employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months are measured using the remuneration rate
expected to apply at the time of settlement. Provisions made in respect of employee benefits which are not
expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash
outflows to be made by the Target Group in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date.

3.18 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position when the Target Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value, except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised
cost or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are

classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, FVTOCI and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Target Group’s business model for managing them.

—II-A-29 -



APPENDIX II AUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF
TARGET GROUP AND TARGET ASSETS

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised cost if both of the following
conditions are met:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amoritsed cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest
method and are subject to impairment.

(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt
instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e.
assets that are credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial
recognition. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective
interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit
losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured
at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount,
adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost
of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other than purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the “Other income” line item
(note 5).

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI
On initial recognition, the Target Group may make an irrevocable election (on an
instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI.

Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination.
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Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the equity investments, instead, they will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Target Group’s right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “Other income” line
item in profit or loss.

Financial asset at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
are measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

° Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Target Group
designates an equity investment that is neither held for trading nor a contingent
consideration arising from a business combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition.

° Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are
classified as at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost
criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition
if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the
gains and losses on them on different bases. The Target Group has not designated any
debt instruments as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a
designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “Other income” line item.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

° on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the
Target Group manages together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a
designated and effective hedging instrument).

Impairment of financial assets

The Target Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt
instruments that are measured at amortised cost as well as financial guarantee contracts. The amount
of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Target Group always recognises lifetime ECL for bills and accounts receivables. The
expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Target Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.
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For all other financial instruments, the Target Group measures the loss allowance equal to
12-month ECL, unless when there has a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Target Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Target Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Target Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular
debtor, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or

technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Target Group presumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Target Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Target Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Target Group considers a financial asset
to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of ’investment grade’ in accordance
with the globally understood definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of ’performing’. Performing means that the counterparty has a strong financial position
and there is no past due amounts.
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For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Target Group becomes a party to the
irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of
assessing the financial instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a financial guarantee contract, the Target Group
considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Target Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

Definition of default
The Target Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit
risk management purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:
° when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or
° information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Target Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the Target Group).
Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on

the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the

borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Target Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over 4 years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Target Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss

given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
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forward-looking information. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the
exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any additional
amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default date determined based on historical
trend, the Target Group’s understanding of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and
other relevant forward-looking information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Target Group in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Target Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Target Group is required to make payments only in
the event of a default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed,
the expected loss allowance is the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Target Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any
other party.

If the Target Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Target Group measures the loss allowance
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Target Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Target Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Target Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the
Target Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it
may have to pay. If the Target Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Target Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss. On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Target Group has
elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method or at FVTPL.
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3.19

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any gains or losses arising on
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a designated
hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid
on the financial liabilities and is included in the ‘other incomes’ line item in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination, 2) held-for-trading, or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter
period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by a group entity are initially measured at their fair values
and, if not designated as at FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of a financial asset, are
subsequently measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9; and

° the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Target Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Target Group’s
obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities of the Target Group are offset and the net amount presented in
the consolidated statement of financial position when, and only when, there is a legally enforceable
right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Target Group’s leasing transactions, net realisable value of

inventories and value-in-use of intangible assets, prepaid lease payments, property, plant and equipment and
construction in progress for the purpose of impairment assessment, the Target Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
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A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Target Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically, the Target Group categorised the fair value
measurements into three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Target Group determines whether transfer occur between
levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring
basis by reviewing their respective fair value measurement.

3.20 Overburden in advance

Overburden in advance comprises mining stripping (waste removal) costs both during the
development and production phase of the Target Group’s operations.

When stripping costs are included in the development phase of a mine before the production phase
commences (development stripping). Such expenditure is capitalised as part of the cost of constructing the
mine if it can be demonstrated that it is probable that future economic benefits will be realised, the costs
can be reliably measured and the entity can identify the component of the ore body for which access has
been improved. The stripping assets are subsequently amortised over its useful life using a units of
production method, in accordance with the policy applicable to mine properties. The capitalisation of
development stripping costs ceases when the mine/component is commissioned and ready for use as
intended by management. Waste development costs incurred in the production phase creates two benefits,
being either the production of inventory or improved access to the ore to be mined in the future. Where the
benefits are realised in the form of inventory produced in the period, the production stripping costs are
accounted for as part of the cost of producing those inventories. Where production stripping costs are
incurred and the benefit is improved access to ore to be mined in the future, the costs are recognised as a
stripping activity asset in mine properties.

If the costs of the inventory produced and the stripping asset are not separately identifiable, the
allocation is undertaken based on waste-to-ore stripping ratio for the particular ore component concerned. If
mining of waste in a period occurs in excess of the expected life-of-component average waste-to-ore strip
ratio, the excess is recognised as part of the stripping asset. Where mining occurs at or below the expected
life-of-component stripping ratio in a period, the entire production stripping cost is allocated to the cost of
the ore inventory produced.

Amortisation is provided using the units-of-production method over the life of the identified
component of ore body. The units-of-production method results in an amortisation charge proportional to the
depletion of the economically recoverable mineral resources (comprising proven and probable reserves).

Stripping costs that do not satisfy the asset recognition criteria are expensed.

3.21 Land subsidence, restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs

One consequence of coal mining is land subsidence caused by the resettlement of the land above the

underground mining sites. Depending on the circumstances, the Target Group may relocate inhabitants from

the land above the underground mining sites prior to mining those sites or the Target Group may
compensate the inhabitants for losses or damages from land subsidence after the underground sites have
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been mined. The Target Group may also be required to make payments for restoration, rehabilitation or
environmental protection of the land after the underground sites have been mined. An estimate of such costs
is recognised in the period in which the obligation is identified and is charged as an expense in proportion
to the coal extracted. At each statement of financial position date, the Target Group adjusts the estimated
costs in accordance with the actual land subsidence status. The provision is also adjusted for changes in
estimates. Those adjustments are accounted for as a change in the corresponding capitalised cost, except
where a reduction in the provision is greater than the undepreciated capitalised cost of any related assets, in
which case the capitalised cost is reduced to nil and remaining adjustment is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Changes to the capitalised cost result in an adjustment to future depreciation and
financial charges.

3.22 Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives, after taking into account the estimated residual value if any. The Target Group reviews the
estimated useful lives and basis of depreciation of property, plant and equipment regularly in order to
determine the amount of depreciation expenses to be recorded during any reporting period. The useful
lives and basis of depreciation are based on the Target Group’s historical experience with similar
assets and take into account anticipated technological changes. The depreciation expenses for future
periods are adjusted prospectively if there are significant changes from previous estimates.

(ii)  Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. These
estimates are based on the current market conditions, technology changes and the historical
experience of selling products with similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer preference or competitor actions. The Target Group reassesses these estimates at the end
of each reporting period.

(iii) Impairment of trade receivables and other receivables

Impairment of trade receivables and other receivables is made based on assessment of their
recoverability. The identification of impairment of trade receivables and other receivables requires
management’s judgment and estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different
from the original estimate, such differences will impact the carrying value of the receivables and
impairment loss or reversal of impairment in the period in which such an estimate has been changed.

(iv)  Current and deferred income taxes

The Target Group is subject to income taxes in Mainland China. Judgements and estimations
are required in determining the provision for income taxes for certain transactions (including
inter-company transactions) and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current income tax and deferred income tax provisions in
the periods in which such determinations are made.
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Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and tax losses are
recognised as management considers it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the expectation is different from
the original estimate, such differences will impact the recognition of deferred income tax assets and
taxation in the periods in which such estimate is changed.

(v)  Provision for land subsidence, restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs

The provision (note 25) is reviewed regularly to verify that it properly reflects the remaining
obligation arising from the current and past mining activities. Provision for land subsidence,
restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs are determined by the management based on their
best estimates of the current and future costs, latest government policies and past experience.

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION AND REVENUE

During the Relevant Periods, the Target Group’s revenue was generated form production and trading of coal
and other chemical products in the PRC. The Target Group sells goods directly to customers, normally within a 30
days credit period. Management monitors the operating results as a whole for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment. Accordingly, no operating segment information is
presented. An analysis of revenue of the Target Group is as follows:

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Revenue from contracts with
customers within the scope of
IFRS 15
Sales of coal 4,493,689 4,156,035 5,254,013 2,329,197 2,799,002
Sales of coal chemical products 1,956,223 2,405,971 3,481,315 1,703,386 1,208,346
Sales of other chemical products 65,075 - - - 136,120

6,514,987 6,562,006 8,735,328 4,032,583 4,143,468

Revenue from other sources

Sales of materials 2,633 1,382 11,276 67 12,440
Rental income 610 422 360 - 180
Sales of waste materials 911 1,087 5,006 217 58

6,519,141 6,564,897 8,751,970 4,032,867 4,156,146

Disaggregated by

timing of revenue recognition

Over time 610 422 360 - 180
At a point in time 6,518,531 6,564,475 8,751,610 4,032,867 4,155,966

6,519,141 6,564,897 8,751,970 4,032,867 4,156,146

4.1 GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

All of the Target Group’s revenue were generated in the PRC. All of the Target Group’s non-current assets
are located in the PRC.
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4.2 REVENUE FROM MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Revenue from customers of the Relevant Periods contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Target
Group are as follows:

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Customer A N/A 1,677,928 N/A N/A N/A

N/A: Not applicable as revenue generated by the customer is less than 10% of the Target Group’s revenue
for the Relevant Periods.

5. OTHER INCOME

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Bank interest income 12,703 4,781 15,305 5,148 9,103
Interest received from entrusted
loan to parent and ultimate
controlling company 73,895 60,321 53,905 30,078 12,035
Government grants (note) 180 1,655 2,802 100 768
Commission income - - 1,189 - 2
Penalties income 6,875 3,354 9,464 5,226 1,591
Sundry revenue 53 — 8,230 — 513
93,706 70,111 90,895 40,552 24,012

Note: The Target Group obtained funding supports from various departments of the PRC Government. The
purpose of the fundings is mainly the incentive to maintain employment stability and development.

6. FINANCE COSTS

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(unaudited)

Bank loan interest expense 430,921 424,554 357,218 187,000 149,419
Interest on lease liabilities 41,875 17,876 4,392 2,196 2,190
Bank charges 93 136 117 90 171
Guarantee fees — — 34,091 17,045 19,802
Other 4,265 12,618 4,551 - 1,178
477,154 455,184 400,369 206,331 172,760
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7. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging:

(a) Staff costs
Salaries and other benefits
Staff welfare
Defined contribution
retirement plan
contributions

(b) Net gain of disposal of
plant and equipment
Sales proceeds
Less: Net book value of
property, plant and
equipment

(c¢) Other items:
Amortisation
Cost of inventories sold
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use
assets

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current tax
Provision for the year/period

Deferred tax

Charge/(credit) for the year/
period
— note 27

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)

236,663 275,049 316,612 134,918 163,646
51,510 62,275 67,337 28,930 31,530
84,528 96,294 95,018 50,823 48,941

372,701 433,618 478,967 214,671 244,117

- - - - (192)

- - - - 304

_ — — — 112
152,787 160,944 177,162 82,243 94,519
3,876,637 4,362,666 5,337,437 2,433,850 2,686,002
741,761 775,596 873,367 425,051 457,367
_ - 4,945 2,472 2,472

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
327,899 250,534 426,512 200,687 188,551
(27,920) (9,370) 8,725 (3,856) (20,261)
299,979 241,164 435,237 196,831 168,290
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Income tax provision of the Target Group in respect of operations in the PRC has been calculated at the
applicable tax rate on the estimated assessable profits for the Relevant Periods, based on the existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

The National People’s Congress approved the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “New CIT Law”)
on 16 March 2007 and the State Council has announced the Detailed Implementation Regulations on 6 December
2007, which has been effective since 1 January 2008. According to the New CIT Law, the income tax rates for
both domestic and foreign investment enterprises are unified at 25% effective from 1 January 2008.

According to the “Notice on publicizing the list of the first batch of high-tech enterprises to be recognised
in Shannxi Provicne in 2018 Shaanxi Gaoqi banfa [2018] No. 1 published on October 19, 2018, Target Company
was recognised as High-tech enterprise.

According to the “Several Options of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China and the State
Council on Deepening the implementation of the Western Development Strategy (Zhongfu [2010] No. 11), the
“The Announcement of the State Administration of Taxation on Issues of Enterprise Income Tax concerning
In-depth Implementation of Western Region Development Strategy (State Administration of Taxation
Announcement No.12 [2012])” and other related documents, in line with the conditions of preferential policies for
industries encouraged by the Western Development. The Target Company chooses to apply preferential policies for
the Western Development Program, and the corporate income tax rate is 15%.

According to the “Notice on Implementing the Inclusive Tax Deduction and Exemption policies for Micro
and Small Enterprises issued by Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation” (Cai Shui [2019]
No. 13), the taxable income that does not exceed RMB 1 million is included in taxable income at a reduced rate
of 25%, and corporate income tax is paid at a tax rate of 20%; for the annual taxable income that exceeds RMB 1
million but not more than RMB 3 million, a reduction of 50% is included in the taxable income, and corporate
income tax is paid at a tax rate of 20%. The subsidiary of Target Group Shaanxi Future Clean Chemical Co., Ltd.
applies the above tax rates.

A reconciliation between income tax expense and profit before income tax at applicable tax rates is set out
below:

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Profit before income tax 1,980,894 1,612,119 2,821,471 1,297,782 1,227,871
Taxation at the applicable tax
rate 298,245 241,876 423,910 195,138 184,724
Tax effect of non-deductible
expenses 2,612 503 19,708 5,309 -
Tax effect non-taxable income - - - - (16,438)
Under-provision in prior year - - - - 4
Additional deduction under CIT
Law (878) (1,215) (8,381) (3,616) -
Income tax expense 299,979 241,164 435,237 196,831 168,290
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
@) Directors’ remuneration

The aggregate amounts of remuneration of directors of the Target Company during the Relevant
Periods and the six months ended 30 June 2019, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing The Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, are as follows:

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Fees - - - - -
Other emoluments:
Salaries and other benefits 685 848 1,850 245 275
Defined contribution
retirement plan
contributions 122 255 226 124 60
807 1,103 2,076 369 335

The names of the directors and their remuneration for the Relevant Periods and the six months ended
30 June 2019 are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2017
Defined
contribution
Salaries retirement
and other plan
Fees benefits contributions Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive Directors
Liu Jian (appointed on 20 April 2017) - - - -
Wang Fugqi - - - -
Zong Xinrui - - - -
Sun Qiwen - - - -
Luo Wanming - - - -
Yin Mingde - - - -
Zhu Qingrui (appointed on

29 November 2017) - - - -
Liu Huali — 685 122 807

— 685 122 807
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Year ended 31 December 2018
Defined
contribution
Salaries retirement
and other plan
Fees benefits contributions Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive Directors

Liu Jian - - - -
Wang Fuqi - - — _
Zong Xinrui - — - -
Sun Qiwen - - - -
Luo Wanming - - - -
Zhang Haijun (appointed on 10 June

2018) - - - -
Yin Mingde - - - -
Zhu Qingrui - 126 127 253
Liu Huali — 722 128 850

— 848 255 1,103

Year ended 31 December 2019
Defined
contribution
Salaries retirement
and other plan
Fees benefits contributions Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive Directors

Liu Jian - - - -
Wang Fuqi - - - -
Zong Xinrui - - - -
Sun Qiwen - - - -
Luo Wanming - - - -
Zhang Haijun - - - -

Yin Mingde - - - -
Zhu Qingrui - 908 113 1,021
Liu Huali - 942 113 1,055
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Six months ended 30 June 2019 (unaudited)

Defined
contribution
Salaries retirement
and other plan
Fees benefits contributions Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive Directors

Liu Jian - - - -
Wang Fuqi - - - -
Zong Xinrui - - - -
Sun Qiwen - - - -
Luo Wanming - - - -
Zhang Haijun - - - -

Yin Mingde - - - -
Zhu Qingrui - 115 62 177
Liu Huali — 130 62 192

— 245 124 369

Six months ended 30 June 2020

Defined
contribution
Salaries retirement
and other plan
Fees benefits contributions Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive Directors

Liu Jian - - - -
Wang Fuqi - - - -
Zong Xinrui - - - -
Sun Qiwen - - - -
Luo Wanming - - - -
Zhang Haijun - - - -
Yin Mingde - - - -
Liu Huali - - - -
Zhu Qingrui — 275 60 335

— 275 60 335

There was no arrangement under which a director or supervisor waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the Relevant Periods and the six months ended 30 June 2019. No emoluments were
paid by the Target Company to any of the directors or supervisors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Target Company or as compensation for loss of office.
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(ii)  Five highest paid employees

An analysis of the headcounts of the five highest paid employees within the Target Group for the
Relevant Periods and the six months ended 30 June 2019 is as follows:

Six months ended
Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
(unaudited)

Directors - 850 - - 335
Non-directors 5,189 3,994 5,956 1,221 1,360
5,189 4,844 5,956 1,221 1,695

Six months ended
Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
(unaudited)

Number of directors - 1 - - 1
Number of non-directors 5 4 5 5 4

Details of the remuneration of the non-directors are as follows:

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)

Salaries and other benefits 4,577 3,484 5,390 912 1,121

Defined contribution
retirement plan
contribution 612 510 566 309 239
5,189 3,994 5,956 1,221 1,360

Salaries of the highest paid employees, who are non-directors, fall within the band of nil to
HK$1,000,000

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE TARGET
COMPANY

No earnings per share information is presented for the purpose of this report as its inclusion is not
considered meaningful for the Relevant Periods.
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11. DIVIDENDS
The dividends declared by the Target Company to their then shareholders during the Relevant Periods were
as follows:
Six months ended
Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Dividends paid to then
shareholders - - 1,696,000 - -
12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Other  Construction
Buildings Machinery Transportation  equipments in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
For the six months ended
30 June 2020
Opening net book value 5,786,063 7,533,990 9,812 198,191 883,767 14,411,823
Additions - - - - 192,405 192,405
Transfer from right-of-use
assets - 29,670 - - - 29,670
Disposals - - (304) - - (304)
Depreciation (129,633) (294,621) (3,264) (29,849) - (457,367)
Closing net book value 5,656,430 7,269,039 6,244 168,342 1,076,172 14,176,227
At 30.6.2020
Cost 6,714,228 9,386,151 47,491 321,865 1,076,172 17,545,907
Aggregate depreciation (1,057,798) (2,117,112) (41,247) (153,523) - (3,369,680)
Net book value 5,656,430 7,269,039 6,244 168,342 1,076,172 14,176,227
For the year ended
31 December 2019
Opening net book value 5917,379 7,774,749 14,593 247,236 297,828 14,251,785
Additions - - - - 1,070,492 1,070,492
Transfer 120,495 344,935 6,993 12,130 (484,553) -
Transfer to right-of-use assets - (37,087) - - - (37,087)
Depreciation (251,811) (548,607) (11,774) (61,175) - (873,367)
Closing net book value 5,786,063 7,533,990 9,812 198,191 883,767 14,411,823
At 31.12.2019
Cost 6,714,228 9,336,702 48,200 321,865 883,767 17,304,762
Aggregate depreciation (928,165) (1,802,712) (38,388) (123,674) - (2,892,939)
Net book value 5,786,063 7,533,990 9,812 198,191 883,767 14,411,823
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Other  Construction
Buildings Machinery Transportation  equipments in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
For the year ended
31 December 2018

Opening net book value 5,337,642 8,454,654 18,765 41,463 173,239 14,025,763
Additions - - - - 1,005,478 1,005,478
Transfer 86,034 652,647 6,301 31,656 (776,638) -
Reclassification 807,067 (921,642) 1,236 217,590 (104,251) -
Other (3,860) - - - (3,860)
Depreciation (309,504) (410,910) (11,709) (43,473) - (775,596)
Closing net book value 5,917,379 7,774,749 14,593 247,236 297,828 14,251,785

At 31.12.2018

Cost 6,593,733 9,041,216 41,207 309,735 297,828 16,283,719
Aggregate depreciation (676,354) (1,266,467) (26,614) (62,499) - (2,031,934)
Net book value 5,917,379 7,774,749 14,593 247,236 297,828 14,251,785

For the year ended
31 December 2017

Opening net book value 5,048,982 8,607,296 24,295 32,563 515,203 14,228,339
Transfer 526,289 364,695 712 19,733 (911,429) -
Additions - - - - 569,465 569,465
Other (30,280) - - - (30,280)
Depreciation (207,349) (517,337) (6,242) (10,833) - (741,761)
Closing net book value 5,337,642 8,454,654 18,765 41,463 173,239 14,025,763

At 31.12.2017

Cost 5,704,492 9,310,211 33,670 60,489 173,239 15,282,101
Aggregate depreciation (366,850) (855,557) (14,905) (19,026) - (1,256,338)
Net book value 5,337,642 8,454,654 18,765 41,463 173,239 14,025,763

The Target Group’s certain building for which the Target Group are in the process of obtaining the relevant
building ownership certificates. The directors do not foresee any major obstacles to issuing the certificates of the
above-mentioned buildings to the Target Group. The carrying amounts of above-mentioned buildings amounted to
RMB2,036,730,000, RMB1,962,347,000, RMB1,887,421,000,and RMB1,849,520,000 at 31 December 2017, 2018
and 2019 and 30 June 2020, respectively.

At 31 December 2017 and 2018, the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment held under finance
leases were appproximately RMB4,318,153,000 and RMB37,087,000, respectively. From 1 January 2019, property,
plant and equipment held under finance leases have been reclassified to right-of-use assets (note 16).
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13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

For the six months ended 30 June 2020
Opening net book value
Amortisation

Closing net book value

At 30.6.2020
Cost
Aggregate amortisation

Net book value

For the year ended 31 December 2019
Opening net book value
Amortisation

Closing net book value

At 31.12.2019
Cost
Aggregate amortisation

Net book value

For the year ended 31 December 2018
Opening net book value
Amortisation

Closing net book value

At 31.12.2018
Cost
Aggregate amortisation

Net book value

For the year ended 31 December 2017
Opening net book value
Amortisation

Closing net book value

At 31.12.2017
Cost
Aggregate amortisation

Net book value
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18,525
(1,507)

17,018

17,583
(377)
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14.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the six months ended
30 June 2020

Opening net book value

Additions

Other

Amortisation

Closing net book value

At 30.6.2020
Cost
Aggregate amortisation

Net book value

For the year ended

31 December 2019
Opening net book value
Additions
Amortisation

Closing net book value

At 31.12.2019
Cost
Aggregate amortisation

Net book value

For the year ended

31 December 2018
Opening net book value
Additions
Amortisation

Closing net book value

At 31.12.2018
Cost
Aggregate amortisation

Net book value

Capacity

Land use Mining replacement
rights rights Patent indicator Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
358,691 1,287,616 439,465 601,585 2,687,357
70,861 - - - 70,861
- - (137) - (137)
(4,101) (48,600) (33,553) (8,071) (94,331)
425,451 1,239,010 405,775 593,514 2,663,750
457,219 1,656,418 671,064 641,125 3,425,826
(31,768) (417,408) (265,289) (47,611) (762,076)
425,451 1,239,010 405,775 593,514 2,663,750
357,349 1,372,869 506,450 617,728 2,854,396
9,246 - 500 - 9,746
(7,904) (85,253) (67,485) (16,143) (176,785)
358,691 1,287,616 439,465 601,585 2,687,357
386,358 1,656,418 671,201 641,125 3,355,102
(27,667) (368,802) (231,736) (39,540) (667,745)
358,691 1,287,616 439,465 601,585 2,687,357
363,262 1,443,859 559,246 513,731 2,880,098
1,837 - 13,266 119,762 134,865
(7,750) (70,990) (66,062) (15,765) (160,567)
357,349 1,372,869 506,450 617,728 2,854,396
377,112 1,656,418 670,701 641,125 3,345,356
(19,763) (283,549) (164,251) (23,397) (490,960)
357,349 1,372,869 506,450 617,728 2,854,396
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Capacity
Land use Mining replacement
rights rights Patent indicator Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
For the year ended
31 December 2017
Opening net book value 367,163 1,515,151 616,480 - 2,498,794
Additions 3,842 - 8,509 521,363 533,714
Amortisation (7,743) (71,292) (65,743) (7,632) (152,410)
Closing net book value 363,262 1,443,859 559,246 513,731 2,880,098
At 31.12.2017
Cost 375,275 1,656,418 657,435 521,363 3,210,491
Aggregate amortisation (12,013) (212,559) (98,189) (7,632) (330,393)
Net book value 363,262 1,443,859 559,246 513,731 2,880,098

The mining rights of approximately RMB1,443,859,000, RMB1,372,869,000, RMB1,287,616,000 and RMB
1,239,010,000 was pledged to secure bank loans of RMB7,100,000, RMB6,830,000, RMB5,960,000,000 and
RMBS5,698,800,000 at 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020 respectively (Note 24).

The Target Group’s certain land use rights for which the Target Group are in the process of obtaining the
relevant land use rights certificates. The directors do not foresee any major obstacles to issuing the certificates of
the above-mentioned land use rights to the Target Group. The carrying amounts of above-mentioned buildings
amounted to RMB119,969,000, RMB121,467,000, RMB135,819,000 and RMB 97,457,000 at 31 December 2017,
2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020, respectively.

15. INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES

As at 30
At 31 December June
2017 2018 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Available-for-sale investments
Unlisted equity investments, at cost net
impairment 80,000 - - -
Financial assets at FVTPL
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value - 168,000 298,530 298,530

As at 31 December 2017, the unlisted equity investments are stated at cost less impairment.

These unlisted equity investments represent investment in unlisted equity interests in private entities
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16. LEASE

@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statements of financial position

(a)  Right-of-use assets

As at As at

31 December 30 June

2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Machinery 32,142 —

The Target Group has lease arrangements for machinery. The lease term is three years.

In respect of lease arrangement for renting certain machinery, the Target Group has options to
purchase certain production equipments for a nominal amount at the end of the lease term. The Target

Group’s obligations are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets for such lease.

(b)  Lease liabilities

As at As at
31 December 30 June
2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
Current — within one year 68,292 —
(ii) Amounts recognised in consolidated profit or loss
Year ended Six months
31 December ended 30 June
2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets 4,945 2,472
Interest expense on lease liabilities 4,392 2,190

(iii) Amounts recognised in consolidated cash flows statement

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and six months ended 30 June 2020, the total cash outflow
for leases amount to RMB Nil and RMB70,767,000 respectively.

—II-A-51 -



APPENDIX II

AUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF
TARGET GROUP AND TARGET ASSETS

17. INVENTORIES

As at

As at 31 December 30 June

2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 70,120 121,125 187,943 283,342
Finished goods 267,502 98,215 66,555 124,170
337,622 219,340 254,498 407,512

Provision for obsolete inventories (94,986) (14,428) (1,576) (1,712)
242,636 204,912 252,922 405,800

The reversal of write-down of inventories made in prior year arose due to an increase in the estimated net

realisable value.

18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables — note 18(a)
— third parties 21,136 11,350 20,299 27,308
— related parties 5,728 7,791 7,596 55,489
Less: impairment loss on trade receivables — — — —
26,864 19,141 27,895 82,797
Bills receivables — notes 18(a) & (b) 2,397,876 387,856 31,506 11,826
2,424,740 406,997 59,401 94,623

The Target Group normally allows credit terms to well-established customers for 30 days. The Target Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the
Directors. Trade and bills receivables are expected to be recovered within one year.

(a)  An aging analysis of trade and bills receivables as at the end of each reporting period, based on the
date of recognition of the goods sold, is as follows:

As at

As at 31 December 30 June

2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 year 2,424,740 406,997 59,401 84,492
1 to 2 years - — — 10,131
2,424,740 406,997 59,401 94,623

Details of impairment assessments on trade and bills receivables from customers are set out in note

32(a).
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19.

(b)

As at 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020, certain of the Target Group’s
interest-bearing bank borrowings were secured by the Target Group’s trade and bills receivables with
a carrying value of RMB500,000,000, RMB 160,000,000, RMBNil and RMBN!Il, respectively.

As at 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020, certain of the Group’s banking facilities
of approximately RMBI1,240,947,000, RMB41,270,000, RMB1,526,000 and RMB6,000,000 were
secured by the Target Group’s trade and bills receivables with a carrying value of
RMB1,193,662,000, RMB41,270,000, RMB1,469,000 and RMB5,894,000 respectively.

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Other receivables

— third parties 204,193 8,018 8,185 8,011
— parent and ultimate controlling company - - - 6,232
— fellow subsidiaries - - - 402
Prepayments
— third parties 93,787 503,239 246,248 438,637
— fellow subsidiaries 134,336 103,454 81,306 227,047
VAT recoverable 9,570 17,343 8,388 15,354
Entrusted loan receivable — note 19(a) 1,360,000 - - -
Loan to related party — note 19(d) - - - 80,000
Loan to related party — note 19(b) - - - 60,000
Loan to parent and ultimate controlling
company — note 19(c) - 1,360,000 560,000 525,909
1,801,886 1,992,054 904,127 1,361,592
Analysed as:
Current assets 1,756,471 1,699,709 595,076 825,679
Non-current assets 45,415 292,345 309,051 535,913
1,801,886 1,992,054 904,127 1,361,592

(a)

(b)

(©)

(@)

Entrusted loan receivable represents loan advanced to the holding company through an entrusted loan
agreement administrated by a trust company, a financial institution in the PRC, also a related party.
The entrusted loan carries interest at 4.6371% per annum and is repayable in one year.
The loan carries interest at 4.35% per annum, unsecured and is repayable in one year.

The loan carries interest at 4.6371% per annum, unsecured and is repayable in one year.

The loan is interest free, secured and repayable by 31 December 2021.
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash at banks

— third parties 225,721 316,206 608,622 869,474
— financial institution held by parent and

ultimate controlling company 315,583 298,566 734,045 979,708

541,304 614,772 1,342,667 1,849,182

Less: restricted cash (21,232) (315,343) (608,458) (907,280)

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated
cash flows statement 520,072 299,429 734,209 941,902

21. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables

— third parties 1,212,170 839,028 571,076 503,219
— parent and ultimate controlling company 228 4 4 1,154
— fellow subsidiaries 319,828 548,435 438,269 391,904
Bills payables 336,269 202,855 405,090 625,903

1,868,495 1,590,322 1,414,439 1,522,180

The Target Group normally obtains credit terms for 30 days from its suppliers.

An aging analysis of the trade and bills payables at the end of each reporting period, based on the date of
receipt of goods purchased, is as follows:

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 year 1,380,646 1,380,535 1,226,329 1,147,992
1 to 2 years 401,564 120,567 176,427 293,094
2 to 3 years 40,212 36,748 7,819 72,277
Over 3 years 46,073 52,472 3,864 8,817

1,868,495 1,590,322 1,414,439 1,522,180
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22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Target Group recognised the following revenue-related contract liabilities from contract with customers:

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract liabilities

— third parties - 98,388 87,363 180,737
— fellow subsidiaries - 339 7,845 5,076
- 98,727 95,208 185,813

Contract liabilities mainly consists of sales deposits received from customers for which the related revenue
had not been recognised as at 31 December 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020, and the directors of the Target
Group expects those related revenue to be recognised within the next twelve months.

The following table shows the movements in contract liabilities during the Relevant Periods related to
carried-forward contract liabilities.

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At the beginning of the year/period - 14,551 98,727 95,208
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of

recognising revenue during the year /period

that was included in the contract liabilities at

the beginning of the year/period - (14,551) (98,727) (95,208)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of

receiving sales deposits for the relevant

unrecognised revenue at the end of the

year/period - 98,727 95,208 185,813

At the end of the year/period — 98,727 95,208 185,813
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23. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Payroll payables 37,019 49,923 52,030 38,077

Interest payables 12,248 10,444 9,525 8,119

Lease payable 557,410 63,329 - -
Other payables and accruals

— third parties 235,989 71,079 67,100 112,069

— parent and ultimate controlling company 36,990 36,990 71,081 56,792

— fellow subsidiaries 132,987 256,034 128,136 59,725

Other tax payables 308,855 85,818 97,013 151,184

1,321,498 573,617 424,885 425,966

Analysed as:

Current liabilities 1,263,133 510,288 424,885 425,966
Non-current liabilities 58,365 63,329 - -
1,321,498 573,617 424,885 425,966

24. BANK LOANS

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank loans
— Secured 8,100,000 6,990,000 5,960,000 5,698,800
— Unsecured 1,430,000 610,000 540,000 300,000

9,530,000 7,600,000 6,500,000 5,998,800

Analysed as:
Current liabilities 2,600,000 1,640,000 1,601,200 1,000,000
Non-current liabilities 6,930,000 5,960,000 4,898,800 4,998,800

9,530,000 7,600,000 6,500,000 5,998,800
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25.

The bank loans were repayable as follows:

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 year or on demand 2,600,000 1,640,000 1,601,200 1,000,000
After 1 year but within 2 years 970,000 261,200 400,000 700,000
After 2 years but within 5 years 1,881,100 1,781,100 3,471,100 2,131,100
After 5 years 4,078,900 3,917,700 1,027,700 2,167,700

Notes:

®

(i)

(ii)

@iv)

(v)

6,930,000 5,960,000 4,898,800 4,998,800

9,530,000 7,600,000 6,500,000 5,998,800

The applicable interest rate per annum as at 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020
was ranging from 4.35% to 4.90% per annum.

The bank loan of RMB6,250,000,000, RMB6,300,000,000, RMBS5,430,000,000 and
RMBS5,168,800,000 as at 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020 was secured by the
guarantee from the parent and ultimate controlling company and a related party and mining rights at
31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020 (note 14).

The bank loans of RMB500,000,000 and RMB 160,000,000 were secured by the RMB500,000,000 and
RMB160,000,000 bill receivables as at 31 December 2017 and 2018 respectively.

The bank loans of RMB1,350,000,000, RMB530,000,000, RMB530,000,000 and RMB530,000,000 as
at 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020 was secured by the guarantee from the

parent and ultimate controlling company.

Interest payable on bank loans was included in other payables.

PROVISION FOR LAND SUBSIDENCE, RESTORATION, REHABILITATION AND
ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at 1 January — — 47,148 181,523
Additional provision in the year/period - 47,148 134,375 69,763
Balance at 31 December/30 June - 47,148 181,523 251,286

Provision for land subsidence, restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs has been determined by
the management of the Target Group based on their best estimates. However, in so far as the effect on the land
and the environment from current mining activities becomes apparent in future periods, the estimate of the
associated costs may be subject to change in the near term.
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26. OBLIGATIONS IN RELATION TO EARLY RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Target Group implemented early retirement benefit schemes which allows qualified employees to early
retire on a voluntary basis. The Target Group undertakes the obligations to pay the early retirement employees’
living expenses for no more than five years in the future on a monthly basis according to the early retirement
benefit schemes, together with social insurance and housing fund pursuant to the regulation of the local Social
Security Office. Living expenses, social insurance and the housing fund are together referred to as “the
Payments”. The Payments are forecasted to increase with reference to the inflation rate and adjusted based on the
average death rate in China for the years ended 31 December 2017, 2018, 2019 and six months ended 30 June
2020. The Payments are discounted by the benchmark interest rate for loan of 31 December 2017, 2018, 2019 and
30 June 2020. As at 31 December 2017, 2018, 2019 and 30 June 2020, the current portion of the Payments within
one year was reclassified to “Accruals and other payables”.

As at 31 December 2017, 2018, 2019 and 30 June 2020, obligations in relation to retirement benefits under
the Target Group’s early retirement scheme are as follows:

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 3,767 7,748 14,521 19,701
Provision made during the year/period 5,079 8,278 8,581 2,430
Interest costs 185 380 712 483
Payment during the year/period (1,283) (1,885) (4,113) (2,771)
As at 31 December/30 June 7,748 14,521 19,701 19,843

Analysed as:

Current liabilities 1,506 3,402 4,576 5,069
Non-current liabilities 6,242 11,119 15,125 14,774
7,748 14,521 19,701 19,843

27. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

(a)  An analysis of deferred tax assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position is

as follows:
As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Deferred tax assets - - 526 782
Deferred tax liabilities (105,783) (96,413) (105,664) (85,659)

(105,783) (96,413) (105,138) (84,877)
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(b)  The followings are deferred tax recognised by the Target Group and movements thereon during the

Relevant Periods:

Deferred tax assets

At 1.1.2017, 31.12.2017, 1.1.2018, 31.12.2018 and 1.1.2019

Credit for the year

At 31.12.2019 and 1.1.2020

Credit for the period

At 30.6.2020

Deferred tax liabilities

At 112017
Credit for the year

At 31.12.2017 and 1.1.2018
(Charge)/Credit for the year

At 31.12.2018 and 1.1.2019
(Charge)/Credit for the year

At 31.12.2019 and 1.1.2020
Credit for the period

At 30.6.2020

Obligations
in relation
to early
retirement
scheme
RMB’000
526
526
256
782
Provision for
land
Loss Obligations subsidence,
allowance on in relation to restoration,
receivables early  rehabilitation
and retirement  environmental ~ Depreciation
inventories scheme costs allowances Others Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
63 565 - (134,331) - (133,703)
15,163 642 - 12,115 - 27,920
15,226 1,207 - (122,216) - (105,783)
(11,842) 954 7,072 13,186 - 9,370
3,384 2,161 7,072 (109,030) - (96,413)
(1,927) 438 20,157 (27,926) 7 (9,251)
1,457 2,599 27,229 (136,956) 1 (105,664)
20 20 10,464 9,479 n 20,005
1,477 2,619 37,693 (127477) 29 (85,659)
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28.

29.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

(a)  Details of the Target Company’s registered capital are set out below:

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Registered capital 5,400,000 5,400,000 5,400,000 5,400,000

(b)  Capital management

The Target Group’s equity capital management objectives are to safeguard the Target Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to provide an adequate return to members
commensurately with the level of risk. To meet these objectives, the Target Group manages the
equity capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions by paying dividends to members, issuing new equity shares by the Target Group, and
raising or repaying debts as appropriate.

The Target Group’s equity capital management strategy, which was unchanged from the
previous periods, is to maintain a reasonable proportion in net bank borrowings and equity
capital. The Target Group monitors equity capital on the basis of the net debts-to-equity capital
ratio, which is calculated as net bank borrowings over equity capital. Net debts are calculated
as total debts less cash and bank balances. Equity capital comprises all components of equity.

The management of the Target Group reviews the capital structure periodically. The
management considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with the capital. The Target
Group manages its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends and raising of
new capital as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

RESERVES
Statutory reserve

Pursuant to the Company Law of the PRC and the Articles of Association of the PRC
subsidiaries, it is required to appropriate 10% of each year’s net profit of each PRC subsidiary
according to the PRC accounting standard and regulations (after offsetting previous years’ losses) to
statutory reserve until such reserve reached 50% of its registered capital.

The appropriation to statutory reserves must be made before distribution of dividends to
owners. This reserve shall only be used to make up for previous years’ losses, to expand production
operations, or to increase the capital of the PRC subsidiaries. The statutory reserve can be transferred
to paid-in capital of the PRC subsidiaries, provided that the balance of the statutory reserve after such
transfer is not less than 25% of their registered capital.
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30. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

The following table summarises the information relating to the Target Group’s subsidiary, Shaanxi
Future Clean Chemicals Co., Ltd. (BVGARAHERILEMHATRAT), which had 49% non-controlling interest.

As at As at

31 December 30 June

2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets 20,063 38,517
Current assets 15,696 19,570
Current liabilities (5,662) (27,728)
Non-current liabilities - (225)
Net assets 30,097 30,134
Carrying amount of non-controlling interest 14,748 14,766
Revenue - —
Profit for the year/period 97 36
Profit allocated to non-controlling interest 48 18
Cash flows from operating activities 98 42
Cash flows used in investing activities (14,946) (18,218)
Cash flows from financing activities 30,000 20,000
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 15,152 1,824
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Apart from the transactions as disclosed in notes 18 to 24, the Target Group had the following
material transactions with its related parties during the Relevant Periods:

Goods sold to related
companies

Sale of coal chemical
products

Sales of materials

Sales of coal

Sales of coal chemical
products

Loan interest income

Interest income

Rental income

Goods purchased from
related companies

Purchase of catalyst
products

Purchase of material

Purchase of material and
construction

Purchase of equipment

Construction

Services rendered by
related companies
Technical service fee

Transportation fee
Integrated service fee
Agent fee
Maintenance fees
Guarantee fees paid to
holding company

Year ended 31 December

2017 2018 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
21,834 23,417 22,006
3,591 1,353 6,530
7,571 1,123 217,360
11,150 14,104 19,931
73,895 60,321 53,905
1,576 1,066 4,848
110 110 110
167,346 167,778 192,539
4,918 278,199 419,478
264,154 318,966 512,042
445 2,398 6.871
128,313 162,693 248,189

Six months ended 30

June
2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

(unaudited)

11,038 7,826
- 3,098
- 429,678
7,347 5,335
30,078 12,035
- 1,494
- 55
115,904 75,045
183,771 99,384
154,887 218,644
- 451
26,441 129,494

Year ended 31 December

2017 2018 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
54,498 55,113 60,438
131,547 131,616 130,619
16,902 16,902 16,902
4,338 3,962 4,943
21,962 371,719 43,189

— — 34,091

Six months ended 30

June
2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000

(unaudited)

23,847 36,368
46,122 70,320
- 8,451
- 1,697
- 108,000
17,045 19,802
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The Target Group have provided the following guarantee to lenders in the PRC for the loans granted
to its related parties during the Relevant Periods.

(a)  The Target Company have provided guarantee of RMB400,000,000 to a bank for a loan granted
to its related party, Shaanxi Jingshen Railway Company Limited (PEPE#HHH#HARETAF),
from 26 July 2018.

(b)  The Target Company have provided guarantee of RMB100,000,000 to Yulin branch of Chang’an
Bank Co., Limited (RZHEATHRMBHRAFMMTTT) for the loan granted to it related party
Yankuang Yuling Fine Chemical Co., Ltd. from 26 March 2019.

Balances and transactions with other state-controlled entities in the PRC

The Target Group operates in an economic environment currently predominated by entities
directly or indirectly owned or controlled by the PRC government (“state-controlled entities”). In
addition, the Target Group itself is part of a large group of companies under the Parent Company
which is controlled by the PRC government. Apart from the transactions with the Parent Company
and its subsidiaries disclosed above, the Target Group also conducts business with other
state-controlled entities. The directors of the Target Company consider those state-controlled entities
are independent third parties so far as the Target Group’s business transactions with them are
concerned.

Material balances with other state-controlled entities are as follows:

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade sales 3,600,709 1,677,928 1,115,158 445,671 774,150
Trade purchases 422,056 363,849 451,976 190,266 34,511

Material transactions with other state-controlled entities are as follows:

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Amounts due to other state-controlled
entities - 182,060 300,344 30,680
Amounts due from other
state-controlled entities - - - -

Amounts due from and to state-controlled entities are trade nature of which terms are not
different from other customers and suppliers.

In addition, the Target Group has entered into various transactions, including deposits
placements, borrowings and other general banking facilities, with certain banks and financial
institutions which are state-controlled entities in its ordinary course of business. In view of the nature
of those banking transactions, the Directors are of the opinion that separate disclosure would not be
meaningful.

Except as disclosed above, the Directors are of the option that transactions with other
state-controlled entities are not significant to the Target Group’s operations and no other transaction,
arrangement or contract of significant to which the Target Company was a party and in which a
director of the Target Company or a connected entity of the director of the Target Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.
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32. NATURE AND EXTENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISKS

The Target Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including credit risk, liquidity
risk, interest rate risk and currency risk. The Target Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Target
Group’s financial performance.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The credit risk of the Target Group mainly arises from
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables. The carrying amounts of
these balances represent the Target Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to these
assets.

The credit quality of the deposits and other receivables has been assessed with reference to
historical information about the counterparties default rates and financial position of the
counterparties. The Directors are of the opinion that the credit risk of the deposits and other
receivables is low due to the sound financial position or collection history of the receivables due from
them. Therefore, expected credit loss rate of the deposits and other receivables is assessed to be
closed to zero and no provision was made as at 31 December 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020.

In respect of cash deposited at banks, the credit risk is considered to be low as the
counterparties are reputable banks. The existing counterparties do not have defaults in the past.
Therefore, expected credit loss rate of cash at bank is assessed to be closed to zero and no provision
was made as at 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Target Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Target Group arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties.

The credit risk of the Target Group is concentrated on trade receivables from the top five
largest customers at 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2019 amounting to
RMB18,272,000, RMB2,136,000, RMBNil and RMB29,022,000 respectively and accounted for 68%,
11%, 0% and 35% respectively of the Target Group’s total trade receivables before impairment losses.
These five largest customers include state-owned enterprises and private limited companies registered
and operated in the PRC. In order to minimise credit risk, management continuously monitors the
level of exposure by frequent review of the credit evaluation of the financial condition and credit
quality of its customers to ensure that prompt actions will be taken to lower exposure. In addition, the
Target Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model upon application of IFRS 9 (2017:
incurred loss model) on trade balances based on provision matrix. In this regard, the directors of the
Target Company consider that the Target Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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Financial instruments with credit risk assessment and expected credit loss measurement by

group
Expected credit loss calculation
Item Grouping basis approach
Other receivables — group of  Related parties within The expected credit loss is
related dealings within the  the scope of calculated, with reference to
scope of combination combination historical credit loss experience, in
Other receivables — group of  Nature consideration of current conditions
receivables from and expectation of future economic
government conditions, and based on the default

risk exposure and 12-month or
lifetime expected credit loss rate.
Other receivables — group of
deposits receivables and
others etc.

Specific group and expected credit loss calculation approach

Expected credit loss calculation

Item Grouping basis approach

Accounts receivable — Grouping by age Simplified approach — provision
grouping by age combination matrix

Accounts receivable — group  Related parties within The expected credit loss is
of related parties the scope of calculated, with reference to

combination historical credit loss experience, in

Accounts receivable — State-owned enterprises consideration of current conditions

state-owned enterprises and expectation of future economic

conditions, and based on the default
risk exposure and lifetime expected
credit loss rate.

Bills receivable Issuer of bills The expected credit loss is
calculated with reference to
historical credit loss experience, in
consideration of current conditions
and expected of future economic
conditions, and based on the default
risk exposure and lifetime expected
credit loss rate.

Management assessed that the expected credit loss rate and loss allowances for these
balance to be insignificant during the Relevant Periods.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Target Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabilities. The Target Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring its
liquidity position through periodic preparation of cash flows and cash balances forecasts and periodic
evaluation of the ability of the Target Group to meet its financial obligations.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the each reporting
period of the Target Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Target Group can
be required to pay.
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At 31 December 2017

Total Less than Over

contractual 1 year or 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted on less than Over
amount  cash flows demand 5 years 5 years

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Total amounts of

contractual

undiscounted

obligations:
Trade and bills payables 1,868,495 1,868,495 1,868,495 - -
Accruals and other

payables 1,321,498 1,321,498 1,263,133 58,365 -
Obligations in relation to

early retirement

scheme 7,748 9,451 1,885 5,304 2,262
Bank loans, secured 9,530,000 9,530,000 2,600,000 2,851,100 4,078,900

12,727,741 12,729,444 5,733,513 2,914,769 4,081,162

At 31 December 2018

Total Less than Over

contractual 1 year or 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted on less than Over
amount cash flows demand 5 years 5 years

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Total amounts of

contractual

undiscounted

obligations:
Trade and bills payables 1,590,322 1,590,322 1,590,322 - -
Accruals and other

payables 573,617 573,617 510,288 63,329 -
Obligations in relation to

early retirement

scheme 14,521 17,025 4,113 10,535 2,377
Bank loans, secured 7,600,000 7,600,000 1,640,000 2,042,300 3,917,700

9,778,460 9,780,964 3,744,723 2,116,164 3,920,077
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At 31 December 2019

Total Less than Over

contractual 1 year or 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted on less than Over
amount  cash flows demand 5 years 5 years

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Total amounts of

contractual

undiscounted

obligations:
Trade and bills payables 1,414,439 1,414,439 1,414,439 - -
Accruals and other

payables 424,885 424,885 424,885 - -
Obligations in relation to

early retirement

scheme 19,701 22,940 5,541 14,633 2,766
Lease liabilities 68,292 70,767 70,767 - -
Bank loans, secured 6,500,000 6,500,800 1,601,200 3,871,100 1,027,700

8,427,316 8,433,030 3,516,831 3,885,733 1,030,466

At 30 June 2020

Total Less than Over

contractual 1 year or 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted on less than Over
amount  cash flows demand 5 years 5 years

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Total amounts of

contractual

undiscounted

obligations:
Trade and bills payables 1,522,180 1,522,180 1,522,180 - -
Accruals and other

payables 425,965 425,965 425,965 - -
Obligations in relation to

early retirement

scheme 19,843 22,404 6,041 15,662 701
Bank loans, secured 5,998,800 5,998,800 1,000,000 2,831,100 2,167,700

7,966,788 7,969,349 2,954,186 2,846,762 2,168,401
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Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Target Group may manage interest rate risk,
when it is considered significant and cost-effective, by entering into appropriate swap contracts.

As at the end of each of the Relevant Periods, the Target Group does not have any significant

exposure to the interest rate risk.

(d)

Sensitivity Analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a change of 100 basis points in the
interest rate, assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year and all the variables were held constant. It includes the
interest rate fluctuation of the abovementioned PBOC rate, LIBOR and LPR.

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Decrease) increase in profit

or loss
— if increases by 100 basis

points (76,287) (56,252) (45,973) (35,637)
— if decreases by 100

basis points 76,287 56,252 45,973 35,637

Currency risk

The Target Group’s major businesses are in the PRC and the majority of the transactions are

conducted in RMB. Most of the Target Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB. As a
result, the Target Group does not have material foreign currency risk during the Relevant Periods.

(e)

Fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Target Group’s financial instruments
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level
fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”. The level into which a
fair value measurement is classified is determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs, that is, unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs, that is, observable inputs
which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.

The directors of the Target Company perform valuations of financial instruments at the
end of each reporting period. As at 31 December 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020, the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of the Target Group amounted to
RMB168,000,000, RMB298,530,000 and RMB298,530,000 respectively are the only financial
instruments carried at fair value and are categorised into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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The Target Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair values as at 31
December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020.

During the Relevant Periods, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between
Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and
liabilities.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurement

Unlisted equity investment is measured using valuation techniques based on inputs that
can be observed in the markets in addition to unobservable inputs such as company specific
financial information.

The Target Group uses the key inputs of market comparable companies, which include the
valuation multiple, to determine the fair value of the unlisted equity investment as at 31
December 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020. The unobservable inputs are valuation multiple and
marketability discount. Valuation multiple represents price-to-book ratio. The higher the
valuation multiple, the lower the discounts for lack of marketability, the higher the fair value.

At 30 June 2020

Increase/ Favourable/
Significant (decrease) in  (unfavourable)
Valuation unobservable unobservable impact on
techniques inputs Range inputs profit or loss
RMB’000
Market Comparable  Discount for 0%-15% 5% (1,912)
Companies lack of (5%) 1,912
marketability
Market 1.0-1.3 5% 14,958
multiples (5%) (14,958)
At 31 December 2019
Increase/ Favourable/
Significant (decrease) in  (unfavourable)
Valuation unobservable unobservable impact on
techniques inputs Range inputs profit or loss
RMB’000
Market Comparable  Discount for 0%-15% 5% (2,034)
Companies lack of (5%) 2,034
marketability
Market 1.0-1.4 5% 15,651
multiples (5%) (15,651)
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At 31 December 2018

Increase/ Favourable/

Significant (decrease) in  (unfavourable)

Valuation unobservable unobservable impact on

techniques inputs Range inputs profit or loss
RMB’000

Market Comparable  Discount for 0%-15% 5% (1,468)

Companies lack of (5%) 1,468

marketability
Market 1.0-1.4 5% 8,319
multiples (5%) (8,319)

Based on above valuation, there were no material gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
during the Relevant Periods as the carrying amounts of unlisted equity investments approximate
to their fair values.

The movements during the Relevant Periods in the balance of the Level 3 fair value
measurement are as follows:

As at

As at 31 December 30 June

2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 80,000 168,000 298,530
Additions 88,000 130,530 -
At 31 December/30 June 168,000 298,530 298,530

The carrying amounts of the Target Group’s financial instruments carried at cost or
amortised cost are not materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 2017, 2018
and 2019 and 30 June 2020.
33. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Target Company had direct interests in subsidiaries which are private limited liability company
comprising the Group, the particulars of which are set out below:

Effective interest attributable to

Name of Place and date Legal form the Target Group Principal
company of incorporation of entity 2017 2018 2019 2020  Activities
Shaanxi Future PRC Limited 100% 100% 100% 100%  Production
Clean Oil and liabilities and chemical
Chemical Sales products
Co., Ltd. (Fkp
AT i B AL B
g A R AR
Shaanxi Future PRC Limited - - 51% 51%  Production
Clean liabilities and chemical
Chemicals Co., products
Ltd. (BRPERAKE
BB ARA
)

—II-A-70 -



APPENDIX II AUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF

TARGET GROUP AND TARGET ASSETS

34.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Target Company have provided guarantee of RMB400,000,000 to a bank for a loan granted to its

related party, Shaanxi Jingshen Railway Company Limited from 26 July 2018.

35. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Since the outbreak of the new coronavirus disease (“COVID-19 outbreak”) in January 2020, the
containment of the COVID-19 outbreak has been being under way throughout the country. The Target
Group actively responds to and implements the national regulations and requirements for the
prevention and control of the COVID-19. Since 30 June 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak was contained
to some extent, but not completely eradicated, so that the Target Group will continue to responds to
and implements the national regulations and requirements for the prevention and control of the
COVID-19.
It is expected that the COVID-19 outbreak and its containment measures will have a certain
temporary impact on the Target Group’s production and operations in the second half of 2020. The
extent of impact depends on the progress and duration of the containment of the outbreak and the
implementation of prevention and control policies in various regions.
The Target Group keeps eyes on the development of the COVID-19 outbreak, evaluates its impact on
the financial status and operating results of the Target Group, strengthens its efforts to contain the
outbreak and promotes the resumption of work and production in an active and orderly manner.
The Target Company have declared a dividend of RMB2,000,000,000 on 6 August 2020.
36. CAPITAL COMMITMENT
Save as disclosed elsewhere is the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following capital
commitments.
As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Capital expenditure contracted for but not
provided in the consolidated financial
statements
Acquisition of investment in securities 168,000 - - -
Acquisition of property, plant and
equipment 472,134 267,957 209,358 727,881
640,134 267,957 209,358 727,881
37. SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No audited financial statements have been prepared by the Target Group in respect of any period subsequent

to 30 June 2020 and up to the date of this report.
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38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Target Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were,
or future cash flows will be, classified in the Target Group’s consolidated statements of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activities.

Liabilities from financing activities

Interest Lease
Bank loan payable liabilities Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
As at 1 January 2017 8,795,000 19,808 1,201,537 10,016,345
Cash flows 735,000 (438,481) (686,002) (389,483)
Other changes - 430,921 41,875 472,796
As at 31 December 2017 and
1 January 2018 9,530,000 12,248 557,410 10,099,658
Cash flows (1,930,000) (426,358) (345,846) (2,702,204)
Other changes - 424,554 (148,235) 276,319
As at 31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019 7,600,000 10,444 63,329 7,673,773
Cash flows (1,100,000) (187,000) - (1,287,000)
Other changes - 186,081 4,963 191,044
As at 31 December 2019 and
1 January 2020 6,500,000 9,525 68,292 6,577,817
Cash flows (501,200) (153,016) (70,767) (724,983)
Other changes - 151,610 2,475 154,085
As at 30 June 2020 5,998,800 8,119 - 6,006,919

—II-A-72 -



APPENDIX II AUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF
TARGET GROUP AND TARGET ASSETS

B. ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON FINE CHEMICAL

The following is the text of a report for the sole purpose of inclusion in this circular,
from the independent reporting accountants, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, Certified Public
Accountants, Hong Kong.

% Crowe BEESE (8) StMEBRERAT
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
& REE 1SIRET7R T8RP 0E
9/F Leighton Centre,
77 Leighton Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

The Directors
Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited

Dear Sirs,

We report on the historical financial information of Yankuang Yuling Fine Chemical
Co., Ltd. (the “Target Company”) set out on pages II-B-4 to II-B-48, which comprises the
statements of financial position of the Target Company and the statements of financial
position of the Target Company as at 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020,
and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statements of
changes in equity and the statements of cash flows of the Target Company for each of the
years ended 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and the six months ended 30 June 2020 (the
“Relevant Periods”), and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information (the “Historical Financial Information”). This Historical Financial Information
set out on pages II-B-4 to II-B-48 forms an integral part of this report, which has been
prepared for inclusion in the circular of Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited (the
“Company”) dated 16 November 2020 (the “Circular”) in connection with the proposed
acquisition of 100% equity interest in the Target Company by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

The directors of the Target Company are responsible for the preparation of the
Historical Financial Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance with the basis
of preparation set out in note 3 to the Historical Financial Information, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of Historical
Financial Information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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REPORTING ACCOUNTANT’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Historical Financial Information and
to report our opinion to you. We conducted our work in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standard on Investment Circular Reporting Engagements 200 “Accountants’ Reports on
Historical Financial Information in Investment Circulars” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). This standard requires that we comply with
ethical standards and plan and perform our work to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the Historical Financial Information is free from material misstatement.

Our work involved performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the Historical Financial Information. The procedures selected depend on the
reporting accountants’ judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement
of the Historical Financial Information, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the reporting accountant considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of Historical Financial Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance
with the basis of preparation set out in note 3 to the Historical Financial Information, in
order to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Our work also
included evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the Historical Financial Information.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the Historical Financial Information gives, for the purposes of the
accountants’ report, true and fair view of the financial position of the Target Company and
the financial position of the Target Company as at 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and
30 June 2020 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the Relevant Periods in
accordance with the basis of the preparation set out in note 3 to the Historical Financial
Information.

REVIEW OF STUB PERIOD COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL INFORMATION.

We have reviewed the stub period comparative financial information of the Target
Company which comprises the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the six months ended
30 June 2019 and other explanatory information (the “Stub Period Comparative Financial
Information”). The directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Stub
Period Comparative Financial Information in accordance with the basis of preparation set out
in note 3 to the Historical Financial Information. Our responsibility is to express a
conclusion on the Stub Period Comparative Financial Information based on our review. We
conducted our review in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Review Engagements
2410 “Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the
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Entity” issued by the HKICPA. A review consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons
responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review
procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance
with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to obtain
assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in
an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion. Based on our review, nothing has
come to our attention that causes us to believe that the Stub Period Comparative Financial
Information, for the purposes of the accountants’ report, is not prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in note 3 to the Historical
Financial Information.

REPORT ON MATTERS UNDER THE RULES GOVERNING THE LISTING OF
SECURITIES ON THE MAIN BOARD OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE AND THE
COMPANIES (WINDING UP AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ORDINANCE

Adjustments

In preparing the Historical Financial Information, no adjustments to the Underlying
Financial Statements as defined on page II-B-4 have been made.

Dividends

We refer to note 11 to the Historical Financial Information which states that dividends
have been declared and paid by the Target Company in respect of the relevant periods.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chung Wai Chuen Alfred
Practising Certificate Number: P05444

Hong Kong
16 November 2020
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I. HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF YANKUANG YULING FINE
CHEMICAL CO., LTD.

Preparation of Historical Financial Information

Set out below is the Historical Financial Information which forms an integral part
of this accountants’ report.

The financial statements of the Target Company for the Relevant Periods, on
which the Historical Financial Information is based, have been prepared in accordance
with accounting policies which conform with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the
“IASB”) (the “Underlying Financial Statements”).

The Historical Financial Information is presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all

values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise
indicated.
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(A) Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
Note 2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Revenue 4 184,461 189,098 219,128 112,156 83,552
Cost of sales (141,771) (157,655) (164,427) (84,876) (59,840)
Gross profit 42,690 31,443 54,701 27,280 23,712
Other income 5 315 126 287 34 144
General and administrative
expenses (7,380) (7,272) (6,753) (3,051) (7,462)
Selling and distribution
expenses (4,182) 4,171) (3,894) (1,889) (1,273)
Research and development
expenses (7,456) (7,939) (6,804) (2,160) (1,908)
Profit from operations 23,981 12,187 37,537 20,214 13,213
Finance costs 6 (2,996) (2,274 (3,182) (1,043) (1,458)
Profit before income tax 7 20,985 9,913 34,355 19,171 11,755
Income tax expense 8 (2,697) (1,616) (5,313) (2,680) (1,773)
Profit and total
comprehensive income
for the year/period 18,288 8,297 29,042 16,491 9,982
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(B) Statements of financial position

As at 30
As at 31 December June
Note 2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 ~ RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 196,965 180,092 162,059 151,277
Intangible assets 13 21,990 18,362 14,733 12,919
Prepayments 17 485 375 - -
Right-of-use assets 14 - - 266 211

219,440 198,829 177,058 164,407

Current assets

Inventories 15 26,313 22,548 18,444 17,060
Trade and bills receivables 16 12,067 6,695 39,147 53,149
Prepayments and other receivables 17 2,143 1,647 688 985
Cash and cash equivalents 18 3,427 441 2,259 6,458

43,950 31,331 60,538 71,652

Deduct:

Current liabilities

Trade and bills payables 19 87,262 106,666 12,492 17,699
Contract liabilities 20 - 271 926 670
Accruals and other payables 21 60,438 3,423 3,857 4,144
Short-term bank loan, secured 27 - - 70,000 -
Loan from a related company 28 - - - 60,000
Tax payable - - 1,538 804

147,700 110,360 88,813 83,317

Net current liabilities (103,750) (79,029) (28,275) (5,665)

Total assets less current liabilities 115,690 119,800 148,783 158,742

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 22 - 257 198 175
Net assets 115,690 119,543 148,585 158,567
Representing:

Registered capital 23 46,200 46,200 46,200 46,200
Reserves 24 69,490 73,343 102,385 112,367
Total equity 115,690 119,543 148,585 158,567
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(C) Statements of changes in equity

Registered Statutory  Retained
capital reserve earnings Total
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000

At 1.1.2017 46,200 4,990 46,212 97,402
Profit and total comprehensive

income for the year — — 18,288 18,288
Appropriation - 1,748 (1,748) -
At 31.12.2017 and 1.1.2018 46,200 6,738 62,752 115,690
Profit and total comprehensive

income for the year — — 8,297 8,297
Dividend paid (Note 11) - - (4,444) (4,444)
Appropriation - 820 (820) -
At 31.12.2018 and 1.1.2019 46,200 7,558 65,785 119,543
Profit and total comprehensive

income for the year - - 29,042 29,042
Appropriation — 3,043 (3,043) —
At 31.12.2019 and 1.1.2020 46,200 10,601 91,784 148,585
Profit and total comprehensive

income for the period - - 9,982 9,982
At 30.6.2020 46,200 10,601 101,766 158,567
(Unaudited)
At 1.1.2019 46,200 7,558 65,785 119,543
Profit and total comprehensive

income for the period - - 16,491 16,491
At 30.6.2019 46,200 7,558 82,276 136,034
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(D) Statements of cash flows

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
Note 2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
(unaudited)
Cash flows from operating
activities
Profit before income tax 20,985 9,913 34,355 19,171 11,755
Adjustments for:
Amortisation 3,496 3,628 3,629 1,814 1,814
Depreciation 21,510 23,644 22,848 11,424 11,366
Depreciation of right-of-use
assets - - 109 55 55
Bank interest income (36) (28) (38) (23) (30)
Interest expense 2,984 2,266 3,177 1,039 1,456
Operating profit before
working capital changes 48,939 39,423 64,080 33,480 26,416
Changes in working capital:
Inventories 619 3,765 4,104 7,995 1,384
Trade and bills receivables 81,354 5,372 (32,452) 22,704 (14,002)
Prepayments and other
receivables 17,622 1,391 959 (56,221) (297)
Trade payables 76,693 19,404 (94,174) (95,178) 5,207
Contract liabilities - 271 655 (238) (256)
Accruals and other payables 35,184 (60,830) (3,873) 1,749 (78)
Cash generated from/(used in)
operations 260,411 8,796 (60,701) (85,709) 18,374
Interest received 36 28 38 23 30
Income tax paid (2,697) (1,359) (3,834) (4,392) (2,530)
Net cash generated from/(used
in) operating activities 257,750 7,465 (64,497) (90,078) 15,874
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Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
Note 2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000

Cash flows from investing
activities
Payments for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment (14,452) (3,741) (508) 4 (219)

Net cash used in investing
activities (14,452) (3,741) (508) 4) (219)

Cash flows from financing

activities
Proceeds from new bank loans - 100,000 100,000 100,000 -
Repayment of bank loans (240,000)  (100,000) (30,000) - (70,000)
Loan from a related party - - - - 60,000
Dividend paid - (4,444) - - -
Interest paid (2,984) (2,266) (3,177) (1,039) (1,456)
Net cash (used in)/from

financing activities (242,984) (6,710) 06,823 98,961 (11,456)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash

and cash equivalents 314 (2,986) 1,818 8,879 4,199
Cash and cash equivalents at

the beginning of the year/

period 3,113 3,427 441 441 2,259
Cash and cash equivalents at

the end of the year/period 3,427 441 2,259 9,320 6,458
Analysis of the balances of

cash and cash equivalents

Cash at banks 3,427 441 2,259 9,320 0,458
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II. NOTES TO THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Yankuang Yuling Fine Chemical Co., Ltd. (the “Target Company”) is a limited liability company established
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The registered address of the Target Company is located at
Shaanxi Province, Yulin City Yuyang District, Qianhe Town, North District of Yuheng Coal Chemical Industrial
Park.

The principal activity of the Target Company is the production and sales of Fischer Tropsch synthesis
catalysts, paraffin wax, sodium nitrate and potassium silicate. There has been no significant change in the Target
Company’s principal activities during the Relevant Periods.

In the opinion of directors of the Target Company (the “Directors”), as of the date of this report, the parent
and ultimate controlling company of the Target Company is Yankuang Group Company Limited, a company
established in the PRC and wholly owned by the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission
of the People’s Government of Shandong Province of the PRC.

2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The following IFRSs in issue at 30 June 2020 have not been applied in the preparation of these financial
statements since they were not yet effective for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2020:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19 — Related Rent Concession?

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current'

Amendments to IAS 16 Proceeds before Intended®

Amendments to IAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract*

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework®

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018 — 2020 Cycle*

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

A WoN =

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Basis of presentation

The Historical Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), which
comprise all standards and interpretations approved by the IASB. The Historical Financial Information has
been prepared under the historical costs convention except for certain financial instruments, which are
stated at fair value.

3.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Target Company
A number of new and amended standards became applicable for the reporting period
commencing on 1 January 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020. The Target Company had to change its

accounting policies and make modified retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting the
following standards:
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Amendments to IFRS 12

Amendments to IAS 7
Amendments to IAS 12

IFRS 9
IFRS 15

Amendments to IFRS 1
and TAS 28
Amendments to IFRS 2

Amendments to IFRS 4

Amendments to IFRS 15
Amendments to IAS 40
IFRIC 22

IFRS 16

Amendments to Annual
Improvements Project

Amendments to IFRS 9

Amendments to IAS 19
Amendments to IAS 28
IFRIC 23

Amendments to IFRS 3
(Revised)

Amendments to IAS 1
(Revised) and IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 39,
IFRS 7 and IFRS 9

Conceptual Framework for

Financial Reporting 2018

Annual improvements 2014-2016
cycle

Disclosure initiative

Recognition of deferred tax assets for
unrealized losses

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contract with
Customers

Annual improvements 2014-2016
cycle

Classification and measurement of
share-based payment transactions

Applying IFRS 9 financial instruments
with IFRS 4 insurance contracts

Clarifications to IFRS 15

Transfers to investment property

Foreign currency transactions and
advance consideration

Leases

Annual improvements 2015-2017
cycle

Prepayment features with negative
compensation

Plan amendment, curtailment or
settlement

Long-term interests in associates and
joint ventures

Uncertainty over income tax
treatments

Definition of a business

Definition of material
Interest rate benchmark reform

Revised conceptual framework for
financial reporting

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on
or after

1 January 2017

1 January 2017
1 January 2017

1 January 2018
1 January 2018

1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018

1 January 2018

1 January 2019
1 January 2019

1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2020
1 January 2020
1 January 2020

1 January 2020

The Target Company has assessed the impact of adopting these new standards and
amendments. According to the preliminary assessment, these standards are not expected to
have a material impact on the Target Company’s operating results and financial position.

3.1.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

This note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and IFRS 15
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers” on the Target Company’s Historical Financial Information
since | January 2018, as well as the impact of adoption of IFRS 16 “Leases” since 1 January 2019.

(i) IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

IFRS 9 replaces the provisions of IAS 39 that relate to the recognition, classification
and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial
instruments, impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. The Target Company has
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applied IFRS 9 retrospectively to financial instruments that have not been derecognised at the
date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018) in accordance with the transition provisions
under IFRS 9, and chosen not to restate comparative information. Differences in the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities on initial application are recognised in
retained earnings and other components of equity as at 1 January 2018.

The Target Company’s accounting policies for the classification and measurement of
financial instruments and the impairment of financial assets are disclosed in detail in note 3.15
below.

Classification and measurement of financial instruments

The directors of the Target Company reviewed and assessed its existing financial
assets and liabilities as at 1 January 2018 based on the facts and circumstances that
existed at that date and concluded that the initial application of IFRS 9 did not have
significant impact on the Target Company’s classification and measures of its financial
assets and financial liabilities.

Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”)

The adoption of IFRS 9 has changed the Target Company’s accounting for
impairment losses for financial assets by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss model with a
forward-looking expected credit loss (“ECL”) model. As at 1 January 2018, the
Directors reviewed and assessed the Target Company’s existing financial assets and
other items subject to ECL for impairment using reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort in accordance with the requirement of IFRS
9. The adoption of the ECL requirements under IFRS 9 had no significant impact to the
Target Company’s financial statements.

(ii) IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

IFRS 15 superseded IAS 11 “Construction Contracts”, TAS 18 “Revenue” and related
interpretations and it applies to all revenue arising from contracts with customers, unless those
contracts are in the scope of other standards. The new standard established a five-step model
for determining whether how much and when revenue is recognised. The Target Company has
elected to adopt the modified retrospective approach for contracts with customers that are not
completed as at the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018) with the cumulative effect
of initially applying IFRS 15 as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings and
comparative information is not restated. Accordingly, certain comparative information may not
be comparable as comparative information was prepared under IAS 18 “Revenue”. Details are
described below.

The Directors are of the opinion that the adoption of IFRS 15 has no impact on the
timing of revenue recognition of the Target Company.

The Target Company’s accounting policies for its revenue streams are disclosed in detail
in note 3.3 below.

The amount of adjustment for each financial statement line item of the statement of

financial position at 1 January 2018 affected by the application of IFRS 15 is illustrated below.
Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been included.
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Carrying
amount Impact on Carrying
previously adoption of amount as
reported at 31 IFRS 15 - restated at 1
December 2017 Reclassification January 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Accruals and other

payables 60,438 (42,460) 17,978
Contract liabilities - 42,460 42,460

Advances received from customers

As at 1 January 2018, the “receipts in advance” of RMB42,460,000 previously
included in other payables and accruals was reclassified to contract liabilities.

Disclosure of the estimated impact on the amounts reported in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2018 as a result of the adoption of IFRS on 1 January 2018

The following table summarises the estimated impact of applying IFRS 15 on the
statement of financial position at 31 December 2018, by comparing the amounts reported
under IAS 18 and related interpretations that were in effect before the change. Line
items that were not affected by the adjustments have not been included. The adoption of
IFRS 15 did not have material impact on the Target Company’s operating, investing and
financing cash flows.

Impact on the statement of financial position at 31 December 2018

Amounts
excluding
Impact on impacts of
adoption of  adopting IFRS
As reported IFRS 15 15
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Other payables and
accruals 3,423 271 3,694

Contract liabilities 271 (271) -
(iti) IFRS 16 “Leases”

IFRS 16 introduces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. It
introduces significant changes to the lessee accounting by removing the distinction between
operating lease and finance lease and requiring the recognition of right-of-use asset and a lease
liability for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets. In contrast
to lessee accounting, the requirements for lessor accounting have remained largely unchanged.
Details of these new accounting policies are described in note 3.10. Comparative information
has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17 “Leases”.

On transition to IFRS 16, the Target Company elected to apply the practical expedient to
grandfather the assessment of which arrangements are, or contain, leases. It applied IFRS 16
only to contracts that were previously identified as leases. Contracts that were not identified as
leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC-4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”
were not reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a lease under IFRS 16 has been applied only
to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.
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The Target Company as lessee
Operating lease

On adoption of IFRS 16, the Target Company recognised lease liabilities in
relation to leases which had previously been classified as ’operating leases’ under the
principles of IAS 17 “Leases” (except for lease of low value assets and lease with
remaining lease term of twelve months or less). These liabilities were measured at
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019. The adoption of IFRS 16 did not have material
impact on the Target Company’s financial statements as it did not have any operating
lease arrangements.

Finance lease

In addition, the Target Company leases land use right that were classified as
finance leases under IAS 17. For these finance leases, the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset and the lease liability at 1 January 2019 were determined at the
carrying amount of the leased asset and lease liability under IAS 17 immediately before
that date. There is no impact on the opening balance of equity.

The following table summarises the impact of the transition to IFRS 16 at 1
January 2019. Line items that were not affected by the adjustments have not been
included.

Carrying
amount Carrying
previously Impact on amount as
reported at 31 adoption of restated at 1
December 2018 IFRS 16 January 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Prepayments 375 (375) -
Right-of-use assets - 375 375

Practical expedients applied

On the date of initial application of IFRS 16, the Target Company has used the
following practical expedients permitted by the standard:

° not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of
initial application. Instead, for contracts entered into before the transition
date the Target Company relied on its assessment made applying [IAS 17
and IFRIC-4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”;

° the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably
similar characteristics;

° reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous by applying
IAS 37 as an alternative to performing an impairment review;

° the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than
12 months as at 1 January 2019 as short-term leases; and

° the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use
asset at the date of initial application.
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3.1.3 Adoption of the going concern basis

When preparing the financial statements, the Target Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern has been assessed. These financial statements have been prepared by the Directors on a
going concern basis notwithstanding that the Target Company had net current liabilities of
approximately RMB103,750,000, RMB79,029,000, RMB28,275,000 and RMBS5,665,000 at 31
December, 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020, respectively. The Directors have prepared a cash
flow forecast of the Target Company covering a period of twelve months from 30 June 2020 (the
“Cash Flow Forecast”). Based on the Cash Flow Forecast, the Directors are of the opinion that the
Target Company is able to continue as a going concern and it is appropriate to prepare the financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Target Company be unable to continue in business as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to restate the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively and
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise.

3.2 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At each reporting date, the Target Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets and
intangible assets with finite useful life to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset (determined
at the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use) is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life will be tested for
impairment annually. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately. Where an
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but such that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as an income
immediately. For the purposes of impairment testing, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Assessment is performed for each area of interest in conjunction
with the group of operating assets (representing a cash generating unit) to which the Target Company’s
activity is attributed.

3.3 Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or

services.

Specifically, the Target Company uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation
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The Target Company recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligations is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

° The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Target
Company’s performance as the Target Company performs;

° The Target Company’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced; or

° The Target Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Target Company and the Target Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct
goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer, excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Target Company’s obligation to transfer goods or services to
a customer for which the Target Company has received consideration from the customer.

The Target Company recognised revenue from the following major sources:
° Sales of goods (including catalyst and sodium nitrate)
Sales of goods

Revenue from sale of catalyst and sodium nitrate is recognised at the point when the control of
the goods is transferred to the customers (generally on delivery of the goods to the location specified
by the customers and accepted by the customers). It is a point of time where the customer has the
ability to direct the use of the products and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of the
products.

3.4 Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are
expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is derecognised.
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3.5

stated

3.6

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development expenditure is recognised
only if it is anticipated that the development costs incurred on a clearly-defined project will be
recovered through future commercial activity. The resultant asset is amortised on a straight line basis
over its useful life. Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised only
when the Target Company can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete
the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets), other than construction in progress, are
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings

For payments of ownership interest of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire property is presented as property, plant and equipment of the Target
Company when the payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold land and building
elements.

To the extend the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” (upon
application of IFRS 16) or “prepaid lease payments” (before application IFRS 16) in the statement of
financial position.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment,
other than construction in progress and freehold land, over their estimated useful lives and after
taking into account their estimated residual value, using the straight line method or unit of production
method.

Estimated Estimated
Category useful life residual values
Land and buildings 20 years 0%
Machinery 1 — 10 years 0%
Electronic and other equipment 4 years 0%
Motor vehicles 1 — 10 years 0%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at the end of each reporting periods.

Any gain or loss arising on the disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents production site development projects under construction for

production or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any impairment loss.

Costs

included costs of constructing the manufacturing plant and acquisition of mining rights, mining
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permits and licenses that form an integral part of the overall development projects. Construction in progress
is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment or intangible assets when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation or amortisation commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

3.7 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institution and short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. For the preparation of cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Target Company’s cash
management.

3.8 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, which comprises direct
materials and, where applicable, direct labour and overheads that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition, is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all further costs to completion and costs to be
incurred in selling, marketing and distribution.

Inventories of auxiliary materials, spare parts and small tools expected to be used in production are
stated at weighted average cost less allowance, if necessary, for obsolescence.

3.9 Taxation
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal
authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting date. They are
calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based
on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a
component of tax expense in profit or loss.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year/period. Taxable profit differs from
profit before tax as reported in the statement of profit or loss because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible.he Target Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences at the reporting date between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised
for all deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other unused
tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and
unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in

subsidiaries, except where the Target Company is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset realised. Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in profit or loss,
or in other comprehensive income or directly in equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either (i) the same taxable entity; or (ii) different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

3.10 Leasing
Definition of a lease

Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the
use of an identifiable asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Target Company as lessee

The Target Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the
contract. The Target Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with
respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the
Target Company recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Target Company measures lease liability at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Target Company uses

its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

° fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;
° variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the

index or rate at the commencement date;
° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the
options; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Target
Company exercising an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.
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The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
asset) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances
resulting in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using revised
discount rate.

° the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate
(unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which
case a revised discount rate is used).

° A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a
separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability,
lease payments made at or before the commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease
incentives received. Whenever the Target Company incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and
remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, provision is recognised and measured
under IAS 37 “Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. The costs are included in the
related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

They are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset
reflects that the Target Company expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The Target Company presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in the statement of financial
position.

The Target Company applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment loss.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Target Company allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and

instead account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The
Target Company hasused this practical expedient for all leases.
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3.11 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Target Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot
be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain events not wholly within the control of the
Target Company are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

3.12 Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Target Company
will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which
the Target Company recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to
compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Target Company should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in the
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the
useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Target Company with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

3.13 Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution plans including included state-managed retirement benefit schemes
and superannuation funds are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

3.14 Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave are
included in other payables and accrued expenses. Related on-costs are also included in other payables and
accrued expenses as other creditors. Long service leave is provided for when it is probable that settlement
will be required and it is capable of being measured reliably.

Employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months are measured using the remuneration rate
expected to apply at the time of settlement. Provisions made in respect of employee benefits which are not
expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash
outflows to be made by the Target Company in respect of services provided by employees up to the
reporting date.

3.15 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position when the
Target Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value, except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised
cost or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are
classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, FVTOCI and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Target Company’s business model for managing them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Target Company measures financial assets subsequently at amortised cost if both of the
following conditions are met:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amoritsed cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest
method and are subject to impairment.

(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt
instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e.
assets that are credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial
recognition. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective
interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit
losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured
at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount,
adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost
of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.
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Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other than purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the “Other income” line item
(note 5).

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Target Company may make an irrevocable election (on an
instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI.
Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or
loss on disposal of the equity investments, instead, they will be transferred to retained
earnings.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss
when the Target Company’s right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the
“Other income” line item in profit or loss.

Financial asset at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

° Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Target
Company designates an equity investment that is neither held for trading nor a
contingent consideration arising from a business combination as at FVTOCI on
initial recognition.

° Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI
criteria are classified as at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either
the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets
or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. The
Target Company has not designated any debt instruments as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “Other
income” line item.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

—II-B-23 —



APPENDIX II AUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF
TARGET GROUP AND TARGET ASSETS

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

° on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that the Target Company manages together and has evidence of a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a
designated and effective hedging instrument).

Impairment of financial assets

The Target Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on
investments in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost as well as financial
guarantee contracts. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Target Company always recognises lifetime ECL for bills and accounts receivables.
The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Target Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as
well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of
money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Target Company measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Target Company recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Target Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Target
Company considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular
debtor, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same
debtor;
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° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Target Company presumes that
the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Target Company has
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Target Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Target Company considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has
external credit rating of ’investment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
’performing’. Performing means that the counterparty has a strong financial position and there
is no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Target Company becomes a party to
the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes
of assessing the financial instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a financial guarantee contract,
the Target Company considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on
the contract.

The Target Company regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Target Company considers the following as constituting an event of default for
internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that
meet either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

° information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that

the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Target Company, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by the Target Company).
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
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° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Target Company writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating
that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over 4 years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Target Company’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. As for the exposure at default, for
financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the
reporting date, together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future
by default date determined based on historical trend, the Target Company’s understanding of
the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Target Company in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Target Company expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Target Company is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Target Company expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

If the Target Company has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Target Company
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date,
except for assets for which simplified approach was used.

The Target Company recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all

financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.
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Derecognition of financial assets

The Target Company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to
the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Target Company
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Target Company recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Target Company retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Target
Company continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss. On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Target Company has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a Company entity are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any gains or losses arising on
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a
designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates
any interest paid on the financial liabilities and is included in the ‘other income’ line item in
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination, 2) held-for-trading, or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified

payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payments when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
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Financial guarantee contracts issued by a group entity are initially measured at their fair
values and, if not designated as at FVTPL and do not arise from a transfer of a financial asset,
are subsequently measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9; and

° the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Target Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Target
Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities of the Target Company are offset and the net amount
presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, there is a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

3.16 Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Target Company’s leasing transactions, net realisable value
of inventories and value-in-use of intangible assets, prepaid lease payments, property, plant and equipment
and construction in progress for the purpose of impairment assessment, the Target Company takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Target Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for
which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically, the Target Company categorised the fair value
measurements into three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Target Company determines whether transfer occur between
levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring
basis by reviewing their respective fair value measurement.

3.17 Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.
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The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives, after taking into account the estimated residual value if any. The Target Company reviews the
estimated useful lives and basis of depreciation of property, plant and equipment regularly in order to
determine the amount of depreciation expenses to be recorded during any reporting period. The useful
lives and basis of depreciation are based on the Target Company’s historical experience with similar
assets and take into account anticipated technological changes. The depreciation expenses for future
periods are adjusted prospectively if there are significant changes from previous estimates.

(ii)  Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. These
estimates are based on the current market conditions, technology changes and the historical
experience of selling products with similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer preference or competitor actions. The Target Company reassesses these estimates at the
end of each reporting period.

(iii) Impairment of trade receivables and other receivables

Impairment of trade receivables and other receivables is made based on assessment of their
recoverability. The identification of impairment of trade receivables and other receivables requires
management’s judgment and estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is different
from the original estimate, such differences will impact the carrying value of the receivables and
impairment loss or reversal of impairment in the period in which such an estimate has been changed.

(iv)  Current and deferred income taxes

The Target Company is subject to income taxes in Mainland China. Judgements and
estimations are required in determining the provision for income taxes for certain transactions
(including inter-company transactions) and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the current income tax and deferred income tax
provisions in the periods in which such determinations are made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and tax losses are
recognised as management considers it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the expectation is different from
the original estimate, such differences will impact the recognition of deferred income tax assets and
taxation in the periods in which such estimate is changed.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION AND REVENUE

During the Relevant Periods, the Target Company’s revenue was generated form production and trading of
catalyst and sodium nitrate in the PRC. The Target Company sells goods directly to its related parties, normally
within 180 days to 365 days credit period. The Target Company also sells goods to third party customers on Cash
On Delivery (COD) basis, no credit period granted to third party customers. Management monitors the operating
results as a whole for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Accordingly, no operating segment information is presented. An analysis of revenue of the Target Company is as
follows:

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Revenue from contracts with
customers within the scope of
IFRS 15
Sales of catalyst 167,346 167,778 192,539 99,115 75,045
Sales of sodium nitrate 16,889 21,190 26,328 12,894 8,387
184,235 188,968 218,867 112,009 83,432
Revenue from other sources
Sales of waste materials 226 130 261 147 120
184,461 189,098 219,128 112,156 83,552
Disaggregated by timing of
revenue recognition
— At a point in time 184,461 189,098 219,128 112,156 83,552

4.1 Geographical information

All of the Target Company’s revenue were generated in the PRC. All of the Target Company’s
non-current assets are located in the PRC.

4.2 Revenue from major customers

Revenue from customers of the Relevant Periods contributing over 10% of the total sales of the
Target Company are as follows:

Six months ended
Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)

Customer A 167,346 167,778 192,539 99,115 75,045
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OTHER INCOME

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(unaudited)

Bank interest income 36 28 38 23 30
Government grants (Note) 258 69 206 - 90
Commission fee - 14 - - 23
Penalty income 21 15 43 11 1
315 126 287 34 144

Note:

Government grants have been received from PRC local government authorities to support a

company’s project, local worker’s Employment Support Scheme. There are no unfulfilled conditions

or contingencies relating to these grants.

FINANCE COSTS

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Interest on bank loans 2,984 2,266 3,177 1,039 1,456
Bank charges 12 8 5 4 2
2,996 2,274 3,182 1,043 1,458
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7. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX
Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging:

Six months ended
Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)

(a) Staff costs
Salaries and other benefits 4,489 4,626 4,532 1,935 1,954
Staff welfare 1,661 1,915 1,977 1,032 1,024
Defined contribution
retirement plan

contributions 575 756 707 258 259
6,725 7,297 7,216 3,225 3,237
(b) Other items:
Amortisation 3,496 3,628 3,629 1,814 1,814
Cost of inventories sold 141,771 157,655 164,427 84,876 59,840
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 21,510 23,644 22,848 11,424 11,366
Depreciation on right-of-use
assets - - 109 55 55

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Current tax
Provision for the year/period 2,697 1,359 5,372 2,680 1,796
Deferred tax
Charge/(credit) for the
year/period — note 22 - 257 (59) - (23)
2,697 1,616 5,313 2,680 1,773

Income tax provision of the Target Company has been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the estimated
assessable profits for the Relevant Periods, based on the existing legislation, interpretations and practices in
respect thereof.

The National People’s Congress approved the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “New CIT Law”)
on 16 March 2007 and the State Council has announced the Detailed Implementation Regulations on 6 December
2007, which has been effective since 1 January 2008. According to the New CIT Law, the income tax rates for
both domestic and foreign investment enterprises are unified at 25% effective from 1 January 2008.

According to the “Notice on Announcement of the List of the Second Batch of High-tech Enterprises and

the List of the First Batch of High-tech Enterprises (Supplementary) in Shaanxi Province in 2017” (Shaanke
Chanfa “2017” No. 221) announced on December 29, 2017, the Target Company is recognised as a high-tech
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enterprise and enjoys 15% tax preferential policies. The high-tech enterprise certificate number is
GR201761000958. The date of issuance is December 24, 2017. The validity period is three years, from 2017 to
2020.

A reconciliation between income tax expense and profit before income tax at applicable tax rates is set out
below:

Six months ended
Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)

Profit before income tax 20,985 9,913 34,355 19,171 11,755

Taxation at the applicable tax

rate 3,148 1,487 5,154 2,876 1,763
Tax effect of non-deductible
expenses 128 422 441 - 10

Additional deduction of research
and development expenses and
capital expenditure (579) (293) (282) (196) -

Income tax expense 2,697 1,616 5,313 2,680 1,773

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

No directors’ emoluments has been paid by the Target Company during the Relevant Periods and the six
months ended 30 June 2019, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing The Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation:

There was no arrangement under which a director or supervisor waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the Relevant Periods and the six months ended 30 June 2019. No emoluments were paid by
the Target Company to any of the directors or supervisors as an inducements to join or upon joining the Target
Company or as compensating for loss of office.
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Five highest paid employees

An analysis of the five highest paid employees within the Target Company for the Relevant Periods

and the six months ended 30 June 2019 is as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2017 2018 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Six months ended
30 June
2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)

Directors - - - - -

Non-directors 2,005 1,854 1,751 677 855
2,005 1,854 1,751 677 855

Number of directors

Number of non-directors 5 5 5 5 5

Details of the remuneration of the non-directors are as follows:

Year ended 31 December
2017 2018 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Other emoluments
Salaries and other

Six months ended
30 June
2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)

benefits 1,818 1,665 1,558 576 759
Defined contribution
retirement plan
contribution 187 189 193 101 96
2,005 1,854 1,751 677 855

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE TARGET

COMPANY

No earnings per share information is presented for the purpose of this report as its inclusion is not

considered meaningful for the Relevant Periods.
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11. DIVIDENDS
The dividends declared by the Target Company to their then shareholders during the Relevant Periods were
as follows:
Six months ended
Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Dividends paid to then
shareholders - 4,444 - - -
12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Electronic
Motor and other Construction
Buildings Machinery vehicle equipment in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
For the six months ended
30 June 2020
Opening net book value 93,231 68,660 41 127 - 162,059
Additions - 584 - - - 584
Depreciation (3,010) (8,315) (22) (19) - (11,366)
Closing net book value 90,221 60,929 19 108 - 151,277
At 30.6.2020
Cost 120,407 149,773 312 2,312 - 272,804
Aggregate depreciation (30,186) (88,844) (293) (2,204) - (121,527)
Net book value 90,221 60,929 19 108 - 151,277
For the year ended
31 December 2019
Opening net book value 97,306 82,585 87 114 - 180,092
Additions 1,853 2,919 - 43 - 4,815
Depreciation (5,928) (16,844) (46) (30) - (22,848)
Closing net book value 93,231 68,660 41 127 - 162,059
At 31.12.2019
Cost 120,407 149,189 312 2,312 - 272,220
Aggregate depreciation (27,176) (80,529) (271) (2,185) - (110,161)
Net book value 93,231 68,660 41 127 - 162,059
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Electronic
Motor and other Construction
Buildings Machinery vehicle equipment in progress Total

RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

For the year ended
31 December 2018

Opening net book value 103,234 92,319 165 462 785 196,965
Additions - 6,771 - - - 6,771
Transfer from CIP - 785 - - (785) -
Depreciation (5,928) (17,290) (78) (348) - (23,644)
Closing net book value 97,306 82,585 87 114 - 180,092
At 31.12.2018
Cost 118,554 146,270 312 2,269 - 267,405
Aggregate depreciation (21,248) (63,685) (225) (2,155) - (87,313)
Net book value 97,306 82,585 87 114 - 180,092
For the year ended

31 December 2017
Opening net book value 103,647 92,645 243 983 - 197,518
Additions 5,254 14,738 - 180 785 20,957
Depreciation (5,667) (15,064) (78) (701) - (21,510)
Closing net book value 103,234 92,319 165 462 785 196,965
At 31.12.2017
Cost 118,554 138,714 312 2,269 785 260,634
Aggregate depreciation (15,320) (46,395) (147) (1,807) - (63,669)
Net book value 103,234 92,319 165 462 785 196,965

The Target Company is in the process of obtaining the relevant building ownership certificate. The directors
do not foresee any major obstacles to issuing the certificates of the above-mentioned buildings to the Target
Company. The carrying amount of the above-mentioned buildings amounted to RMB103,234,000, RMB97,306,000,
RMB93,231,000, RMB73,156,000 at 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020, respectively.
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13.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the six months ended 30 June 2020
Opening net book value
Amortisation

Closing net book value

At 30.6.2020
Cost
Aggregate amortisation

Net book value

For the year ended 31 December 2019
Opening net book value
Amortisation

Closing net book value

At 31.12.2019
Cost
Aggregate amortisation

Net book value

For the year ended 31 December 2018
Opening net book value
Amortisation

Closing net book value

At 31.12.2018
Cost
Aggregate amortisation

Net book value

For the year ended 31 December 2017
Opening net book value

Additions

Amortisation

Closing net book value

At 31.12.2017
Cost
Aggregate amortisation

Net book value
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Patents
RMB’000

14,733
(1,814)

12,919
32,000
(19,081)
12,919
18,362

(3,629)

14,733

32,000
(17,267)

14,733
21,990
(3,628)
18,362
32,000

(13,638)
18,362
23,486

2,000
(3,496)

21,990
32,000
(10,010)

21,990
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As at 31 December 2019 and 30 June 2020, right-of-use assets represents prepaid lease payments of land
use rights located in the PRC leased from a related company.

14. LEASE

@

Amounts recognised in the statements of financial position

Right-of-use assets
As at 31 December
2017 2018 2019

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Land use rights — — 266

As at

30 June
2020
RMB’000

211

As at 31 December 2019 and 30 June 2020, right-of-use assets represents
payments of land use rights located in the PRC leased from a related company.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Year ended Year ended Year ended

prepaid lease

31 31 31 Period
December December December ended 30
2017 2018 2019 June 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Depreciation expense on right-of-use
assets - - 109 55

15. INVENTORIES

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Raw materials 5,796 3,811 5,602 6,391
Finished goods 20,517 18,737 12,842 10,669
26,313 22,548 18,444 17,060
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16. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables — note 16(a)
— third parties - 95 - -
— related parties - - 22,047 52,149
Less: impairment loss on trade receivables — — — —

- 95 22,047 52,149

Bills receivables — note 16(b)
— third parties 2,000 2,000 - 1,000
— related parties 10,067 4,600 17,100 -
12,067 6,695 39,147 53,149

The Target Company normally allows credit terms to related parties ranging from 180 to 365 days. The
Target Company seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by the Directors. Trade and bills receivables are expected to be recovered within one year.

(a)

(b)

An aging analysis of trade and bills receivables as at the end of each reporting period, based on the
date of recognition of the goods sold, is as follows:

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 year 12,067 6,695 39,147 53,149

Details of impairment assessments on trade and bill receivables from customers are set out in note
26(a).

As at 31 December 2018, bills receivables of RMB2,300,000 were pledged to obtain general banking

facilities available to the Target Company. There were no pledges as at 31 December 2017, 2019 and
30 June 2020.
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17.

18.

19.

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Other receivables

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

— related parties 233 227 456 290
Prepayments 813 874 232 695
VAT receivables 1,582 921 - -
2,628 2,022 688 985

Analysed as:
Non-current assets 485 375 - -
Current assets 2,143 1,647 688 985
2,628 2,022 688 985

The current portion of prepayments and other receivables are expected to be recovered or recognised as
expense within one year.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Cash at banks 3,427 441 2,259 6,458

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES
As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables

— third parties 13,085 10,725 6,676 13,861
— related parties 74,177 93,799 5,816 3,838
87,262 104,524 12,492 17,699
Bills payables — 2,142 — —
87,262 106,666 12,492 17,699

The Target Company normally obtains credit terms of 90 — 180 days from its suppliers.
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An aging analysis of the trade and bills payables at the end of each reporting period, based on the date of
receipt of goods purchased, is as follows:

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 year 87,262 106,666 12,492 17,699

20. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Target Company recognised the following revenue-related contract liabilities from contract with
customers:

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract liabilities - 271 926 670

Contract liabilities mainly consists of sales deposits received from customers for which the related revenue
had not been recognised as at 31 December 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020, and the Directors expects those
related revenue to be recognised within the next twelve months.

The following table shows the movements in contract liabilities during the Relevant Periods related to
carried-forward contract liabilities.

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At the beginning of the year/period - 42,460 271 926
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of

recognising revenue during the year /period

that was included in the contract liabilities at

the beginning of the year/period - (42,460) (271) (926)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of

receiving sales deposits, for the relevant

unrecognised revenue at the end of the

year/period — 271 926 670

At the end of the year/period — 271 926 670
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21.

22.

23.

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

Payroll payables

Other payables, accruals and receipt in advance
— third parties
— related parties

Other tax payables

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

1,360 1,902 2,479 1,635
1,094 215 33 942
57,130 - 5 -
854 1,306 1,340 1,567
60,438 3,423 3,857 4,144

The followings are deferred tax liabilities recognised by the Target Company and movements thereon during
the Relevant Periods:

At 1.1.2017
Credit/(charge) for the year

At 31.12.2017 and 1.1.2018
Charge for the year

At 31.12.2018 and 1.1.2019
Credit for the year

At 31.12.2019 and 1.1.2020
Credit for the period

At 30.6.2020

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Accelerated
depreciation
allowances
RMB’000

257

257
(59)

198
(23)

175

(a)  Details of the Target Company’s registered capital are set out below:

Registered capital

As at

As at 31 December 30 June

2017 2018 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

46,200 46,200 46,200 46,200
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24.

25.

(b)  Capital management

The Target Company’s equity capital management objectives are to safeguard the Target Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to provide an adequate return to members commensurately
with the level of risk. To meet these objectives, the Target Company manages the equity capital
structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions by paying
dividends to members, issuing new equity shares by the Target Company, and raising or repaying
debts as appropriate.

The Target Company’s equity capital management strategy, which was unchanged from the previous
periods, is to maintain a reasonable proportion in net bank borrowings and equity capital. The Target
Company monitors equity capital on the basis of the net debts-to-equity capital ratio, which is
calculated as net bank borrowings over equity capital. Net debts are calculated as total debts less
cash and bank balances. Equity capital comprises all components of equity.

The management of the Target Company reviews the capital structure periodically. The management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with the capital. The Target Company manages
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends and raising of new capital as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

RESERVES
(a)  Statutory reserve

Pursuant to the Company Law of the PRC and the Articles of Association, it is required to
appropriate 10% of each year’s net profit according to the PRC accounting standard and regulations (after
offsetting previous years’ losses) to statutory reserve until such reserve reached 50% of its registered
capital.

The appropriation to statutory reserves must be made before distribution of dividends to owners. This
reserve shall only be used to make up for previous years’ losses, to expand production operations, or to
increase the capital of the Target Company. The statutory reserve can be transferred to paid-in capital of the
Target Company, provided that the balance of the statutory reserve after such transfer is not less than 25%
of their registered capital.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Apart from the transactions as disclosed in notes 14, 16, 17, 19, 21, 27 and 28, the Target Company had the

following material transactions with its related parties during the Relevant Periods:

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Goods sold to related companies
— Sales of catalyst products 167,346 167,778 192,539 99,115 75,045
— Interest income 13 10 16 9 27
Goods purchased from related
companies
— Purchase of goods 30,661 34,176 32,148 16,673 11,357
— Services rendered by related
companies 9,960 2,830 5,424 684 275
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26. NATURE AND EXTENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS RISKS

The Target Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including credit risk, liquidity risk,
interest rate risk and currency risk. The Target Company’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Target Company’s
financial performance.

(a)  Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The credit risk of the Target Company mainly arises from
cash at banks, trade and bills receivables, other receivables. The carrying amounts of these balances
represent the Target Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to these assets.

The credit quality of the other receivables has been assessed with reference to historical information
about the counterparties default rates and financial position of the counterparties. The directors of the Target
Company are of the opinion that the credit risk of the other receivables is low due to the sound financial
position or collection history of the receivables due from them. Therefore, expected credit loss rate of the
other receivables is assessed to be closed to zero and no provision was made as at 31 December 2018 and
2019 and 30 June 2020.

In respect of cash deposited at banks, the credit risk is considered to be low as the counterparties are
reputable banks. The existing counterparties do not have defaults in the past. Therefore, expected credit loss
rate of cash at bank is assessed to be closed to zero and no provision was made as at 31 December 2017,
2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Target Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Target Company arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the statement of financial position due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties.

The credit risk of the Target Company is concentrated on trade receivables from the largest customer
at 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2019 amounting to RMBNil, RMBNil, RMB22,047,000
and RMB52,149,000 respectively and accounted for 0%, 0%, 100% and 100% respectively of the Target
Company’s total trade and bills receivables before impairment losses. The largest customer is a related
company. In order to minimise credit risk, management continuously monitors the level of exposure by
frequent review of the credit evaluation of the financial condition and credit quality of its customers to
ensure that prompt actions will be taken to lower exposure. In addition, the Target Company performs
impairment assessment under ECL model upon application of IFRS 9 (2017: incurred loss model) on trade
balances based on provision matrix. In this regard, the directors of the Target Company consider that the
Target Company’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Financial instruments with credit risk assessment and expected credit loss measurement by group

Expected credit loss calculation

Item Grouping basis approach

Other receivables — group of Related parties within the  The expected credit loss is calculated,
related dealings within the scope of combination with reference to historical credit loss
scope of combination experience, in consideration of current

Other receivables — group of Nature conditions and expectation of future
receivables from economic conditions, and based on the
government default risk exposure and 12-month or

Other receivables — group of lifetime expected credit loss rate.
deposits receivables and
others etc.
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Specific group and expected credit loss calculation approach

Expected credit loss calculation

Item Grouping basis approach

Accounts receivable — Grouping by age Simplified approach — provision
grouping by age combination matrix

Accounts receivable — group Related parties within the  The expected credit loss is calculated,
of related parties scope of combination with reference to historical credit loss

Accounts receivable — State-owned enterprises experience, in consideration of current
state-owned enterprises conditions and expectation of future

economic conditions, and based on the
default risk exposure and lifetime
expected credit loss rate.

Bills receivable Issuer of bills The expected credit loss is calculated
with reference to historical credit loss
experience, in consideration of current
conditions and expected of future
economic conditions, and based on the
default risk exposure and lifetime
expected credit loss rate.

Management assessed that the expected credit loss rate and loss allowances for these balance to be
insignificant during the Relevant Periods.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Target Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with financial liability. The Target Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring its liquidity
position through periodic preparation of cash flows and cash balances forecasts and periodic evaluation of
the ability of the Target Company to meet its financial obligations.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the each reporting
period of the Target Company’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Target Company can be required
to pay.

At 31 December 2017

Total Over

contractual Less than 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than Over
amount cash flows on demand 5 years S years

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Total amounts of
contractual
undiscounted
obligations:
Trade and bills payables 87,262 87,262 87,262 - -
Accruals and other
payables 60,438 60,438 60,438 - -

147,700 147,700 147,700 — —
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Total amounts of

contractual

undiscounted

obligations:

Trade and bills payables

Accruals and other
payables

Total amounts of

contractual

undiscounted

obligations:

Trade and bills payables

Accruals and other
payables

Short-term loans,
secured

Total amounts of

contractual

undiscounted

obligations:

Trade and bills payables

Accruals and other
payables

Loans from a related
company

At 31 December 2018

Total Over

contractual Less than 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than Over
amount cash flows on demand S years S years

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

106,666 106,666 106,666 - -
3,423 3,423 3,423 — —
110,089 110,089 110,089 - —

At 31 December 2019

Total Over

contractual Less than 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than Over
amount cash flows on demand 5 years 5 years

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

12,492 12,492 12,492 - -

3,857 3,857 3,857 - -
70,000 74,241 74,241 — —
86,349 90,590 90,590 — —

At 30 June 2020

Total Over

contractual Less than 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than Over
amount cash flows on demand 5 years 5 years

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

17,699 17,699 17,699 - -

4,144 4,144 4,144 - -
60,000 60,653 60,653 - -
81,843 82,496 82,496 - -
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27.

(¢c) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Target Company may manage interest rate risk,

when it is considered significant and cost-effective, by entering into appropriate swap contracts.

As at the end of each of the Relevant Periods, the Target Company does not have any significant
exposure to the interest rate risk.

(d) Currency risk

The Target Company’s major businesses are in the PRC and the majority of the transactions are
conducted in RMB. Most of the Target Company’s assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB. As a
result, the Target Company does not have material foreign currency risk during the Relevant Periods.

(e)  Fair value

The Target Company considered that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the financial statements approximated their fair values.

SHORT-TERM BANK LOAN, SECURED

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Repayable:
Within one year - - 70,000 -

The loan was interest bearing at 4.35% per annum, secured by a guarantee by a related company, Shaanxi

Future Energy & Chemicals Co., Ltd and repayable by 25 March 2020.

28.

29.

30.

LOAN FROM A RELATED COMPANY

The loan is interest bearing at 4.35% per annum, unsecured and repayable by 22 March 2021.
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of each reporting period, the Target Company did not have any significant contingent liabilities.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Since the outbreak of the new coronavirus disease (“COVID-19 outbreak”) in January 2020, the

containment of the COVID-19 outbreak has been being under way throughout the country. The Target Company
actively responds to and implements the national regulations and requirements for the prevention and control of
the COVID-19. Since 30 June 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak was contained to some extent, but not completely
eradicated, so that the Target Company will continue to responds to and implements the national regulations and
requirements for the prevention and control of the COVID-19.

It is expected that the COVID-19 outbreak and its containment measures will have a certain temporary

impact on the Target Company’s production and operations in the second half of 2020. The extent of impact
depends on the progress and duration of the containment of the outbreak and the implementation of prevention
and control policies in various regions.
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The Target Company keeps eyes on the development of the COVID-19 outbreak, evaluates its impact on the
financial status and operating results of the Target Company, strengthens its efforts to contain the outbreak and
promotes the resumption of work and production in an active and orderly manner.

31. SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No audited financial statements have been prepared by the Target Company in respect of any period
subsequent to 30 June 2020 and up to the date of this report.

32. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Target Company’s liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Target Company’s statements of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

Loan from

a related

Bank loans company

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2019 - -
Proceeds from bank loans 100,000 -
Repayment of bank loans (30,000) -
Financing cost recognised — note 6 3,177 -
Interest paid (3,177) -
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 70,000 -
Proceeds from short-term loans - 60,000
Repayment of bank loans (70,000) -
Financing cost recognised — note 6 1,456 -
Interest paid (1,456) -
At 30 June 2020 — 60,000
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C. ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON LUNAN CHEMICAL

The following is the text of a report for the sole purpose of inclusion in this circular,
from the independent reporting accountants, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, Certified Public
Accountants, Hong Kong.

% Crowe BEESE (8) StMEBRERAT
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
& REE 1SIRET7R T8RP 0E
9/F Leighton Centre,
77 Leighton Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

The Directors
Yanzhou Coal Mining Company Limited

Dear Sirs,

We report on the historical financial information of Yankuang Lunan Chemical Co., Ltd
(the “Target Company”) set out on page II-C-4 to II-C-61, which comprises the statements
of financial position of the Target Company as at 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30
June 2020, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
statements of changes in equity and the statements of cash flows of the Target Company for
each of the years ended 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and the six months ended 30
June 2020 (the “Relevant Periods”), and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information (the ‘“Historical Financial Information”). This Historical
Financial Information set out on pages II-C-4 to II-C-61 forms an integral part of this report,
which has been prepared for for inclusion in the circular of Yanzhou Coal Mining Company
Limited (the “Company”) dated 16 November 2020 (the “Circular”) in connection with the
proposed acquisition of 100% equity interest in the Target Company by the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

The directors of the Target Company are responsible for the preparation of the
Historical Financial Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance with the basis
of presentation and preparation set out in note 3 to the Historical Financial Information, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
Historical Financial Information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

REPORTING ACCOUNTANT’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Historical Financial Information and
to report our opinion to you. We conducted our work in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standard on Investment Circular Reporting Engagements 200 “Accountants’ Reports on
Historical Financial Information in Investment Circulars” issued by Hong Kong Institute of
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Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). This standard requires that we comply with
ethical standards and plan and perform our work to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the Historical Financial Information is free from material misstatement.

Our work involved performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the Historical Financial Information. The procedures selected depend on the
reporting accountants’ judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement
of the Historical Financial Information, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the reporting accountant considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of Historical Financial Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance
with the basis of preparation set out in note 3 to the Historical Financial Information, in
order to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Our work also
included evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the Historical Financial Information.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the Historical Financial Information gives, for the purposes of the
accountants’ report, true and fair view of the financial position of the Target Company as at
31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 and 30 June 2020 and of its financial performance and
its cash flows for the Relevant Periods in accordance with the basis of the preparation set
out in note 3 to the Historical Financial Information.

REVIEW OF STUB PERIOD COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL INFORMATION.

We have reviewed the stub period comparative financial information of the Target
Company which comprises the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the six months ended
30 June 2019 and other explanatory information (the “Stub Period Comparative Financial
Information”). The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and
presentation of the Stub Period Comparative Financial Information in accordance with the
basis of preparation and presentation set out in Note 3 to the Historical Financial
Information. Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the Stub Period Comparative
Financial Information based on our review. We conducted our review in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Review Engagements 2410 ‘“Review of Interim Financial
Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity” issued by the HKICPA. A
review consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and
accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is
substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become
aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not
express an audit opinion. Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes
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us to believe that the Stub Period Comparative Financial Information, for the purposes of the
accountants’ report, is not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the basis of
preparation and presentation set out in note 3 to the Historical Financial Information.

REPORT ON MATTERS UNDER THE RULES GOVERNING THE LISTING OF
SECURITIES ON THE MAIN BOARD OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE AND THE
COMPANIES (WINDING UP AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ORDINANCE

Adjustments

In preparing the Historical Financial Information, no adjustments to the Underlying
Financial Statements as defined on page II-C-4 have been made.

Dividends

We refer to note 11 to the Historical Financial Information which states that no
dividends have been paid by the Target Company in respect of the Relevant Periods.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chung Wai Chuen Alfred
Practising Certificate Number: P05444

Hong Kong
16 November 2020
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I. HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF YANKUANG LUNAN
CHEMICAL CO., LTD.

Preparation of Historical Financial Information

Set out below is the Historical Financial Information which forms an integral part
of this accountants’ report.

The financial statements of the Target Company for the Relevant Periods, on
which the Historical Financial Information is based, have been prepared in accordance
with accounting policies which conform with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the
“IASB”) (the “Underlying Financial Statements”).

The Historical Financial Information is presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all

values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise
indicated.
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(A) STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Selling and distribution expenses

Research and development expenses

General and administrative
expenses

Profit from operations
Finance costs

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax (expense)/credit

Profit/(loss) for the year/period

Other comprehensive income:

Items that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss:

Equity investment at fair value -
net movement in fair value
reserve (non-recycling), net of
tax

Profit/(loss) and other
comprehensive income for the
year/period

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
Note RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000

(unaudited)

4 4,079,409 6,356,124 6,310,350 2,915,584 2,603,067
(3,295,343)  (5,167,736) (5,385,883) (2,456,355) (2,437,362)
784,006 1,188,388 924,467 459,229 165,705
5 17,883 04,783 43,949 17,670 25,370
(134,135) (1,464) (434) (213) (239)
(144,327) (90,308)  (199,969) (77,137) (72,470)
(47,573)  (509,611)  (144,228) (59,985) (80,621)
475914 651,788 023,785 339,564 37,745
6 (277,807)  (221,674)  (170,052) (81,355) (76,684)
7 198,107 430,114 453,733 258,209 (38,939)
8 (59,058) (43,958) (59,804) (33,957) 10,894
139,049 386,156 393,929 224,252 (28,045)
- (953) 381 - (296)
139,049 385,203 394,310 224,252 (28,341)
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(B) STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at
As at 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020

Note  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 3,850,764 4,743,832 4,631,478 4,725,186
Intangible assets 13 287,157 334,853 599,610 520,734
Investments in securities 14 10,000 8,879 9,327 8,980
Right-of-use assets 15 - - 466,502 448,268
Prepayments 18 6,129 3,405 29,439 24,338
Other non-current assets 110,578 127,225 300,693 653,547
Long term deposits - 825,636 855,796 870,555
Deferred tax assets 25 10,111 14,801 - 7,069

4,274,739 6,058,631 6,892,845 7,258,677

Current assets

Inventories 16 202,375 279,865 291,600 249,480
Trade and bills receivables 17 481,591 1,035,357 087,043 837,737
Prepayments and other receivables 18 1,988,258 859,026 954,691 963,069
Cash and cash equivalents 19 1,595,975 566,251 233,713 502,131

4,268,199 2,740,499 2,467,047 2,552,417

Deduct:

Current liabilities

Trade and bills payables 20 1,274,975 741,178 743,883 839,233
Lease liabilities 15 - - 294,000 -
Contract liabilities 21 - 3,383 3,178 1,609
Accruals and other payables 22 2,799,767 149,590 164,486 712,285
Obligations in relations to early

retirement scheme 23 1,287 1,273 9,585 9,014
Bank borrowings 24 2,327,050 1,150,700 1,744,107 2,191,024
Tax payables - 38,599 45,933 6,360

6,403,079 2,084,723 3,005,172 3,759,525

Net current (liabilities)/assets (2,134,880) 655,776 (538,125) (1,207,108)

Total assets less current liabilities 2,139,859 6,714,407 6,354,720 6,051,569
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Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Contract liabilities
Accruals and other payables
Obligations in relations to early
retirement scheme
Bank borrowings
Deferred income
Deferred tax liabilities

Net assets

Representing:

Registered capital
Reserves

Total equity

Note

15
21
22

23
24

25

26
27

As at

As at 31 December 30 June

2017 2018 2019 2020
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
- - 400,000 400,000

- 309 1,985 157
610,000 378,000 - -
2,649 30,523 19,404 14,616
710,000 1,533,162 467,560 65,106
- - 10,000 10,000

- - 3,877 -
1,322,649 1,941,994 902,826 489,879
817,210 4,772,413 5,451,894 5,561,690
1,647,120 4,523,020 4,808,191 5,040,691
(829,910) 249,393 643,703 520,999
817,210 4,772,413 5,451,894 5,561,690
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(C) STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Fair value
Registered Capital ~ Accumulated reserve
capital reserve losses (non-recycling) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1.1.2017 949,620 - (968,959) - (19,339)
Issuance of shares 697,500 - - - 697,500
Profit and total

comprehensive income for

the year - - 139,049 - 139,049
At 31.12.2017 and 1.1.2018 1,647,120 - (829,910) - 817,210
Conversion of loan to

registered capital 1,070,000 - - - 1,070,000
Issuance of shares 1,805,900 694,100 - - 2,500,000

Profit and total
comprehensive income for

the year - - 386,156 (953) 385,203
At 31.12.2018 and 1.1.2019 4,523,020 694,100 (443,754) (953) 4,772,413
Issuance of shares 285,171 - - - 285,171

Profit and total
comprehensive income for

the year - - 393,929 381 394,310
At 31.12.2019 and 1.1.2020 4,808,191 694,100 (49,825) (572) 5,451,894
Issuance of shares 232,500 - - - 232,500

Transfer of unutilised
employee education fund
to capital reserve

Distribution to holding
company - (102,815) - - (102,815)

Loss and total
comprehensive income for
the period - - (28,045) (296) (28,341)

8,452 - - 8,452

At 30.6.2020 5,040,691 599,737 (71,870) (868) 5,561,690

—II-C-8 —



APPENDIX II

AUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF
TARGET GROUP AND TARGET ASSETS

(Unaudited)

At 1.1.2019

Issuance of shares

Profit and total
comprehensive income for
the period

At 30.6.2019

Fair value

Registered Capital ~ Accumulated reserve
capital reserve losses (non-recycling) Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
4,523,020 694,100 (443,754) (953) 4,772,413
285,171 - - - 285,171
- - 224252 - 224,252
4,808,191 694,100 (219,502) (953) 5,281,836
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(E) STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
Note RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
(unaudited)
Cash flows from operating
activities
Profit/(loss) before income tax 198,107 430,114 453,733 258,209 (38,939)
Adjustments for:
Amortisation 63,591 21,201 28,737 14,616 16,508
Depreciation 3,112,686 349,665 417,788 208,863 221,993
Impairment - - - - 1,381
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment - - (66) - (679)
Impairment on other
receivables - 365,688 - - -
Provision/(reversal) of obsolete
inventories - 1,552 - - -
Bank interest income (16,774) (64,382) (37,850) (17,670) (18,024)
Interest on leases 30,167 27,155 26,114 8,961 9,658
Interest expenses 236,875 178,917 119,971 62,221 48,772
Guarantee fees 8,500 9,005 21,302 8,300 9,005
Operating profit before working
capital changes 3,633,152 1,318,915 1,029,729 543,500 249,675
Changes in working capital:
Inventories (44,250 (79,043) (11,734) 71,267 42,120
Trade and bills receivables 984,078 (553,765) 48,313 (238,840) 149,306
Prepayments and other
receivables (2,011,826) 746,898  (269,133) (1,723,777)  (361,231)
Trade payables (1,576,348)  (533,797) 2,705 684,864 95,350
Contract liabilities - 3,383 (205) (3,383) (1,569)
Accruals and other payables (3,103,026)  (706,392) 290,408 1,094,442 80,398
Cash (used in)/generated from
operations (2,118,220) 196,199 1,090,083 428,073 254,049
Interest received 16,774 64,382 37,850 17,670 18,024
Income tax paid - (8,888) (33,859) (33,282) (39,574)
Net cash (used in)/generated
from operating activities (2,101,446) 251,693 1,094,074 412,461 232,499
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Cash flows from investing

activities

Cash inflow resulted from merger
of fellow subsidiary by
absorption

Sales proceeds from disposal of
property, plant and equipment

Payments for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment

Net (used in)/cash from investing
activities

Cash flows from financing

activities

Proceeds from new bank loans

Repayment of bank loans

Interest paid

Issuance of shares

Proceeds from finance lease
borrowings

Advances from related companies

Repayment of finance lease
borrowings

Repayment to related companies

Guarantee fee paid

Interest on discounted bills

Net cash from/(used in) financing
activities

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2020
Note RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000

(unaudited)

257,440 - - -
- - - 1,075
(307,897) (1,305,775) (1,039,081) (5,059)  (702,845)
(50,457) (1,305,775) (1,039,081) (5,059)  (701,770)
35 2,535,790 1,969,210 1,321,659 1,104,290 1,916,000
35 (1,716,540) (2,327,050) (1,796,940) (1,115,000) (1,873,818)
35 (188,875)  (198,447)  (136,669) (72,173) (53,446)
- 2,500,000 - 232,500
35 378,000 - 400,000 - -
35 1,190,000 - - 570,000
35 - (719,000) (84,000) - (294,000)
35 (930,000) - - _
(8,500) (14,943) (21,302) (8,300) (9,005)
(72,637) (8,502) (6,329) (653) (1,474)
1,187,238 1,201,268 (323,581) (91,836) 486,757
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Net (decrease)/increase in cash
and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year/period

Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the year/period

Six months ended

Year ended 31 December 30 June
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
Note RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
(unaudited)

(964,605) 147,186  (268,588) 315,566 17,486

1,233,940 269,275 416,461 416,461 147,873

19 269,275 416,461 147,873 732,027 165,359
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II. NOTES TO THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Yankuang Lunan Chemical Co., Ltd (the “Target Company”) is a limited liability company established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The registered address of the Target Company is located at Lunan
High Tech Chemical Industrial Park, Mushi County, Tengzhou City of Shandong Province.

The principal activity of the Target Company is the manufacturing and distribution of chemicals products as
well as supplying of energy such as water, electricity and gas. There has been no significant change in the Target
Company’s principal activities during the Relevant Periods.

In the opinion of directors of the Target Company (the “Directors”), as of the date of this report, the parent
and ultimate controlling company of the Target Company is Yankuang Group Company Limited, a company
established in the PRC and wholly owned by the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission
of the People’s Government of Shandong Province of the PRC.

2. ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The following IFRSs in issue at 30 June 2020 have not been applied in the preparation of these financial
statements since they were not yet effective for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2020:

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19 — Related Rent Concession?

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current!

Amendments to IAS 16 Proceeds before Intended®

Amendments to IAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract*

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework®

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018 — 2020 Cycle*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

B W

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Basis of presentation

The Historical Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), which
comprise all standards and interpretations approved by the IASB. The Historical Financial Information has
been prepared under the historical costs convention except for certain financial instruments, which are
stated at fair value.
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3.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a)  New and amended standards adopted by the Target Company

A number of new and amended standards became applicable for the reporting period
commencing on 1 January 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020. The Target Company had to change its
accounting policies and make modified retrospective adjustments as a result of adopting the

following standards:

Amendments to IFRS 12

Amendments to IAS 7
Amendments to IAS 12

IFRS 9
IFRS 15

Amendments to IFRS 1
and TIAS 28
Amendments to IFRS 2

Amendments to IFRS 4

Amendments to IFRS 15
Amendments to IAS 40
IFRIC 22

IFRS 16

Amendments to Annual
Improvements Project

Amendments to IFRS 9

Amendments to IAS 19
Amendments to TAS 28
IFRIC 23

Amendments to IFRS 3
(Revised)

Amendments to IAS 1
(Revised) and TAS 8

Amendments to IAS 39,
IFRS 7 and IFRS 9

Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018

Annual improvements 2014-2016
cycle
Disclosure initiative

Recognition of deferred tax assets for

unrealized losses

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contract with
Customers

Annual improvements 2014-2016
cycle

Classification and measurement of
share-based payment transactions
Applying IFRS 9 financial instruments

with IFRS 4 insurance contracts

Clarifications to IFRS 15

Transfers to investment property

Foreign currency transactions and
advance consideration

Leases

Annual improvements 2015-2017
cycle

Prepayment features with negative
compensation

Plan amendment, curtailment or
settlement

Long-term interests in associates and

joint ventures

Uncertainty over income tax
treatments

Definition of a business

Definition of material
Interest rate benchmark reform

Revised conceptual framework for
financial reporting

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on
or after

1 January 2017

1 January 2017
1 January 2017

1 January 2018
1 January 2018

1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018
1 January 2018

1 January 2018

1 January 2019
1 January 2019

1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2019
1 January 2020
1 January 2020
1 January 2020

1 January 2020

The Target Company has assessed the impact of adopting these new standards and
amendments. According to the preliminary assessment, these standards are not expected to
have a material impact on the Target Company’s operating results and financial position.
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3.1.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

This note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and IFRS 15
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers” on the Target Company’s Historical Financial Information
since 1 January 2018, as well as the impact of adoption of IFRS 16 “Leases” since 1 January 2019.

(i) IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

IFRS 9 replaces the provisions of IAS 39 that relate to the recognition, classification
and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial
instruments, impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. The Target Company has
applied IFRS 9 retrospectively to financial instruments that have not been derecognised at the
date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018) in accordance with the transition provisions
under IFRS 9, and chosen not to restate comparative information. Differences in the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities on initial application are recognised in
retained earnings and other components of equity as at 1 January 2018.

The Target Company’s accounting policies for the classification and measurement of
financial instruments and the impairment of financial assets are disclosed in detail in note 3.15
below.

Classification and measurement of financial instruments

The Directors reviewed and assessed its existing financial assets and liabilities as
at 1 January 2018 based on the facts and circumstances that existed at that date and
concluded that the initial application of IFRS 9 has had the following impact on its
financial assets and liabilities as regards their classification and measurement:

(a)  Unlisted equity investments previously classified as available-for-sale
investments at cost less impairment

For available-for-sale equity investments amounting to approximately
RMB10,000,000 carried at cost less impairment as at 31 December 2017, the
Target Company has elected to present in other comprehensive income for fair
value change as it is held for medium or long-term strategic purpose, and
reclassified them to financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI”) upon initial application of IFRS 9. The Target Company
measures them at fair value at the end of subsequent reporting periods with fair
value gains or losses to be recognised as other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, which will not be reclassified
to profit or loss when they are derecognised. Upon adoption of IFRS 9 on 1
January 2018, the carrying amount of the equity investments did not deviate from
its fair value significantly and therefore had no impact to the profit upon and
financial within at the Target Company as at that date.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities continue to be measured
on the same bases as are previously measured under IAS 39.

Loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”)

The adoption of IFRS 9 has changed the Target Company’s accounting for
impairment losses for financial assets by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss model with a
forward-looking expected credit loss (“ECL”) model. As at 1 January 2018, the
Directors reviewed and assessed the Target Company’s existing financial assets and
other items subject to ECL for impairment using reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort in accordance with the requirement of IFRS
9. The adoption of the ECL requirements under IFRS 9 had no significant impact to the
Target Company’s financial statements.
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Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 9

The table below summarises the original measurement categories under IAS 39
and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the Target
Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities and reconciles the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities under IAS 39 to the carrying amounts under
IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018.

Carrying Carrying
amount at 31 Adoption of amount at 1
December 2017 IFRS 9 - January 2018
(IAS 39) Reclassification (IFRS 9)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Financial assets
Available-for-sale
investments
— unlisted equity
securities 10,000 (10,000) -
FVTOCI
— unlisted equity
securities - 10,000 10,000

(ii) IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”

IFRS 15 superseded IAS 11 “Construction Contracts”, IAS 18 “Revenue” and related
interpretations and it applies to all revenue arising from contracts with customers, unless those
contracts are in the scope of other standards. The new standard established a five-step model
for determining whether how much and when revenue is recognised. The Target Company has
elected to adopt the modified retrospective approach for contracts with customers that are not
completed as at the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018) with the cumulative effect
of initially applying IFRS 15 as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings and
comparative information is not restated. Accordingly, certain comparative information may not
be comparable as comparative information was prepared under IAS 18 “Revenue”. Details are
described below.

The Directors are of the opinion that the adoption of IFRS 15 has no impact on the
timing of revenue recognition of the Target Company.

The Target Company’s accounting policies for its revenue streams are disclosed in detail
in note 3.3 below.

The amount of adjustment for each financial statement line item of the statement of
financial position at 1 January 2018 affected by the application of IFRS 15 is illustrated below.
Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been included.

Carrying
amount Impact on Carrying
previously adoption of amount as
reported at 31 IFRS 15 - restated at 1
December 2017  Reclassification January 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Accruals and other

payables 3,413,703 (309,769) 3,103,934
Contract liabilities - 309,769 309,769
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Advances received from customers

As at 1 January 2018, the “receipts in advance” of RMB309,769,000 previously
included in accruals and other payables was reclassified to contract liabilities.

Disclosure of the estimated impact on the amounts reported in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2018 as a result of the adoption of IFRS on 1 January 2018

The following table summarises the estimated impact of applying IFRS 15 on the
statement of financial position at 31 December 2018, by comparing the amounts reported
under IAS 18 and related interpretations that were in effect before the change. Line
items that were not affected by the adjustments have not been included. The adoption of
IFRS 15 did not have material impact on the Target Company’s operating, investing and
financing cash flows.

Impact on the statement of financial position at 31 December 2018

Amounts

excluding

Impact on impacts of

adoption of  adopting IFRS

As reported IFRS 15 15
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Accruals and other payables 559,386 3,692 563,078
Contract liabilities 3,692 (3,692) -

(iii) IFRS 16 “Leases”

IFRS 16 introduces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. It
introduces significant changes to the lessee accounting by removing the distinction between
operating lease and finance lease and requiring the recognition of right-of-use asset and a lease
liability for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets. In contrast
to lessee accounting, the requirements for lessor accounting have remained largely unchanged.
Details of these new accounting policies are described in note 3.10. Comparative information
has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17 “Leases”.

On transition to IFRS 16, the Target Company elected to apply the practical expedient to
grandfather the assessment of which arrangements are, or contain, leases. It applied IFRS 16
only to contracts that were previously identified as leases. Contracts that were not identified as
leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC-4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”
were not reassessed. Therefore, the definition of a lease under IFRS 16 has been applied only
to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.

The Target Company as lessee
Operating lease

On adoption of IFRS 16, the Target Company recognised lease liabilities in
relation to leases which had previously been classified as ’operating leases’ under the
principles of IAS 17 “Leases” (except for lease of low value assets and lease with
remaining lease term of twelve months or less). These liabilities were measured at
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019. The adoption of IFRS 16 did not have material
impact on the Target Company’s financial statements as it did not have any operating
lease arrangements.
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Finance lease

In addition, the Target Company leases certain production equipment that were
classified as finance leases under IAS 17. For these finance leases, the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset and the lease liability at 1 January 2019 were determined at the
carrying amount of the leased asset and lease liability under IAS 17 immediately before
that date. Accordingly, the obligation under finance leases previously included in
accruals and other payables are now included within lease liabilities. There is no impact
on the opening balance of equity.

The following table summarises the impact of the transition to IFRS 16 at 1
January 2019. Line items that were not affected by the adjustments have not been
included.

Carrying

amount Carrying
previously Impact on amount as
reported at 31 adoption of restated at 1
December 2018 IFRS 16 January 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Property, plant and
equipment 4,743,832 (502,971) 4,240,861
Right-of-use assets - 502,971 502,971
Lease liabilities - 378,000 378,000

Accruals and other
payables 559,386 (378,000) 181,386

Practical expedients applied

On the date of initial application of IFRS 16, the Target Company has used the
following practical expedients permitted by the standard:

° not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the date of
initial application. Instead, for contracts entered into before the transition
date the Target Company relied on its assessment made applying IAS 17
and IFRIC-4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”;

° the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably
similar characteristics;

° reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous by applying
IAS 37 as an alternative to performing an impairment review;

° the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than
12 months as at 1 January 2019 as short-term leases; and

° the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use
asset at the date of initial application.

3.1.3 Adoption of the going concern basis

When preparing the financial statements, the Target Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern has been assessed. These financial statements have been prepared by the Directors on a
going concern basis notwithstanding that the Target Company had net current liabilities of
approximately RMB2,133,593,000, RMB234,539,000 and RMB1,198,093,000 at 31 December, 2017,
2019 and 30 June 2020, respectively. The Directors are of the opinion that the Target Company will
have sufficient funds to meet its financial obligations when they fall due in the foreseeable future
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taking into account of the unutilised banking facilities available to the Target Company. The
Directors are of the opinion that the Target Company is able to continue as a going concern and it is
appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Target Company be unable to continue in business as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to restate the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively and
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise.

3.2 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At each reporting date, the Target Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets and
intangible assets with finite useful life to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset (determined
at the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use) is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life will be tested for
impairment annually. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately. Where an
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but such that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as an income
immediately. For the purposes of impairment testing, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Assessment is performed for each area of interest in conjunction
with the group of operating assets (representing a cash generating unit) to which the Target Company’s
activity is attributed.

3.3 Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or

services.

Specifically, the Target Company uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

The Target Company recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligations is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:
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° The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Target
Company’s performance as the Target Company performs;

° The Target Company’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced; or

° The Target Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Target Company and the Target Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance

completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct

goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer, excludes

amounts collected on behalf of third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

3.4

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Target Company’s obligation to transfer goods or services to
a customer for which the Target Company has received consideration from the customer.

The Target Company recognised revenue from the following major sources:

° Sales of goods (including coal, methanol and equipment manufacturing)

° Provision of services (including coal railway transportation, electricity and heat supply)
Sales of goods

Revenue from sale of coal, methanol and equipment manufacturing is recognised at the point
when the control of the goods is transferred to the customers (generally on delivery of the goods to
the location specified by the customers and accepted by the customers). It is a point of time where
the customer has the ability to direct the use of the products and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits of the products.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are
expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is derecognised.

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development expenditure is recognised
only if it is anticipated that the development costs incurred on a clearly-defined project will be
recovered through future commercial activity. The resultant asset is amortised on a straight line basis
over its useful life. Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised only
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3.5

stated

3.6

when the Target Company can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset
so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete
the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets), other than construction in progress, are
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings

For payments of ownership interest of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire property is presented as property, plant and equipment of the Target
Company when the payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold land and building
elements.

To the extend the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” (upon
application of IFRS 16) or “prepaid lease payments” (before application IFRS 16) in the statement of
financial position.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment,
other than construction in progress and freehold land, over their estimated useful lives and after
taking into account their estimated residual value, using the straight line method or unit of production
method.

Estimated
Category Estimated useful life residual values
Land and buildings The shorter of the unexpired lease 5%
term and the estimated useful lives
from 20 — 40 years
Machinery 10 — 35 years 5%
Motor vehicles 4 — 10 years 5%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at the end of each reporting periods.

Any gain or loss arising on the disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents production site development projects under construction for

production or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any impairment loss.

Costs

included costs of constructing the manufacturing plant and acquisition of mining rights, mining

permits and licenses that form an integral part of the overall development projects. Construction in progress
is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment or intangible assets when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation or amortisation commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.
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3.7 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institution and short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. For the preparation of cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Target Company’s cash
management.

3.8 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost, which comprises direct
materials and, where applicable, direct labour and overheads that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition, is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all further costs to completion and costs to be
incurred in selling, marketing and distribution.

Inventories of auxiliary materials, spare parts and small tools expected to be used in production are
stated at weighted average cost less allowance, if necessary, for obsolescence.

3.9 Taxation
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal
authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting date. They are
calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based
on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a
component of tax expense in profit or loss.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year/period. Taxable profit differs from
profit before tax as reported in the statement of profit or loss because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Target Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences at the reporting date between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised
for all deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other unused
tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and
unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Target Company is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset realised. Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in profit or loss,
or in other comprehensive income or directly in equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either (i) the same taxable entity; or (ii) different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

3.10 Leasing
Definition of a lease

Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the
use of an identifiable asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Target Company as lessee

The Target Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the
contract. The Target Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with
respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the
Target Company recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Target Company measures lease liability at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Target Company uses

its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

° fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;
° variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the

index or rate at the commencement date;
° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the
options; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Target
Company exercising an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position.
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect

interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
asset) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances
resulting in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using revised
discount rate.

° the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate
(unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which
case a revised discount rate is used).

° A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a
separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability,
lease payments made at or before the commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease
incentives received. Whenever the Target Company incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and
remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, provision is recognised and measured
under IAS 37 “Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. The costs are included in the
related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

They are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset
reflects that the Target Company expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The Target Company presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in the statement of financial
position.

The Target Company applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment loss.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Target Company allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and

instead account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The
Target Company hasused this practical expedient for all leases.
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3.11 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Target Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot
be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain events not wholly within the control of the
Target Company are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

3.12 Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Target Company
will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which
the Target Company recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to
compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Target Company should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in the
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the
useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Target Company with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

3.13 Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution plans including included state-managed retirement benefit schemes
and superannuation funds are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

3.14 Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave are
included in other payables and accrued expenses. Related on-costs are also included in other payables and
accrued expenses as other creditors. Long service leave is provided for when it is probable that settlement
will be required and it is capable of being measured reliably.

Employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months are measured using the remuneration rate
expected to apply at the time of settlement. Provisions made in respect of employee benefits which are not
expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash
outflows to be made by the Target Company in respect of services provided by employees up to the
reporting date.

3.15 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position when the
Target Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value, except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised
cost or fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are
classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, FVTOCI and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Target Company’s business model for managing them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Target Company measures financial assets subsequently at amortised cost if both of the
following conditions are met:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amoritsed cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest
method and are subject to impairment.

(1) Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt
instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e.
assets that are credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial
recognition. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective
interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including expected credit
losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured
at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount,
adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost
of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

- II-C-26 —



APPENDIX II AUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF
TARGET GROUP AND TARGET ASSETS

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other than purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the “Other income” line item
(note 5).

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Target Company may make an irrevocable election (on an
instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI.
Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the equity investments, instead, they will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Target Company’s right to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “Other income” line
item in profit or loss.

Financial asset at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
are measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

° Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Target
Company designates an equity investment that is neither held for trading nor a
contingent consideration arising from a business combination as at FVTOCI on initial
recognition.

° Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are
classified as at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost
criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition
if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the
gains and losses on them on different bases. The Target Company has not designated any
debt instruments as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a
designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “Other income” line item.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
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° on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the
Target Company manages together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a
designated and effective hedging instrument).

Impairment of financial assets

The Target Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in
debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost as well as financial guarantee contracts. The
amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Target Company always recognises lifetime ECL for bills and accounts receivables. The
expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Target Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Target Company measures the loss allowance equal to
12-month ECL, unless when there has a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Target Company recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Target Company compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Target Company considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular
debtor, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or

technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Target Company presumes that the
credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Target Company has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Target Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Target Company considers a
financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of ’investment grade’
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an external rating is not available, the
asset has an internal rating of ’performing’. Performing means that the counterparty has a strong
financial position and there is no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Target Company becomes a party to the
irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of
assessing the financial instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a sign